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ABSTRACT - |
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¥

, . o
The Falkland lslands crisis of 1770 was an unportam event in elghteemh century _

‘S 6

' Bqﬂsh hlstdry as it affected numerous interests. It served to highlight the relanonshlp between: V

Spain and Britain during the latter part of the century ‘and the commermal and 1mnenal

nv‘%'es whxc‘xsted between these two nations. An examination of the crisis and the press

-reportage wluch occurred because of Lhe dlspute provides insight into. British national and

mtemauonal polmcs ‘as well as related aspects of the economy and socxety

" The opposition to Lord North s government saw the crisis as an opportunity to gain.
power and S0, based its pa:rhamentary\ campalgn on tl:us 1ssue A comparison and analysis of
the debates about the dispute and the press coverage of the crisis, to the actual diplomatic

negotialionsim‘tkcs it possible to acmeve a greater understanding of the role of the opposition

~in eighteenth: century British government “the xmportance of the House of Lords during this

/ N
period, and the pan which public opinion played in the formation, of policy. This study also

reveals the exnstence of several xmsconcepuons mamLamed by hxstonans about this event and

_.many gaps in the lnstorxography of the crisis. These areas of contention and underlying

assumptions wluch lnstonans have accepted and whxch are inaccurate, are challenged so that

a more accurate and complete pxcture of the 1770 cn51s might be drawn.



PREFACE X

#

The Falkland §lands cnsxs of 1770 captured the at’.aton of most e:ghtecnth century

»:

: obéervers, and affected the lives of both British and Spanish =ut ;. - . This s'udy of the events

: o e . b L
; of 1770 and 1771 1s"pr1manly taken from the British ~..tical  speciive in orde~ to show the_

effects which the dtspute had on natlonal ard cab o ool o7 w4 coneerted effort
on the part of the opposmon to use [hlS crisis s - merns of mwing L > ! Nerth' s ministry,

S0 an cxammauon of thls pa.rhamentary stLuggle revezl- nuch abou: tae nature o eighteenth

" century ogbogmon,@e individuals mvolved i the opposi ior ~amaign and the way in which_

the Bntts‘h qabinf..t operated at this time. It .5 also possibe to iew thit dispute frorrt an
: altogethér néw ﬁerspective by analyzing. it using an untapred historicn so;r:c. that is,
eighteenth century British newspapers. An examination of .t T;ngi.:.'r\ press reports about the
Falkla.r;&;l"skztnds crisis will reveal to what extent the press influenced the forrpation of policy,
the importance of bublic opinion to the government, artd whether or not the eighteenth
_ century press was used as a political tool. - |
There are still many gaps in the knowlec'lge of this event and also sotnc prevalent
misconceptions kteldﬂay“several historians whichbsﬁould be revised. To this end, the following
study includes an e;taminatioﬁ of the background to the crisis and the relationship which
existed between Britain and Spain so as to placp the dispute within its proper context. This is
fqllowed by an overview ofaBritish national politics in order to determine how the Fatlkland
Islands crisi§ affected internal politics, including the parliamcntary_opposition campaign based

on this dispute. The third t)art of this study is an examination of the crisis from the

perspective of the British press, and a c'omparisdn of its reports about the disputc to the

actual dlplomatlc negotlatxons This examination will provide insight m;b the developmcnt and’

effects df@ the crisis upon the British pubhc- 38 well iticians. Finally, the concludmg

' cha.ptcr is a historiographical survey of several pertinent questions Mch have not been

- satisfactorily answered, and which will be studied in light of more recent research. In this

‘
4

way, the areas of contention about this event which ::;d further research will be highlightcd',
\)
t

and underlying assumptions, which historians have accepted and which may be inaccurate, will

vii
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challenged so thdtg more complete picture of the 1770 crisis can be drawn.
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‘The background to the 1770 F d Islands crisis- stre.ches far beyond the actual
sewlement of !d’rs\xslands by Lhe British m 764; ‘I'here are aspects. of the dxspute between

England - an‘ Spam which are crucxal to an decrs)andmg of the events uuuat‘ed by-

. Cornmander Juan Ignacxo Madanaga rwhen he forc1bly expelled the British garnson at Port

| Egmont on 10 June 1770; but these are not Tedmely apparent. One-of the impertant

factors was the state of relations between the Sp nish and the Eriglisl; prior.to 1770. These
were msu'umental in developxng the international temper whxch made it possible for the events
of 1770 to occur. J\n examination of this aspect of the crisis wxll ‘make it possible to place the’
events leading up to the Falkland Islands dlspute within their proper context, thereby

providing a more complcte undcrstandmg of the CI'lSlS and its effects. s

One of the ‘more important consxdcrabog rcla‘.we to the Falkland Islands dlsputc w‘;s
the amtudc of thc British towards the Spanish as a people, and -as nvals ‘The elghteenth
ccntury was a time of£volution in the relations between Spam and Britain. Since the wars in
the Sixteenth century between Phxh and Eliz.;beth I, there had existed bét'ween the two
nations, fechngs of mutual dxs st and ammosny T\htse senumet(ts were hexghtened by
religious tensions and unpenal competition. Such attitudes were fug.her exacerbated by the
British aversion to what was perceived as Spbmsh absolutism, especially after the war of the
Spanish Succession cnded in 1713 with Lhe triumph of the Bnﬁgon Philip V The English were

positivc that their delicately balanced constitution, consisting of ‘the King in Parliament, was

\% best and mest advanced system which existed and they protected it jealously. The relations

~

* mean and crafty, as they are proud and insolent)

bétween the two nations were governed by attitudes of guérded hostility which did not

‘» improve over the course 6f the eighteenth century. There als_o' exizied among those English

" conscious of international tensions, a profound feeling of mistrust towards the paniards, as

expressed by Lor tham in the House of Lordg when he stated thal "the Spanigrds are as

. With their M.nisters 1 have often been

obliged to negociate, and never met with an inStance of candour or dignig%in their

N
~

“
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&



pr&eed_mgs, nothing but low cunnings trick, and artif lCﬁs‘" There was a prcvalent belief that

ish nation had a prticular. armpathy [ Lhe ‘English, which was perhaps an
\

cornscious admxssmn of the uncertamty of Brmsh clarms m the South Scas Thxs sentiment

-~

to the avowal by ‘some Bnush observers that the Spamsh were simply. scekmg a

) reason to ajtack the British, and that they did not really care about the Falkland\lslands but

L
.were “merely using th English settlement there as a convenient fexcuse 1o initiate hostilities. It

b

9

was stated in the ic Advertiser by the correspondent Domitian, who,also wrote under the
\. N . . . By v -
pseudonym Juniugfnd was notorig¥y for his criticism of the government, thit even

Nf Falkland Island had never existed, the Rancour of the Sé.mards would not have

failed to discover itself in some other mode of hostility. Their whole history, since .

< I the accegsion of Philip the Vth, is-a continued proof of a rooted antipathy to the
name -of Englishman;” and I .@m justified, by a series of indisputable facts, in

: affrrmmg that, from the Treaty of Utrecht to this hour, there has gever been\& single
instance ofggommon justice or decency, much less of cordiality pr fnendshxp\ in the

conduct of the court of Madnd towa.rds\tms country.’

~Although thesc feelings of mutual ammosxty were prescm there was 3lso a “sensd that

ﬁie Enghsh were lackmg in knowledge about the Spamsh nauon a@r'rg seme newspapers
v &

ts of the Spanish

attempted to rectify this g;nnung bits of information about va 'ous as
' economy, po*tms and national character. 3 These reports were enerally crmcal as- Bnush

arr(;kance and assurance of superiority were always evideng'in the preséntation of Lhe Spanish

character. For example, when discussing the Spanish colopies and their polmcal charactcnsncs

it was alwaysvassumed athat these territories wo&ld gerly grasp at the chance for

mdependence from Spam and that "the oppressive measures of~some GoveMnors in that pan

of the world. have so irritated the people, that they are carelcss undcr whathovernmcm Lhcy

-

..+ live, so they can protect their property.”*

-~
-~

Notwithstanding the cult‘ural and political differences which existed betwéfen/tﬁc two

nauons one of the areas of grcatest contention was 1mpeinal nva.lry vand the constan;

LY
commcrcml jostling which occurred as Spain and ‘Britain attempted to gaip economic

-

-

A ) . .
'Debrett, iv, p. 34S. _
Junius' Letters, p. 486. - N
‘Lloyd's Evening Post, 15-17 October 1770 and Gazateer, 8 Deocmbcr 1770 S

\ ‘Lloyd's Evening Post, 18-20 April 1770. | . w

L,
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dominance. From the Spanish point. of view, 1t was Britairi, not France, which had efnerged_
| by the eighteenth century "as the chief enemy and ‘most immediate danger.'."v From the
sixteenth century on, the »British had beén motivgted to try and carve .out a share of Spain's
expanding American silver trade. This interest iﬂ usurbing Spain's source of bullion led, in
part, during the early eighteenth century, to the concession by the Spaniards of the asiento
privilege at the 1713 Treaty of Utrecht, ar;d to various éommercial treaties which were
favourable to British mercharits trading with the «colonies through Cadiz and Lisbon. The
: _a;siento which was granted to the South Sea Company allowed that comﬁany- to carr)} on a
slave trade directly ink the Carribean. This was thought to be'a verykim,_portant concession on ..
the part of 'Spain, which was still attempting to maintain its colonial monopoly, because "the
Soﬁto Sea Compkany now had its foot in the door, as it were, while all'other fc;reign traders
. ‘had_ to smuggle t.hcir‘goods through the back windows." This arrangement never operated to
" the éatisfaction of the Spanish government, as it fadﬁmtéd British smuggling as a means of
trading direetly with the Spanish colonies. Traditionally, English merchants had been allowed
to trade with the Iberian colonies only ingiirectly, as everything which made its way into.the
colonies was supposed to pass through eithe; Cadiz or Lisbon. This policy was an attempt by
the Sbanish Crown to keepl a tight control on the American trade and to try’and reap as much
prbf’ it throngh taxes as po;siblgl However, during the eighteenth century, X:irious
developments occurred which impeded this manner of trading and finally caused, in the latter
part of the cehtugy, a complete change in the way British merchants envisioned profiiable
: commercc_with the coloniés, émd thus, a goncommit;ni aﬁeration in their interests.’ The
changes occurring were in.part caused by the ﬁourbon )monarchs' attempts to rationalize the
administration of theit empires so that Spain might profit to a greater extent ‘from her vast

.American holdings. In ‘an effort to rid himself of the annoyance gpused by Treaties ;)f -

5Charles Gibson, Spam In America. (New York: 1966), p..174.

‘J.H. Parry and P.M. Sherlock, A Short sttory of the West Indies, (London
1963), p. 101.

'Allan Chnstelow "Great Britain and the Trade ‘From Cadiz and L1sbon to Spanish
America and Brazil, 1759-1783," Hispanic American Htstorzcal Review, 27, (1947) p.
8.

T
L4
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Cotmerce which favoured the British, Charles IIT entered the Seven Years War hoping tnat a
military defeat would force the British to concede their pnvﬂeges however, the &opposue
occurred when Spain lost the war.! The Ibenan governments also tried to curb British
encroachments on their trade in the latter part of the etghteenth century through economic
reforms. For example, in Portugal, the First Minister, the Marques de Pombal, tried to make :
sure that it ;ets the Portuguese nationals w.ho benefitted from trade with Brazil by the
formation of strictly Portuguese monopolistic trading companies.’” The increasing problermis
which British traders faced when following the proper channels led them to seek other means
of trading“ with Spanish Am_erica._ The work of Christelow l?s Shewn that the British k
merchants realized that direct trade with the colonies wouldAbe far\more lucrative and |
expedient if the colonial merchants could a ' themselves of the necessary credit.!® Christelow ¢
added that the colonial merchants were 1o, in fact. dependent upon credit from Spain or
Portugal and this is also supported by the recent research about the large 'amounts of
smuggling which existed, which, of course: was not dependent on credit( of any kind.'' The
question of smuggling also raised the very delicate point of bullion smuggling, which the
Spanish government absolutely refused to countenance. The English, did not endear tbemselves
to the Spanz';sn court when British naval officers ere arrested for bullion smuggling and the
British government a;;peated to treat the matter lightly in 1768."

The second half of the eighteenth century was tharacterized by clashes between the
official Spanish policy and various British interests. Thes# in&\%ﬁd serious atltempts on the
part of the Spanish officials to limit or eliminate British competition, not only in Spain but

also in Europe and the Spanish colonies.” In so doing Spain not only attacked illicit trade, but

‘Charles Gibson, p. 174.

"Allan Christelow, pp. 12-1>.

1°Allan Christelow, pp. 20-21. .
1David A.-Brading, "Bourbon Spain and Its Amcrican Empire,” ed. by Leslie
Bethell, Cambridge History of Latin America, vol. (Cambridge: 1984), p. 410,
and Magnus Morner, "The ¥ ural Economy and Soc1ety of Colonial and Spanish
South America,” ed. by leshe Bethell, Cambridge History of Latin America, vol. II,
(Cambridge: 1984}, r 215

YAllan  Christelow, p. 11.

BGlyndwr Williams, The Expansion of Europe in the Eighteenzh Century: Overseas
rivalry discovery and exploitation, (New York: 1966), p. 191.
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also challenged legitimate English trade by endeavouring to protect nascent Spamsh industries.

" For example the Spanish government prohibited the importation of specific types of textiles
from England in 1768, thereby eliminating the pos_sxbxl‘.:' " legelly carrying those textiles to
the colonics.\;/hcre they were in great demand. This «w. it waag resentmefit among the

- British’ mcrchants 14 Spanish actions during the eigh.- .12 century, were 10 a great extent
condmoncd by Bmam s insistence on furthering its commerce, at Spain's expense The Bnush
refused to renegotiate treaties wh;ch were vaguely worded and which allowed, in tumn, the ‘
opportunity. for England to widen her circle of influence in Spanish territories. The\English -
preferred treaties which‘. couid be imerbretgd in different ways because these grevented ‘the
Spanish from finding fault with offic?al pBriLish policy; all that the Spanish could do was to

~ punish individual interlopers when these, were f:aught trading illegally.!$ From the Spanish

perspective, Britain's naval su‘bremacy énabled her to "exercise desp;nic hegemony "!¢ over the

seas and the Spanish dominions were no longer secure. Spam s only altematwe therefore, ES
to deal harshly with individual cases of English expansionism and this was interpreted by the
British as aggressive behaviour. It was reported in two British newspapers that Charles [T éd
dccided that Spain would not tolerateoany foreign settlements or foreign shippir.g on the South
Seas and consequently, was interpreted ‘to mean that the Spanish intention was ‘to harass the
British at every opportunity.’” This muthatfaﬁtagonism was manifested in the disputes
between the Spaniards and British logwood cutters in the Béy of Hgnduras and hostile ‘

encounters between the 'guarda costas' and British vessels.'* It was also~reported that the

Spaniards had attempted to force a Britigh sailor tc !l them abqut the defenses of
. &

“Allan Christelow, p. 11.

15Vera~tee Brown, "Anglo-Spanish Relations in America In The Closing Years Of
The-Colonial Era," Hispanic American Historical Review, 5, (1922), p. 386.
1¢Octavio Gil Munilla, Malvmas El con/hcto anglo-espanol de 1770, (Sevilla: 1948),
pp. 121-122. "La nacion britdnica ejercia despoticamente la hegemonfa en los mares,
y no existla domuuo hispano seguro, ante los jntentos de establecerse en el!os los

anglo sajopes.”
V'L ondon Evening Post, 29-31 January 1771 and General Evening Posl 26- 29 January
1771. -

W Middlesex Journal, 28 February-2 March 1771 and Publzc Advertiser, 12 Decemlber
1770. o
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Jamaica." Stoﬁeé such s these helped to fuel the British resentment towards what was
thought to be Spanish insolence. By 1770, the general éonsen§us' in British mcrcanii‘;e" and
’ political circles was that the Spanish did not hold Britain in high enough esteem and that they
were contemptuous of British naval power. This was liqked to the prevalchl belief that the
siéning of the Peace of Raﬁs had.been dishgnou'rgble and a diplomatic failure, and that the
Bﬁdsh form of govefnment was an unstabie one. Aghe contemporary bb’scr’vcr Horace
Walpole noted; "the contempt conceived' for us by foreigners being the result of Lord Bute's
peace, of the distracted and f'luctuatingrcounsels of the Courts, and of r‘p;ated changes of
contradictory Administrations."*® James Harris, who was the charge d'affairs to fhe cbun of
; gpain during LheTFalkla.nd Islands crisis, wrote that Charles Il had developed ax deep personal
aversion to the English as a nation and hg;. "was taught that we were a restless and overbearing
nation."?! Accordingly, the Spanish Monarch had sought to crush the British during the Seven
Years War and his failure to do so caused him tovharbou\r‘ a strong desire for revenge.** That
\;}cfeat put an end to the hope that France and Spain could exclude the( British from the
Eu_ropéin market and eliminate English commercﬁal activities within Spain. Not only did
Charles III have to admit the-failure of his economit rationale for entering the war in the first
place, but he also had to makeweven more concessions to the British at the Ia’cacc of P-aris;v.“
The dcvelopments’between the signing of the Treaty of Paris and 1770 led to a strengthening
of Spanish contempt for British diplomacy and this led, according to one schola; of the

period,.Nicholas Tracy, to "a general challenge to the supremacy of British sea power.”** The

relations between Spain and England during the years just prior to the Falkland Islands crisis

YGazateer, 19 December 1770. ' '
*Walpole, Memoirs, iv, p. 121. ‘ \

Y Malmesbury Diaries, i, p. 51.

1Geoffrey Rice, "Great Britain, The Manila Ransom, and the First Falkland -Islands
Dispute With Spain, 1766," The International History Review, vol. ii, (3 July 1980),
p. 409. Rice's interpretation is that Britain's failure to take advantage of
circumstances in 1766 in order to obtain the Manila Ramsom was a "spectacular
defeat for British diplomacy” and that thid encouraged the Spanish to be more
daring in-their foreign policy.

137enab Esmat Rashed, The Peace-of Paris 1763, (Liverpoolss 1951), p. 210.
“Nicholas Tracy, "The'¥alkland Islands Crisis of 1770: Use of Naval Force,”

- English Historical Review, vol. 90, (January, 1985), p. 4l.

- | ( “'
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were marked by mutual hostility and the desperate attempt on Spain's part to halt the
persistent British efforts. So, though the governor of Buenos Aires, Francisco Bucareh was
said 1o hage mmmed hostilities against Britain without formal orders from Madrid, his actions
g@not deviate from the course advocated by hxs court.? ’I'lus attrtude was not constrarned to ®
the rivalry over the Falkland Islands, however, but was also characteristic of Spain's attempts
to eliminate Britain's interference in whet was perceived by Madrid to be a Spanish territory.
The- Treaty of Paris appears to have been viewed by contemporaries merely as a respite in the
fighting .between England and the members‘of the Family Compact. o |
France and Spain were 'forcedQ to admit defeat\ in. 1763 however, they immediately
- started plannmg and projecting how long it would take them to rebuild their power to a level
wherc they hight again challenge Britain. France s ftrst minister, the duc de ChorseuLKh‘ad
predicted that his nation would be ready t: resume hostilities in five to six years after the
signing of the Peaoe of l\’aris." This projection ooincided 'perfectly with the occurrence of the
Falkland Islands crisis, although the timing of that partlcular event was also, subject'to other
influences. It was believed that France and Spam were looking for an opportumty to challenge
Britain while that country was preoccupted with other matters, but that they needed a reason
to fight which affected both thelr tnterests.” One of the factors which was critical to_the
development of the crisisv was precisely the point that the Falkland Islands were not important
to France and so that nation was hesitant to risk a war for their sake. For the Spanish, on the
“other hand, the Bnuﬁ’ settlement of the islands was a direct challenge to the Iberian power's
ability to defend net territory. Most historians agree that the establishment of Port Egmont
was a flagrant denial of existing treaty agreements and of the previous settlement of the

"islands by tae French. Notwithstanding the controversy about Britain's right of sovereignti} to

the Falkland Islands, it has been argued that the English did not even have the right'to enter

o

3

Glyndwr Williams, p. 192. - .

“Julius Goebel, The eruggle For The Falkland Islands A Study In Legal And
Diplomatic History, (New York. 1927), p. 218. '
“J.H. Parry, Trade and Dominion. The European Overseas Emplre in the FEig'icenth
Century, (New York: 1971), p. 131.



the region.?* This asscrﬂéﬁ WQ;W on Llic"fabcl:t,fth;t“»the British had agreed to cancel 2 '
 previous expedition to the’ Famémdlslands wﬁeﬂ tl.ie/ Spaﬁish court had promted agamst it in
1749.% The Spaniards, therefore, by" the time méy' aémally..lbcat’ed the Eﬁglish settiement,
were convinced that they had been Wroﬁged and that Britain should ackngwlcdg_e and rectify.
Spanish grievmws.’oThe relationé between the two nations were manifested by the mutual
refusal to" compromise. The Spanis‘h had r_eLaligted against British encroachments’ by refusing
{0 discuss the Manila .ranso.m,” by ueatiné Briti'sh vesSels a§ smuggling ships and ‘dcaling A
harsh_ly with the prisonerg they took, and By publishing new trade regulations which were
designed to Ieliminat'elBriLish participation in commerce on theépanish Peninsula”
Ti]é result of fhis was tﬁe})progressi“c ‘ncrease in iﬁtematipnal tensions, thus providing -
the atmosphere in v?hich an iftident such’as the ‘Falkland Islands dispute c‘ould swell in}o a
criticai point of contention between the pations.’ This interpretation is beliéd by the British
" historian D.A. Winstanley, who criticized the Spanish government's actions as “"smacking of
piracy” because its assault on Port Egmont was made wilen *friendly rclation§ existed between
England and Spain."* Though ﬁJe relations between the ‘two nations may have been f ricr;dly

on the surface, in reality they were marred by these tensions and contentious issues. Both the

Spanish and the English' experienced a sense of gricvan;:e Mux of a background qf strained

uFritz and Olga Hoffman, Sovereignty In Dispute: The ' Falklands/,Malvinas,

1493-1982, (London: 1984), p. 50, and Julius Goebel, p. 201.

YJulius Goebel, p. 201. - - . - '

%The Manilla Ransom had been a diplomatic issue of contention between Britain

and Spain 'since the Seven Years War. During the war a squadron, financed by the
East India Company, managed to capture Manilla and the Archbishop of the city . °

" agreed to pay a ransom in order to prevent the city from being sacked. The

ransom was never fully paid and successive British ministries were vainly entreated

to obtain satisfaction by the company. The Spanish government always maintained

that the archbishop had had no right to promise the ransom and that the notion

was completely contrary to international law. For a completg discussion of this issue

see: Julius Goebel, pp. 224-25. : )

“Wera Lee Brown, pp. 409-410. S ‘

20ctavio ‘Gil Munilla, Malvinas, pp. 78 & 81: "las medidas adoptadas por EspaRa

para impedir la hegemonla comercial britanica, y, por encima de todo, la persistente

amenaza del Pacto de Familia, constituyen otros antos[sic] motivos de friccidn que

alejaban a las dos naciones.” = ' -

1D, A. Winstanley, Lord Chatham and the Whig Opposition, (Cambridge: 1912), pp.

375-376. . ‘\
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relations over the decade, and these strains provided fertile ground for the Falkland Islands

| dlspute
Asrde from the general sense of nvalry and animosity which existed between Britain
~and Spam and\whrch had dominated their relations for most of the eighteenth century, there
were also more immediate and concrete causes for the tension which existed. Notwithstanding
. the British_ belief that the Spanish held them in contempt, the Spanish monarch aiso had cause
for cornplaint against English attitudes. An example of this was the case of a lxbel against
Charles III which was printed m the London Magazine in September 1770 and which caused
the Spanish ambassador to seek satisfaction in his monarch's name from Lord :’Weymouth, the
British Secretary of State for the Southern Department.** The fact that Charles III had taken
iumbrage was reported in the English newspapers but it was also stated that Weymouth had
refused to prosecute the prrnters of the libel.*’ ’I'hrs kind of personal attack which questioned
" Charles III' s mtellecthal capac1ty exacerbated the existing tensrons between the twé countnes
so that when news of the expulsron of the Bntrsh garrison at Port Egmont arrived in Madnd
the Spanish court was less dxsposed to be accommodatmg than it rmght have been. énother of |
the factors wl;;ch was 1mportant to the outcome of this dispute, and which was an immediate
cause of Spain's aggressive behaviour, was the-Spanish belef that 1770 was a difficult time
_ for the British government and that the Enélish numstry would pe loath to disturb the peace
at a time whba it might have to deploy .its naval power in North American waters.**
Though the timing of Spain's actions was 1mportant the actions themselves were not
surprising considering some of the fundamental questrons wnth regard to the Falkland Islands
* dispute. These included: why the British had decrded to make 2 settlement there in the first
\plaoe whether or not they had a legal claim of soverexgnty to the 1slands that would be
recognized mternatronally. and whether or not the Falkland Islands were really worth all the

*London Magazine, September 1770, pp. 443-444, |

~ Lloyd's Evening Post, 17-19 September 1770 and Middlesex Journal, 20-22
September 1770.

‘Malmesb..ry Diaries, i, Walpole to Harris, 1 December 1770, pp. 69-70, and

Octavio “Gil Munilla, Las Malvinas, pp. 72-73. "la razon hay que buscarla en su

confiada creencia de que Gran Bretana no tutbaria la paz mientras tuviera sus navios

en los mares del norte de America.”



" trouble they were causing for Britain. These questions were dc:bated, dunng the exghtccnth
_ century in newspapers and among mtercsted observqrs and are still discussed today in thc
historiography aboul the Falkland Islands Thene was some doubt about Britain's right tg%
settle on the 1slands even: before 176< uhcn Port _Egmont was established. The British claim
rested on the nghl of dxscovery ‘b) er' Richard Hawkins as early as’ 1593, and the
.supplcmenta.ry dé;smnp.tion that it was absurd for Spain’to claim sdvercignty over ihis area
when, in the words of one comemborary writér

,these “Islands lie at the dxstance of near 300 miles from the Continent and’

"considerably more from any of the Spanish settlements in South America, the public

may easily judge upon what right we found our claxmr_’7 :
Thxs notion, however, was codtradic;‘ed by those who believed that Britain had unjustly sciz’ed
+an island .whfcd fell clearly within the pu,rvicwv? of Spanish in\flucnc;:‘ and that thc'Spadiards'
reaction to this act of aggression was perfeéu.gf und:rsfa?fdébl?:." The situation - was
comphcated further by the fact that at the time when Port Egmont was actually established
there was already a French colony %t Fort St. Louis which had been foundcd by Antoine
Louis de Bougainville: Its existence was denied by the first Lord of the Admiralty, Lord
Egmont; and even though there were suspicions about the existence of dnothe; colony, the
government aéreed to go ahead and establish Briu"sh ‘claims by actual possession.’ There was
also some contrqvcrsy about the value of Pdrt Egmont nsclf notwithstahfiing the uncertainty
of the British rights to the islands; At the time when the settlement on' the Falklands became a
matter of interest to the public, there were repou arguing both that this was "decmed a very
important settlemcnt and not to be slightly given up on the part of Great Britain,"* and that
the "ministry say they are heartily glad to gct rid of this wretched scttlement a ncketty[suc]

producuon of Lord Egmont, which has already cost the nation many thousand pounds " Thc

debate about the value of Port Egmont to the British cmplre naturally led to self -examination

"Lloyd s Evening Post 17-19 October 1770 and Publtc Advertiser, 14 February 1771.
3 Public ‘Advertiser, 8 February 1771. '

YHoffman, p. 44, and Basil Williams, The mf WIIIlam Pint Earl of Chazham
vol. II, (London: 1914), pr. 222-223.

" Middlesex Journal, 7-9 June 1770.

““ Middlesex Journa/, 1-3 November 1770. .
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* and to explanations of why England found an outpost on the _Fa'lk_land Islands necessary.
There were several reasons for belieying that, the setdement was important, and these factors s
recciyed varying acceptancesaccording to the prevalent ideas about the form which the empire
should take. The islands first came to the notice of the British goyemment in 1748, after the _
publication of the accounts of Admira] George Anson's voyages of 1740-44, and their main
attraction was Scu location at a strategic point for provisioning on any voyage around Cape
Horn.”’ One historian places the origins of this idea far earher with the descriptions of the
Spamsh explorcr Franasco de Camargo in 1540.% By the elghteenth century it was thought by
those people interested in establishing a settlcment in the south Atlantic that- "Falkland's .
Island is ..n object of the highest concern, not only for its being the key to ,Lhe Spanish
settlements, but a ‘fine place for safety and refreshment to ships coming or going into the

. South sea. "* The First Lord of ‘he Admualty Egmont had written in 1765 Lhat the 1slands
were "the key to the whole Pacxflck[sm] Ocean,” and that a British setLlemem on them would
be to the benefit of the English and to the detriment of Spaxn as this would facilitate access
to the trade of Peru, Chile, Panama and Acapulco." The tesire to expand British interests
into the Pacific Ocean area was not particularly new and the notion that a settlement on the
islands would make a good way station for trading yessels or warships had been ‘considered in
‘the 1740s. However, at that ume the British had been dissuaded from settisg up a colony
because of Spamsh protestauons and because of diplomatic expedlency, even though they

© never acknowledged any Spanish attempts to deny them the nght to scttle the islands.*

By the mid 1760s there was further impetus to form a settlement ‘on Lhe Falkland
islands because of the increasing imperial compeuuon between” Spain and Britain and the
commercial rivalry which was causing the British merchants to consider innovative methods of -

“forcing their way into the Spanish colonial markets. In 1764 the French ambassador to

“Glyndwr Williams, p. 161.

“Fritz Hofftman, p. 22. ~ - W
““Bingley's, #3, 23 June 1770. '

~ “Julius Goebel, quoting Egmont to Grafton 20 Jul: 765, p. 236, and Glyndws
Williams, p. 191. =
“D.A. Winstanley, pp. 372-373. ' : . ~
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England wrote that there were several Peruvian and Chilean merchants who were travelling to
Spain :theméelves: in. order to purchase their merchaa{ise directly, and it was thought that a
circumventiénfof lSpanish middlemen would be to the advantage of both those merchants and
British traders.*” One of the main facters stimulating interest in a settlemém on the Falkland
Islands, therefdxe, was actually encouraged, by, Lhe Spanish monarchy's attenipts to eliminate
British participati?)n in It;erian commerce. The Justification given in one journal f 6r
 establishing Port Egma@ was that . o =

new, great and beneficial _sources of commerce might be opened in that

quarter. [Chlle] It was also then thought, that the greatest and most advantageous

fishery in the world xmght be established in it, and navigators say, that an hundred

whales are to be met with iri the l‘ugh southern lautudes to one that is to be found on

the coasts of Greenland.* /
Though'; the primary value op‘fhe Falkland Islands was thought to )be in t—h‘éir function as a
way station an the routt; around Cape Horn, and this in itself was a;n importani addition to
/Lh‘e empiré, there were also reports that "the high/lands in Falkland's { land. from their
vicinity to the Kich mo‘untains'of ’Chile, are thought io contain some ofﬁ)h:t precious metal
with which all world is emrﬁoured." Not only’were the English wrong or. thigcount. but
ﬁhis report also illustrates their misconceptions about Latin American geography- a;1d the
distances between the Falkland *slanda and "Chile, which were ccrtainly- not- in mé same
vicinity. ’

‘The concept of precisely what form L,he British empiré shoﬁld take was being debated
during this pe od One of the predormnant ideas advocated during the eighteenth century was
direlt trade thh the Spanish d/)lomes a notion which was given furthcr impetus by Iberian
attempts to control the existing colonial trade, but also because of the other mattcr of grave
concern for the British, th‘eISpam'sh alliance with France.*® It is generally agreed that the
British sought to augment their trade with Latin America, particularly in the newly expanding

“
c

“'Allan Christelow, p. 21.
“Annual Register, 1771, p.
—*Lloyd's Evgning Post, 26- 29 October 1770 and 21-24 September 1770.

|*Peggy K. Liss, Atlantic Empires: The Network of Trade -and wmwn 1713-1826,
(Baltimore: 1983), p. 19.
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areas such as Venezuela and Buenos Aires.*! However, historian H.B. Ferns has also suggested

- that the post- chcn -Years- War era was characterized by a deflmtc imperial pohcy of

egh!'
B

fial and mihtary bases around the edge of the §pamsh

"establishing off-shore comm:
-empire. "** The logic behind this scheme was that by establishing themselves at strategxc bases
all around the- Slaanish empire, the British éould teap the bf_:nefits of trading wita those
szlnish American colonies and yet avoid the a_ctual cosls of administering and maintaining the
colonies.’? Aside from these developments, which by the:rm'd-,l7605 made a settlement on
Falkland Islands appear increasingly attracnve Lhere also existed a more fundamental reason
for retaining a foothold on the islands. Thxs was the recogmuon by the British that even if the. -
empire did not obtain concrete benefits from this establishment, the English sul; had the |
satisfaction of knowing that they were angerlng and worrying}tlle Spanish, and perhaps even
impeding their trade with the colonies-." Even if\ the islands were colnpletely worthless o i:.¢
British, it was still! believed that simply annoying the Sﬁanish was hmple reward ,because "if
the Spaniarcls are anxious to lceep the English out of the South Seas,c-'tls a good reason why
the English should endeavour to effect settlement in those parts."” The jdea conveyed by this
letter to a newspaper aptly illustrates the tenor.of Anglo-Spanish .relations after the Seven
Years War. " 4 ‘ . ‘ S .

This context provided the setting in which a crisis such as that of 1770 could occur. -
N’icholas Tracy has saggested that the nlain reason the British settled the Falkland Islajnds in
tllc first place was to ensure that tllc" Spanish would remain constantly aware of Britain's '

naval strength. Fhus, although the settlement at Port Egmont was not inherently, important, it
i

was however of some value to Britain's endeavours to defeat Bourbon attacks and "restore the

'James Lockhart and Stuart B. Schwartz, Early Latin America, A History Of
Colonial Spanish America and Brazil, {Cambridge: 1983), pp. 336-365.

“'H. B. Ferns, Britain -and Argergina in the Nineteenth Century, (Oxford 1960),
p- 224. ,

"This interpretation was suggested by Prof. D. C. Johnson in ome of our many
discussions about the British motives for seekmg to establish Lhcmselves on the
Falkland Islands.

Middlesex Journal, 12-14 February 1771.

. Middlesex Journal, 14-16 February 1771.
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' credibﬂity" of Britain's naval strength.?‘ Basil Williams also wroté that the islands themselves
wete not of funddmental importance to the British. Williams based this assessment on the
notion that the British, dunng Chatham's tenure as first minister, in 1766, were willing to use
the Falkland Islands as a bargaining chip in ord-er to obtam the Manila Ransom and the nght
of England 1o navrgate in the Southern Seas.™ While Julius Goebel also suggested that the

Manila Ransom may have been a consideration in the decrsnon to estabhsh Port Egmont, he

-

their commerce and impede Spam s trade by preying upon §f ‘ !
war."! Tracy s interpretation that the 1slands were valued only as a symbol‘rs contradxcted by
the arguments in favour of expandmg British commerce because, in that case, Port Egmont
would sérve a very real practical purpdse 25 a base for the encroaehment on the Spanish
.colom'es. Another v1tal factor in Britain's approach, stressed by Allan 'Christelow, was that
" Spain w  supposedly on the verge of eliminating the Acapulco-Manila trade and substituting
for it trade between Cadiz and Manila via the Cape Horn route. Britain consxdered this to be a
violation of existing treaties and was willing to try to interfere with this- development through‘
its post at Port Egmont % Port. Egmont, therefore had been established in order to answer
several purposes Though the British may have unconscrously relished the ldea of maintaining
the garyrison there simply to prove to the\Spamsh that the British navy could support even the
most insolent actions, this is very difficult to prove and can be disputed by examtmng other,
more practical consrderatlons

The fact remains that for a va.riety of reasons, some of vlhich are not revealed in the
available manuscnpt sources, the British govemment sent an expedition, led by Captain John
Byron, to take possession of the Falkland Islands in the spnng of 1764. Thxs was followed by

the establishment of Port Egmont on West Falkland Island in January 1765.¢° The islands

$¢Nicholas Tracy, p. 52.

S"Basil Williams, pp. 223-224. -
$'Julius Goebel, pp. 230-231.

Allan Christelow, pp. 23-25.

**The chronology of events discussed forthwith is based on Julius Goebel,

“
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WeT inhospirable and the garrison which made up the establishrﬁent at Port Egmont was

never able to attain self-sufficiency. Indeed, one letter from Port Egmont stated that the men

f - -

had to travel more than twenty miles in order to hunt of &h and that even this distance

- would soon have to be increased.*’ The comemporary phys%escnpuons of the Falkland
lslands are all very 1 1cganve and the consensus sgems o have been the same as the opinion of

" a member of the garnsan 1ch was statioped at Port Egmont Just prior to.the crisis: f

An short, it is the most barren, desolate country, I suppose, in the vr}rld We were -

exceedingly happy when we were relieved from it; and stil¥“mord so when the

- Spaniards came to drive us away from Falkland 5 Islands mge

Desprte the fact that the Falkland Isrands offered a daunung physrcal envrronment
the French had established a colony on East Falkland Island prior to the British settlement at
Port Egmont.‘dn“ 5 April 1764, Antoines Louis de Bouéainville‘had taken possession ‘qf the
Malouines, as the French called the Falkland Islands, m the name of; Louis XV,‘-and set up a
colony at Fort St. LOui's’_ , lzhe Spanish ngorously protested. this acuon through diplomatic
channels, and the court at Versailles convinced MMe up the colony in exchange
for compensation of 618,108 livres, 13 sous and 11 deniers,*’ so that the friendl:g relations
embodied in the Family- Compact ‘might be rnaintained On 1 ‘April v 17675/ therefoi'e
Bougainville gave over his settlement to the Spamsh who renamed it Pueno Soledad and put
-it under the command» of a governor, Don Felipe Ruiz Puente. The colony was thereafter
within the jurisdiction of the governor of Buenos Aires, Don Franaisco Bucareli.

There had been a pubhc announcement of the French occupanon of the Falkland
Islands on 13 August 1764 which had 'initiated the Spanish protests because this area had
rraditio?rally been viewed as Spanish territory. This notion was upheid and- streng}hened by
France® agreement to cede the colony to Spair.. Though the English government had never

pubhcrzed the establishment of Port Egmont, ‘the Spamsh suspected that it exrsted but they

drd not know the precise location. On 29 December 1766, the Secretary of State for the Indies, ,

the Count de Arriaga, wrote to Bucareli that he sh(nrld seck out and locate any settlement

““Loyd's Evening Post, 23-26 November 1770, ..
“'Lloyd's, Evening Post, 10-12 October ‘1770, Middlesex Journal, 11 13 October 1770
and Annual Register, 1770, pp. 152-153.
“Julius Goebel, p. 228.
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made by the Bnush He was to instruct his commanders that in approachmg the spot where
Vthey may hght upon the settlement, t?’ey a.fe to tax the strangcrs with intruding within Hxs
Majesty's dormmon&) as if surpnsed to .na th ﬂmﬁerc in violation of treaty oblxgauons\d
against the harmony subsisting between ... c nitions; and they are to promt against such

contravention."** The Spanish- preoccupation with" the possibility of finding a ~Brit;ish/c
-
settlement w1thm theu territories was manifested in the nouon that Spain should ¥y to

intervene in the Enghsh contraband trade on the Rxo de la Plata, and this tesulted in the

-

general order f arles ITT dated 13 November 1767, stating that his representatives in the

New World should 'keep a sharp )ook out, " and stop the English from settling or trading

illicitly in his territories.** The officials of the Spanish crown were given even furtherteeway

in early 1768 when the Minister of the Marine and the Indies issued a general order to
.o Y
Governor Bucareli that suggested if the use of force was deemed necessary in order to keep
% : . ‘
the English out of the area, then that expedient should be taken at Bucareli's discretion. As:éP

4

Arriaga wrote to Bucareli:

His Majesty commands me to strenuously-charge Your Excellency to Keep very much
on the alert against permitting them to gain any foothold whatsoever; and, if -
admonitions framed in accordance with the statutes should fail of their purpose, you

are to expel the English by force from the post they may be holding, without waiting
for apy further command or instructions.‘¢ A

-
'

This series of commands from Madnd concerning a possible English settlement in the South w
Atlantic culminated in the “=Trer sent to Bucareli by Arriaga on 6 August 1768 which gave him’

the precise I6cation }f Port Egmont, taken from the testimony of several sailors who had been

A

there, and provided the governor wi er incentive 10 act upon his. general orders by

stating that t‘ information "maY serve $Or your guidance in giving effect to orders which

’

have been communicated to you."

\ R !
N

“Bolton Glanvill Corney, The Quest and Occupauon of Tahiti by Enussanes of

Spain during the Years -1772-1776 Told in Despatches and Other Coruemporary

Documents, (London: 1913), p. 49.

¢B.G. Corney, p. 101. '

‘“cited in B.G. Corney, p. 109.
- “cited in B. G. Corney, pp. 144-145. ~

’
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Notu/ithstanding the fact that th’e éSpanish were actively looking for the English on Jthe |

. Falkiand Islands as early as 1768, it was not until 28 Noyember 1769 that a Spanish ship met
" with the Enghish Captain Hunt in the frigate Tamer from Port Egmont.“ Hunt warned the

. Spamsh away from the Falkland Islands, clalmmg that these were the domam of the British

s

krng.tand S0 began a_serres of communications between the offleral representatives of the two

| nations, each claimin‘.g the islands in the name of their respective :sovereigns and each warning
the.other away. This result-ed in’tw.o official-protests by the governor of Puerto Soledad,
Philip Ruiz Puente.'and then on 20 February 1770, two Spanish. frigates; with troops on
board sailed to Port Egmont where they.remained for qight days, after which their captains

. decided to seek dtrecuons from Madrid. On 3 June 1770, Captam Hunt, havmg departed from

~ the 1slands soon after meeting the Spanish ship in November arrived at Portsmouth and';
. 1mmed1ately sent notice *of the :iizrcation to the Admtralty Meanwhile, on 4 June 1770, two -
“Spanish frigates arrived at Port Egmont where they were Jomed by four more on 7 June 1770,

, Aunder' the command of Juan v?lgnacio‘ Madariaga. On 8 June :‘1770. the two British Captains,
_Maltby and Farmer, asked the Spaniards to leave. .However, on 9 QJune,’._t‘he Spanish
comm_ander sent. them a message again claiming the islands in the name of _Charles I and
ordering the british to leaye.’ He also asked that an English officer review his troops to
©remove any doubts about the superiority of his forces. This was done, but the English
“captains refused to surrender wnthout having fired a shot, thus causing the Spanish to use
~ force in ?rder. to expel the ‘garrison, which could thereafter be consrdered an act of war.
Accordingly, on 10 June 1770, the Spanish began landing therr troops under ‘cover of fire. The '
Brmsh gamson responded with two vol]eys of cannon ‘fire and then hoisted. a .whrte flag.
Thereafter ‘forrhal 4rticles of caprtulatxon were signed by captains Maltby and. Farmer and

_ Major ‘General Madaprlaga. and the E?ghsh, agreed to léave. They were delayed, however, by
the removal of the rudder on their sloop, the Favourite, in order that news of these events
should reZm Spam before they were made known in England The Favourite arrrved at

Portsmou on 22 September 1770 havmg taken seventy days to make the voyage S0 she left

“The following chronology is taken,")from the Annual Regiszer,‘ 1771, pp. 7-12..

. >
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Port Egmont only thirty-four days after the capitulation.

\ The first news of these events reached England on 10 September 1710; via James
Harris, in his letter of 23 August 1770,‘ when he wrote 'that he had received some news from
Buenos Aires by the ship St. Nicolas de Bari. He said he had heard that "a squadron of five
frigates, with three hundred men of the regiment of Mallorca, and the c'd battalion of Buenos
Ayres, were destined to sail from that plaée the 6th of May, under the command of Monsieur
Madarriaga [sic], with orders to dislodge the English there."*® Harris went on to éay that he
had not beea able to obtain a confirmation of this infc;rmation, although he did state that
several people thought May would have been the wrong time of year for; fleet to sail to the
Falkland Islands. As it turned out, the Spanish force did make its way to the islands and its
overwhglming fuperiority over; the small British garrison indicated that the Spanish
government had taken this affair very seriously. In England, several accounts of the events of
10 June 1770 were printeé in the newspapers after the “ arrival of the Favou;ite in late
‘September. These all focussed upon the overwhelming odds in favour of the Spanish and gave "
detailed descriptions of the forces involved.”® One of the newspapers printed an eyewitness
repdrt of what had occurred at Port Egmont on 10 June 1770. This report étated that when
Madariaga was ordering the British to leave the islands, he said "that he: Had orders from his
Court to drive them from it three years before, but could not find ;he harbour out, till the
two Spanish f riéates discovered it."” This f;;ct certainly cast doubt upon the fiction which the
-British and Spanish gow}emments were later forced to accept in order to negotiate a settlement
to the dispute--that Bucareli had acred upon his own initiative, without any specific orders
from Madrid. This also gave credence to Walpole's contention that "the Governor of Buenos
Ayres, within whose district lay the desert in question, was ordered (underhand) to dispbsscss

us, and did. That intention had been known to our Administration some months before the

“YMalmesbury Diaries, p. 59. .

"For examples of these reports see: Middlesex Journal, 25-27 September and 4-6
December 1770, Lloyd's Evening Post, 28 September-1 October, 8-10 October and
5-7 December 1770, Bingley's, #18, 6 October and—#27, 8 December 1770,
Gazateer, 7 December 1770 and Annual Register, 1770, p. 147.

" Lioyd's Evening Post, 12-14 December 1770.
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Duke of Grafton q\ﬁittcd the reins. "™ , ' : ‘

The immediate cause of the Falkland Islands crisis, therefore, was the publicmion' of
the events of 10 June 1770 in England. Though the government knew of these events before
the public, it was generally tﬁought t1at the settlement was of no great concern to the
ministry, as it felt that Port Egr;xont could easily be retfi_ken, "but the affront offered to the
nation in taking it, is looked upon as the greatest."” The several other causes of the crisis
were more obscure, more ;rofounm«d/rcz immediate than the superficial reasons offered.
by actual events. In fact, when the capture of Por: Egmont by the Spaniards became known,
lil was greeted with considerable surprise because "that of which we were almost weary
ourselves, we did not expect anyone to envy: and therefore supposed that we would be
permitted to reside in Falkland's Island, the undisputed lords of tempest -beaten
barrenncss.""‘ The crisis which occurred was caused by a mixture of injured national pride
ahd dignity and commercial .rivalry‘\, but it gaiﬁed impetus from deeper political reasons, whick_l
hélped shape the development of the crisis, and which must bgyexamined if an understanding
© of 1770 is to be achieved. The events following Bucareli's actions did not, therefore, simply

"stem equally from the arrogant and absurd extravagance of Spanish claims to territory in the

New World and from the mindless warmongering which overtook the English when ,

" ‘confronted even with trivial insults,"”® but also from traditional animosities and rivalries

c

between the two nations and internal British politics which were intimately linked to the

development and outcome of the dispute.

\Walpolc Memoirs, iv, p. 114,

_ Middlesex Journal, 29 September-2 October 1770.

“Samuel Johnson, "Thoughts on the Late Transactions Respecting Falkland Islands
(1771)," in Samuel Johnson Political Writings, ed. by Donald J Greenz, (New
Haven: 1977), p. 358.

“Paul Langford, Modern British Forezgn Pollcy The Ezgiueenth Century: 1688-1815,
(London 1976), p. 159.



. 1. INTERNAL TENSIONS AND TURMOIL

It { possible to gain insights into dgh@cnth century British politici ‘ Ehrough an
examination of the Falkland Islands crisis. When this dispute is viewed from a British political
perspective it can t definite tale about the state of the ministry in 1770, the role which the
king played i‘n the government, the nature of cabinet politics, and the nature and role of the
opposition within the British constitution. This dispute is_‘particﬁlarly relevant to the laftcr '
question because the oprositibn quickly recognized the Falkland Island:. controversy as a
possible vehicle 1o power. \; is possible,” therefore, to examine their amidns in order to
determine to what 1;ngths the,yj"were organized, if they had serious ideological differences, and
what kind of tactics they wé{felwi];&ing to employ in order to bring down the govz;.mmcnt .and ‘
obtain power. Insights$. lmdthesc rﬁatt;rs will give a better understanding of the concept of
? opposition as jt was viewed in the eighteenth century, as well as a greater knowledge of the

people who were actually involved in these political dispﬁtes.

) The state of thé British ministry at the outset of the Falkland Islands crisis is
generally thought to have been unstable. There was some doubt that Lord North's ministry
would be able to witﬁstand th; vicissitudes of opposition attacks in parliament, when so many
other ministries had failec(;‘ in the 1760s. Howéver, it soon became obvious to some
contémporarics that he had a strong hdld on the House of Commonas and was well on his way
to consolidating his administration‘; power. "Lord North bids fairer for making an able and
good minister than any we have had a great while.””* Notwithstanding this contemporary
assessment, the weight of historical scholarshi‘p favours the not:on that North'g\ ministry was
weak,”” and that this weakness would be ~xploited by the opposition during ihc crisis, forcing

the English ministry to "show a bold front against Spain."™ It was also thought that even if

the opposition did not cause the government to act against its will, George III might. The

v
’

“Lord Barrington to the British envoy in Berlin, 24 April 1770, cucd in P. D. G.
Thomas, Lord North, p. 31

7See for example Julius Goebel, p. 278
" Fitzmaurice, i, pp. 416-417, and Ricardo Zorraquin Bect, Inglaterra prometic’
abandonar Las Malvinas. Estudio historico y jurfdico del conflicto anglo-espafiol;
(Buenos Aires: 1975), p.53.
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Whig interpretation of history which described George Il as a power-secking monarch,

attempting, to extend the crown's prerogatives beyond constitutionally acceptable -

boundaries,” Has since been discredited by other historians. Once the king had finally chosen

a minister who was acceptable to both parliament and himself, he le} }um govem.4though he
was always willing to voice his opinion' when this was solicited." o

North, therefore, was much more {firmly efisconced than has traditionally been

thought. The rmmstry had successfully overcome its true baptism of fire the previous March
when it repealed Townshend's Duties Act and still "maintained a firm command of b_usmess
in the Commons."*! This idea was not a new one, however, as it had been reported in the
Annual Register and was quoted in the Parliamenta}y History of England that
lord North had successfully weathered all the storms of the winter, supported by a
prodxglous majority, upon almost every occasion, he seemed now to be as securely
fixéd in his seat at the head of the treasury, as the fashion of the times, and the
precarious circumstances that might attend the commencement of the war would

admit of .** ‘ °

Thus the state 'of North's ministry at theobeginning of the Falkland Islands crisis was much

-more stable and much étronger than has often been thought to be the case by both his -

contemporaries and historians. The study of the Falkland Islands crisis presents a first-raté
opportumty for an examination of the conccpt of opposmon in eighteenth century British
politics. Indeed, the opposition campaign in parliament which was based upon the Falkland
crisis became 0 hﬂeated that» for a while the fdispute appeared 10 be "more a question of
domestic than international politics.”*® This was because the gbvcmment's ‘opp‘onﬁnts-scized
upon tl;is dispute as a means of creating a unified opposition to the mini'uﬁ;y's handliﬁg of the

ncgotmmns with Spain. The crisis presented several possxbﬂmes whlch the opposmon could

cxplou in érdcr to attack government pohcxes The very cbncept of a habltual polmcal

opposition to the government was stil! undergoing discussion in 1770, and there was some

"G.B. Hertz, British lmperlallsm in the Eighteenth Cen:ury, (London 1908’ PP
129-130.

wp, D. G. Thomas, Lord North, p. 39.

“'Philip Lawson, George Grenville, A Po.’mcal Life, (Oxford: '1984), pP- 285
Y“parl. Hist., xvi, pp. 1030-1031. ¢

¥ Julius Goebel p. 364. :



doubt as to the morality ot legality of systematically dpposing the policies of ministers who
" had, after all, been appointed by the king. On the positive §idc.of this dcbate there cxisteq the
opinion which was expressed by a correspondent to the Gazateer that "in times of public
tranquility, a rational opposition to some :neasures of administration might be productive of »
ladvantage to the natioﬁ. We know how apt even the best men are to slumber in office in this
indolent age."** There were, however, risks invdlvcd in adopting systcmatic opposition,
because its members might become motivated by self -interest rather than the rxauon s interest
and tlus was pamcularly dangerous during periods of international tensions.* 'I'hese fears
appeared to have been borne out in 1770 when the opposition parties challenged the
gévemment over the Falkland Islaﬁds crisis. o

In the summer of 1770 the main parties-in opposition were led by the Marquis'of
Rockingham, George Grer vilie and the Earl of Chatham, while the Duke of ciiedford's
followers voted agﬁinst the administration on some issues though Weymouth and Gower were.
ministers. By the opening pf the session o} parliament oﬁ 13 November 1770, the opﬂition
parties were at low ebb because of the death of George Grchville ‘the ill halth of ‘Chatham
and Bedford, and Rockmgham s prcoccupauon with his wife's 111ness@f‘ The opposmon 's
decision to use the Falkland Islands crisis was crmcued as purely a scrabble for power caused
byqtheir complete lack of influence in parliament. In light of this, a correspondent to the
London Magazine wrote that the 'patriots secm insidiously desirous ‘of sacrificing both
" [welfare and honourj){io the views of their popularity” and that "rendered desperate by their "
‘total insignifimhcc wié@ﬁn doors, they are indefatigably sedulous, to preserve some littlé
consequence _among ‘the rabble without; and are thcreforc continuously harassing your
lordships with such questions, as seem hxely to excite the'admiration of thcu supportcrs in

the suburbs.™ There were a fcw authors who defcndcd the m1mstry against opposition

attacks as ea:ly as September 1770, basing their arguments on the fact that the opposmon was
) i

“Gazateer, 22 November 1770. -
“D. A. Winstanley, "p. 392. ,
%Carl B. Cone, Burke and the Nature of Polmcs The Age of the American
Revolution. (Lexington: 1957), pp. 212-213 and Francois Roussgau, p:-76.

' London Magazine, Appendzx 1770. p. 647. \
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‘using unfair tactics i trying to frighten the public over the possibility of a war, and that it

v
r

was "by rarsmg a pafiit in the nation that they hoped to drive North-and his colleagues from
office. ™ The reason the offposition was demgrated in many instances was that interested
observers believed that its influence could aiter the course of events and cause the mrmstry to
act ‘in an unyielding manner, and that the ministers were "governed by their fear of ...the
- opposition. ™"’ That there was sorne truth to this is shown by the suggestion that North might
postpone the opening of parliament on 13 November 1770 until he received a definite answer
from the court of Spain. The k@wever responded that he @convinced that it would
be improper as that Court and that okf Versarlles would upon it augur that we are resolved at |
all events to accommodate the present dlspute and consequently would encovgage thern to

raise perhapsso much in their demands as would make war’ absolutely necessary‘.""i The

notion that the opposition was irresponsible in its attempts to stir up war fever was based

upon the premise that the only person capable of directing a war ministry was Chatham, and ~

that a war uld automatically bring down North's ministry.”® This put the opposition in the

unenviable pesition of appcanng to desire the humiliation of thflr country” S0 that they

might come intd power " It seemed, therefore to many of his contemporarres that when

@am returned to politics he did so in order to destroy the krnd of broadbottom mrmstry
which he had always claimed he desired, causing his motwes to reek of self -interest.”” Though
the Falkland Islands crisis provided the opposition vrith an issue that might win them the
votes of independent members and upon whrch the various opposmon partres could find
common ground therc were also severe drawbacks to using an mtemauonal drspute in order
to change the course of domestic politics. These drsadvantages served to call mto questron the

- mtegnty of the opposmon and initiated a new round in the dxscussron about whether or not

the institutiorf of ‘systematm opposrtron was desirable.

"Lloyd's Eveming Post, 26-28 September and 78 September 1 October 1770 and
Gazateer, 27 November 1770, and. D. A. Winstanley, p. 393. ’

“Julius Goebel, p. 294.

’°George 11, Correspondence, ii, King to North, 9 November 1770, p 166.
"D.,A. Winstanley, pp. 370-371 and Julius Goebel p. 306.

”Carl B. Cone, p. 210.

"J. Steven Watson, The Reign of George I 1760-1815 (Oxford: 1960) p 152.
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. Notwithstanding these arguments— the opposition leaders did try to unite. their
disparate forces and thougb they fought campaigns against the govemment in both houses ite
was from the Lords that the decisions were issued, and in the House of Lords that the
" bitterest battles were waged % As soon as- ‘NEwS of the dispute was known in England,

Rockingham's follower Lord Richmond, wrote to the marquis' secretary, Edmund Burke
' that this news sliews who were in the right, those who proposed the augmentation of seamen
or those who rejected~it."** In this note Richmond referred 10 a motion by tht opposition
during the previous session that the number o_f sailors should be mcreasedr which had been
rejecied by the ministry. On the opening of the parliamentary session with the speech from
the throne on 13 November 1770, the opposition in both houses criticized the ministry's
decisions ).nd policies. There was no formal motion made in either House cliallenging
gov‘emment policy. though 'there was some discussion about the wording of the Address of
Thanks to the king. In the Common there was an extensive debate about the Address of .
.Thanks as the opposition took tois oppo*umty to embarrass the govemment They had -
seized upon the part of George Li'c _peech in which he announced that® those very
- considerations which I. then promised you that I would never sacrifice, even to the desire of
peace, have laid me under an indispensable necessity of preparing for a different situation.""
The necessity of preparing for war gave the opposition the perfect opportunity to attack
government policy and this attack was launched immediately on 13 ﬁNovem’ber 1770 in the
Commons. The administration nttempted to steer the debate aw_a'y from any discussion of
military preparations by focussing on iis thlmgness to defend the national honour, though
not, as it happened because of the intrinsic value of the Falkland Islands In his speech
supporting the ministry -George Rice, MP for Carmarthenshire, played down the idea of
responding to the Spamsh msult by force, stating that #
the abuse of a drunken beadle, after a parish dinner; might as well bc supposed a

reasonable cause for a gentleman to draw his sword, as the seizing Falkland Island,
considering merely the act and the agent, can be supposed a reasonable cause for

2

“D. A. Winstanley, p. 3%4% ¢
' Burke's, Speeches ii, Richmond to Burke 10 June 1770, p. 142.
*Debret's , iv, p. 337.
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Great Britain to take the f; icld.”' <
Race's defense of the ministerial failure to prepare for war immediately -after the attack upon
the islands was Qlﬁso based upon the premise adopted by the government that the hostile act

‘had been commmed solely by the governor of Buenos Aires and not under the dlrect orders of

the Spanish court. ~ ‘

The opposmon procwded to attack tl;e g,:)vemmem from these two angles as they
quickly recognized that they were the weakest points in the ministerial defence. Not onl;' did
Edmund Burke attack ﬁ‘le; ministers' inaction, but he also denigrated their personal abilities, .
énd then introduced the idea that they had turned to the French seg,king the lintervcntion of-
‘ the court of Versailles in the dispute. Burke stated that the nﬁnister§ had a’éted- like ;leeping
men and when S

-at last they were roused from sleep, then it was some months before they could .
recover their senses: reason they never could recover, for they never had reason to
lose: they jumped about like g squirrel at the sight of a cat, they leaped and
squatted, and whisked their tail gout and ran into a hole; and in what hole did they
take refuge? Why the ministry of France. They applled to France as a rnedmtor to
accommodate their differences with Spain.”

The three main opposition tactics were introduced to the House of Comm'onsion the first \déy
parhamcnt sat. These were that the ministry had acted irresponsibly by not am;ng the nauonv
. ‘much sooner, that the ministers were Lrymg to cover up their errors by pumng vhe éntize
blame for the-dispute upon the governor of Buenps Aires, and that they had allowed the
French to interfere in the negotiations. Lord North answered these charges in the Commons
. by stating that the Falkiahd Islands were expenda_ble in the eyes of the administfation and
were not deemed a "sufficient cause Tor war.” In that case, "it was a proper obje‘ct of
negociation; and if so whét could be more prudent than to have an opening for
éccommodadon. by referring the act in QUestion to the governor of Buenos Aires, whi;h the_

King of Spain might if he pleased, disavow?"*® He also stated that "Great Britain had no need -

of a mediator,” and would never, therefore; apply to France to intervene in England's foreign

f

VParl. Hist., xvi, pp. 1036-1037. ~ .
Y Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1046. :
» YParl. Hist., xvi, p. 1050.



policy.!® It was, however, the first line of attack upon which the opposition focussed the |
initial thrusts of its campaign. In light of this, Sir Charles Saunders, MP for Hedon, whose
knowledge about naval matters was highly respected because he had travelled around the
woﬂd with Anson and led Wolfe's forces down the St Laﬁrre‘nce before the conthsf of
Quebec, stated that "the captams of both the Tamer a.nd Favourite should be mlled to the
‘bar and give an account of what the Spaniards had done, and what information thc ministry -
had received."‘” The idea that the ministry had acted ‘-irrgsponsibly by not arming thc’nation,
~ much sooner was also sugported by William Dowdeswell, MP for Worcestershire and the
leader of Rockingham's party in the House of Cofnmons. Speaking of the ministcfs. he said, |
- "the whole pa’t‘ty _j/xave not had sufficient invention to suggest one plausible excuse for keeping

the nation naked and defenceless, after authentic intelligence of the msndnous designs of the

O

‘House of Bonrboq had been received."!*? Lord North himself responded to these accusations,

. . " although his rebuttal O%vas weakened by the fact that it insinuated a lack of knowledge about
- -

N ng‘ the navy among Lhe opposition, which certainly could not have 'applied to Sir Charles

Qﬁtﬁ@ had."™** The adrmmstrauon s defense was that since it could not arm the country

opposf{i%n "‘{x?i tonscxous of oappcanng facuous in opposmg the govcrnmcnt s foreign policy

R
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* during an international crisis. Nevertheless, as the Chathamite Colonel Isaac Barr€ said of the

function of opposition in a seemingly hopeless cause, "however low opposition ‘may be
reduced, on its prese-nt' ground it will be always honourable. Shoiﬂd we dwindle to ten we shall
always go out .of this House, ten respcctablé figures, still.‘remindi_ng the nation of what its
representatives ought to béJ"_“ The sentiments which the oppositioh_ had intrbducgd to the
Commops on 13 Novc_mbér were certainly not new, as they had been vented in October in the
PI:SSS;"” however, théy were the foundation upon whicl: the opposition campaign was-based
for the duration of the negotiations with Spain. |

| 'Tl_le dpposiﬁon campaign from this point on was highly organized, with‘ attemptﬁ
coordinate -the activities between the various opposition groups and between botg Houses of
Parliament. There had been a meeting before the opening of the parliamentary session at the

Marquis of Rockingham'$ house, but- there was pot much that they could plan until they

knew what was to be presented in the king's speech.!*® After 13 November, there &as much

discussion between Rockingharh and Chatham, who agreed that -"a plan_should be soon
formed so that in both Houses of ‘Pgrh'amcnt the proceedings should gé) on hand in hand."'®’
Chatham also recognized the importance of "communicating sentiments” and the two leaders
agreed Lhat their initial plan of attack should be to criticize the "neglect of the ministers as to
war” and the "neglect of administration in not having prepared earlier. "***

The opposition recognized the value of the Falkland Jslands as an issue which could
serve well in its struggle to- unseat the'ministry, but the leaders were also counting on other
factors to contribute to Lord North's downfall. As Joh'n Calcraft (MP for Rochester and a

loyal follower of Chatham) wrote, there had not been a great showing of the opposition on

-the opening of parliament, but even so, he said: "The ministers do not seem at their ease.

2z

1 Par{. Hist., xvi, p. 1060.

15 Ljoyd's Evening Post, 10-12 Octobcr 1770 and Bingley's, #21, 27 October 1770.
1% Public Advertiser, 14 November 1770.

19Chatham Correspondence, iii, Rockingham to Chathamy 15 November 1770, p. 4%0.
1%Rockingham Memoirs, Rockmgham to Chatham, 15 November 1770, pp. 193-194,
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Lord North's «peech indicated a strong desife ;Qr_ peaée. though an apprehension of war.™*"
The fact that were was dissension within the cabinet was not a sei:ret and the opposition
sought to exploit this to its Qévn end.!*® The next attéck upon the government's policy was
carefuilly coordinated, as the opposition imrodﬁced -simila::mgtions in both Houses on 22
November.v Bcfore this was done, the yvording of the motions had been discussed by the
opposition-leaders and it was detided that "in geneyal the ‘ideas are that conf ining‘ the debate
- to what may have passed in the‘fcourse of the last tw.. ve months- or thereabouts, will render.
- the debate more pointed.and .\pcrhaps more fc;rg;ible."“‘ Chatham informed Calcraft .on 21
November 1770 that the motions were "for papers thh regard to Falkland's Island, andlthc
Spanish foree in the West Indies,'*? and these.were in faet moved by William Dowdeswell in
the Commons ;nd by Lord Richmond in the Hoﬁse of Lords. Richmond's motion called for
copies or extracts of all letters, and other papers conta.ining ‘imy iniclliger_xcc received |
by any of his Majesty's principal Secretaries of State, the Commissioners for

executing the Office of Lord High Admiral of Great Britain, or any other of his

Majesty's Ministers, between the 12th day ef September 1769, and the 12th day of
September 1770, toughing any hostilities commenced, or designed to be commenced,
by the Crown of ‘or any of its officers, against any part of his Majesty's >
dominions, expressingygi®itimes at whxch such intelligence was received.!'? ‘

The careful wording of mouon was important because n foreshadowcd the kind of
ob]ecuons to Lhe’ motlgn which might be, and in fact were, raised by the ministers.
Rlchmond s basic prctl;xse)fel the motion and his main point of attack in the speech which
followed was that from 3 June 1770 to 12 September 1770, the ministry had donc nothing and
that the armaments which they said were under way had not yet produced any visible effects.
He told the Lords that the neg&'tations had been under way for three months and parliament

had still not re<:ivec any information as to what kind of satisT: action could be expected from

Spain. The motion itself demanded a limited amount of information in order to obviate the

1Chatham . Correspondence, iii, Calcraft to Chatham, 14 November 1770, p. 489.
Frank O'Gorman, The Rise of Party in England The Rockingham Whigs 1760 82,
.(London: 1975), pp. 279-280.

M Chatham Correspondence, iii, Rockmgham to Chatham, 20 November 1770, pp.
491-492.

13 Chatham Correspondence, iii, Chatham to Calcraft, 21 November 1770 P 493

W lords Journals, xxxiii, 22 November 1770, p. 12.



29

'anﬁqipa;qd'objecrions of Lord" Weymouth, the Southern Secrepary. Richrnond insisted that 'b;
- only meant to obtain for the House some accurate information of circumstances leading to
and some accounting for a fact which was itself notorious and undisputed s He‘ added thay
the ministers should have accepted the opposition's suggesuon" t<> augment the number of

seamen and that this proposaJ for the strcngthcnmg the handégof government had been

. $ w ‘j & \
o %’\ ﬁ
Richmond's speech and rnouon were initially answered %‘y Lurd Weymouth who stated

rejected, merely because it came from that quarter."** ""?'_';j %
that he was opposed to the mouon-because laying the papers concerne_d before parlxament
might upset the delicately balanced negotiations with Spain. This answer fell rather flat in
light of the careful wording of Richmond's motion, which demanded only the papers before
12 écptember 1770 precisely in order to get around such ministerial objections. It was also
noted that when Weymouth spoke, he "ca\refully avoided giving-the least light or intimation
Whatsocver concerning thé actual state, or progress of that negotiation, and expressed himsélf
with caution and reserve.""!¢ This caution was.probabl due to the fact that on 22 November
1770, Weymouth was not optimistic about the outcome of the negotiations and wrote to
James Harris the next day ordering him to remain on the alert and to keep other British
,offxcxals in Spain and Glbraltar informed. Lord Hillsborough also sto%and defended the
ministry's refusal to produce the Falkland papers, rclteranng Woymouth;.s arguments about
the negotiations.'’” Lord Chatham then delivered a 6_Yh:),xig diatribe in which he managed to
convey his distaste for the Spanish and for-\\thost -n'l.inisters who would treat with them.
Chatham again questioned the ministry about t)le timing of the first reports concerning the
Spanisn hostiiitics at Falkland Islands. He also 'Ldemanded information about the state of th.e
negotiations and vilified the ministers for their Lfﬁingness to negotiate, asking them, "will you
descend so low? willk you so shamefully betray the King's honour, as to make it matter of

N

. . <%
negotiation whether his Majesty' s%scssrons shall be restored to him or not?"'*! ,Chatham
W Debrett, iv, p. 34l. ° o
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also chastized the aldermen of the city of London, who had tried to qt;stmd the ”e'ffectivc
issuance of press warrants. In an attempt to portray the opposition as ‘patriotic and sélcly
concerned _wiLh the national good, Chatham separated himself from these m'gn.' who in oth;r |
circpmsﬁ'n_ces had been his allies. "I wholly condemn their conduct, and am ready td support
any motion that may be made, for bringing ;hose aldermen-who have cndeavdured_'to stop the
execution of the Admiralty warrants, to the bar of this House.™" Chath'gm's complaints
about the- negotiations were answered by Eari C:ower on the government's behalf. He justified
the decision to negotiafe by pointing out that the actual rights 6 sovereignty 1Q the islands
were "neither so ancient nor so clear, as the noble Lord would insi ﬁale." This 'hc claimed,

was "a reasonable plea for our negociating with Spain."'** Lord Shelburne then rose and

accused the ministry of failing to attack Spain in response to tjis insult because of their fear

~that 2 war would cause‘ them to lose their offices. He did not a¥d the image of the opposition
. R

which Chatham and Rockingham were péinstakingly trying to foster, that of defenders of the
‘nation’'s interests, when he stated that "ind&d, if there was & likelihood,»that the difficulty of
conducting the military operations of an injured people, would force them from the
;:mployment they disgrace, it would be actuallf worth our w;hilc to coﬁ@ﬂcc a war, merely

for the purpose of gaining a fresh administration. "

4

* This line bf argument left the opposition wide open to government charges that it was
made up of self -iriterested, place-seeking individuals who were willing to sacrifice the nation's

interests for their own. At the end of the debate, therefore, Lord Sandwich spoke in defense
’ . L] ! ) . ) B :
of the government by attacking the opposition's integrity. He addressed the Lords, saying;

. Q )
who, however, let me ask are the pillars of the Opposition? discarded courtiers with
their hungry retainers; men rendered implacable by dismission, and desperate through
necessity; men who are maddened at having lost their placés, and who would do

- aaything to recover, them: they will not, I hope, be offended at this imputation of
venality; they deal very largely in imputationhs of venality themselves, and must not
be astonished at recrimination.!* ' §

The previous question was then put, when 65 were for it, and 21 against it. Thus Richmond's

' Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1101.
Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 111l.
_ 'Y Parl. Hist.,, xvi, p. 1114.
21pgrl, Hist., xvi, p. 1117. .
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initial motion was defeated while the othe. - .re negatived without a division."**.
The oﬁposition faired just as poorly in the House of Commons on 22 November 1770,

when WAlliam Dowdeswell presented a motion identical to Richmond's in the Lords. During a

[

long debéte the obposi;ion _m‘efnbers. again attacked the.'ministers for théirv willingness to accept
the govéfnor of Bueno§ Aires as é sc_apégoat, and Thomas Pownall, MP for Tregony and a
former governor of Massachusetts Ba.y.>stressed the need to defend the settlement on Falkland
Islands eyen though it was of little practical value. Pdwn;ll stated that the settlement was of

"little utility,"‘ but "having been once made, it éould not be given up."!** Pownall's support

. e
was important to the opposition, as he was considered to be knowledgeable about colonial

o

affairs. The motion calling for papers was politically astute because whether or not it passed,

it could still embarrass thé government. On the one hauvnd_a, ¢ the ministers refused to produce .

N . &
the papers, they would appear as if they had something to hide; on the other, if they did lay

-the papers before parliament tfxejr contents would surely reinf 6i'rce the opposition's charges of

irresponsibility in dealing with Span(ish hostiﬁties in the early stages of ‘e dispute. The

motion was also a’ wise political move because it was aimed at the independent MPs, as it

appeared to be‘an honest demand for necessary 'mformation.',.To this end, John Calcraft "said
he was an independent gentleman, a follower of no man, or set of men. He tnought we c;ughts
to begin with amendi..,g what was amiss at home, a_nd w’;s' for 'p'rodl_xctio'n of the -pépers."“’
Calcr;}t was, of coursé, a devoted follower of Chatham, so Lhis wbas obviously a conscious
atterﬂpt to inﬂulence the independents. 'fhe argument aimed at the independent gentlemen
seemed to be effective, as Lord Bellasyse clairﬁed that he was independent and had come to
parliament to do his duty, but _that he cauld not do thisq withoht the ncceésary information,
whit;h the papers would provide. After this occurred, however, his.. brother-in-law,. Lord
Mell:)ou_me, came and tooic him home to dinner, and when he returned, Bellasyse rose and in a
secoqd speech stated that "he had changed hi.mind,' that having the papers he mdugm would

be very improper; that he had a very good)opinion of his Majesty's servanté. and promised to

WParl. Hist., xvi, p. 1119.
SuParl. Hist., xvi, p. 1120.
13Pgrl, Hist., xvi, p. 1120,



the ministry."*** This occurrence demonstates

the relative ease with whilh an mdependent MP could be swayed and the basis for opposition

) - aspirations of winning votes away from the government.

. The government, however, was also skillful at using procedure in order to evade
"ernbarrassin'g debates and divisions. The debate on the motion by Dowdeswell on 22
November was one such occasion,' because, as previously mentioned, the ministers did not
want to deféat. the motion flagrantly by dividing upon the question; nor did théy want to end
the debate abruptly by moving to adjourn. They were, however, conscious of the need to end
the debaie without appearing to avoid the issues and so Charles Fox, MP for Midhurst and a
mex.nbe.r of the Admu';lty Board, rose and m.ved that the previous qld_esnon be put. The
motim; for the previous questiof was ‘made as the government sought to avud an
embarrassing divigion on a dclic;.ate topic, by forcing a vote on whether to continue the debate
and ultimately to divide ;xpon the issue. The government would then defeét its own motion,

_causing the debate to end inconclusivelyﬂ. This procedural’ device effectively ended the debate
on the motion for that day; however, it d1d not preclude the reintroduction of the motion
later during the session. It was generally understood, though, that the previous qucsuon was
"full as direct as an affirmative or negative.”')” When asing thlS kind of device, the
government [isked being accused of obstructing the business of parliament. but this difficul
was obviously offset, in some cases, by the ending of a debate that was proving embarrassing .
for the ministry. In this event the House divided on the previous question, &th the ministry

~ defeating the opposition 225 to 101.!**

Although this first attempt to use the Falkland Islands crisis to bring down the
government was unsuccessful, the topic was still mentioned in the opposition members’

_correspondence. For instance, they speculated about the possibility of a war, and both

Chatham and Lord Shelburne agreed that they thought war was a probabilily.“’ Apart from

3

e

1% Parl, Hist.. xvi; p. 1121 '

1'Cited in P. D. G. Thomas, House of Commons In the Eighteenth Cenzury
(Oxford: 1971), p. 179.

1 pPar]. Hist., xvi, p. 1124,

19Chatham Correspondence, iv, Chatham to Shelburne, and Shelburne to Chatham, 26
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these speculations, the opposition members met at Chatham's residence in order to plan their
strategy. It was reported in Lioyd's Eve(zing_ Post that the Duke of Northumberland, the
" Marquis of Rockfngham. Lord Shelburne and several others of the nobility had held a meeting
with Chatham on 25 November 1770.1% After this meeting, a new twist was added to the
opposition At_tacks u;;on the ministry.' They agreed, as Ro;kingha’m wrote to Chatham, that
they "should still keep to the line of attacking the administration for Lheﬁ neglect in not
arming caxliér, and Lrv by all means to~f;)rce them to lay before parliament and the public
nose intelligences, which, in my mind, will prove strongly their neglect."*! ‘The new
dimension to this reasoning was that Rockingham.tho;lghl they could involve the public in the : '
qpposition campaign and that this could make a difference to the parliamentary divisions.
- Rockingham wrote ‘ihat e\icn if the members of parliament \;vere under government _control
and voted that there .was no "ground for blame”, he felt that the public would not be so
sympathetic to the ministers-and that the public's influence was not to be discounted.!*?
The ncxt attack upon the ministry occurred in the-House of Lords on 88 November
1770, when Lord Chatham moved Lhat Captain Hunt, late Captam of }he Tamer sloop, be
ordered to attend this House on Monday next."!”’ This motion was objected to; there was a
"debate after which the previous question was put which was then resolved in the negau;e It
wa$ then moved Lhat George II1 order that the House "be acquamted at what time the first
demand was made for reparation from the crown of Spain, fc- e mjuncs to the honour_ of
the Crown and the rights of the people received at Falkland's Island."*** This was objected to
and then the government again évoidcg the issue by moving to adjourn, whith was resolved in
the affirmative. The division reported in the newspaper stated that the motien to adjourn had

been carried 54 to 20.!** Chatham had tried to solicit support f or his motion privdtely, as well

as By the force of his oratory. He hoped to win Lord Camden’s vote on this issue but he was

|V

(cont'd) November 1770, pp. 25-27.

197 Joyd's Evening Post, 23-26 November 1770.

Chatham . Correspondence, iv, Rockingham to Chatham, 26 November 1770, p. 28.
BiChatham Cus rcspondence iv, Rockingham to Chatham, 26 November 1770, p. 28.
[ ords Journals, xxxiii, 28 November 1770.

W Frards Journals, xxxiii, 28 November 1770. : ®

35Lloyd's Evening Post, 28-30 November 1770.
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unsuccessful, as that nobleman stated that Chatham's new motion was too similar tg the

Duke of Richmond's for him to be able to vote for it and maintain any consistency. He wrote

. to Chatham Lhar

<

as to the present motion, it has too strong a resemblance to the motion of last
Thursday, to make my attendance upon the one consistent with my .absence on the
other; and therefore I hope your Lordship will consider me as under a necessity of
not appearing in the House of Lords.!*
This evidence of an attempt at soliciting votes by Chatham coincided with his assertion that a
crisis had arisen in the opposmon and it was fallmg into ruin. His la:' of faith in the

opposition was made clear when he wrote to Carcraft on the same“day that "I think all 1s

ruined, and am deterrmned to be fourid in my post ‘wh_en destrucu,on falls upon us. The times

o7 . k‘. : . : ‘f"::l ! ‘. . \; .
are pollution in the Very‘qum;less.’enc‘e' a‘nd'thc litgle mgn@e*uvres in -Opposmorr belmrﬁ‘ the

scenes are de“lSlorable msr Thrs example of Chalmm s wrllrngness to abandon the opposmon

L2 "{’u

campargn demonstrates that there wﬁs no. 'true rdeologrcal principle lmkmg the various

opposition groups, and that' Chatham -felt no loyaity tow;rrds his allres despnc his-

protestations to the contrary to Rockmgham That some membcrs werc wrllmg to compromrSe
their beliefs in order to win points agamst the ministry was evrdenced by Gerard Harmlton

MP for Old Sarum and a follower of Lord Temple. He wrote to John Calcraft that’ the

1

Spaniards

refuse, however, to disowr. the act'of the governor; but say, I think very manly, that

what he did was by their urder, but that they are sorry for it, and are willing things

should be put exactly in the siteation they were. Opposition must of course say, this
. is an indignity not to be put up ,wreh 13

Hamilton reallzed that even if Lhe' Spamshwwere quite reasonable, the opposition wouldl,gaih'n
only if they could show that the rninistry was incapable of winnirrg satisfactory eompcns'atio'n
for the Spamsh insult. Therefore, evcrr if mdrvrdual members thought that Justrce had' been

done, the opposrtmn as a group would bc Torced to adopt the contrary posture that & .

compromise would be drshonourable.,Hamllton s solution to the problem was "to send for |

\

Lord Chatham” because he could frlghten the Spanish into acquiescence without resorting to |

L}

“‘Chazham Correspéndence iv, Camden to Chatham, 28 November 1770, pp. 29-30.
19Chatham Correspondence, iv, Chatham to Calcraft, 28 November 1770, p. 32.
* Y Chatham Correspondence, iv, Hamrlton to Calcraft,s 3 December 1770, pp. 25-26.
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war.'¥

The members of thc.opposition m the House of Lords then dedded that the next
tactic they should use against the government was that of "addressing the crown to quicken all
necessary succours for Gibraliar, and perhapé Jamaica.™** 'I'his motion-was made accordingly
on 11 December 1770 by the Duke of Manches'ter; however, as he was expounding upon the

- defenceless state of the nation, and especially of Gibraltar, he was interrupted by Earl Gower,

\

"who desired that the House might be cleared of all but those who had a right to sit there; he
1 .

'

observed, that when motions were_brought on by surprise, and the members of that House
bad no previous notice to guess at what they might consist of; and when upon those motions

such ihiangs came out as ought not to be publicly divuiged, no persons but peers should hear
Y , .

~ them.”*'. Lord Richmond st~ and defended Manchester's motion, saying that Gower's
demand would alarm the people; however, this caused virtual chaos in the House and calls of -
"'clearr'athg -House".'-liiir‘ere all that could be heard. Finally, because they could not make
_mcmselvééghca:d.z_Chatham and several other opposition peers l‘eft the House, though they

énterpd a formal protest upon the Journals which was signed by seventeen peers and which
. ¢ . ‘-\ :

stated that - )

this proéwding (too manifcsﬂy"pfemeditated and prepared) 16‘-&5ve been for no
other purpose than to preclude inquiry on the part of the lords; and under colour of
concealing secrets of state, to hide frpm the public eye the unjustifiable and criminal
neglects of the ministry, in ‘not making sufficient and timely provision for the
national honour and security.!*! ’ .

This gvent was significant because it demonstrated the importance of public opinion to.the
oppo.ﬁu’on's campaign regarding the Falkland Islands'and the significance of the ministry's
ciecision to invoke the sLanﬁing order No. 112. The: oppositioﬁ had made no secret of the fact
that their attacks-ﬁp:)n the ministry's lack of rmhtary preparationg&é‘r;thought' to have more
effect outside parliam&n than within and Earl'Gowg:r's move 10 'k;ve the House cleared,

ostensibly because of the dcl_icatc nature of the debate, éffectively robbed tﬁp oppositidn of a

far lafgcr. ‘more sympathetic audience. The opposition's sentiments about these occurrences

M 99bid. _ , ‘ o _ . .
9Chatham Correspondence, iv, Chatham to Camden, 8 December 1770, pp. 46-47.
1 Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1318. : ‘ .

1Pl Hist., xvi, p. 1320.
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were best expressed by Lord Chatham when he wrote that "for the House being of late kept
N o
clear of ‘hearers, we are reduced 1o a snug party of unhearing and unfeeling lords, and the

tapestry hangings; whieh last, mute as ministers still tell us more than all the cabinet on the
subject of Spain, and the manner of treatmg with an insidious and haughty power, "t
The next confrontation between the ministry and. theropposuon came in the House of

Commons on 12 December 1770, over the issue of the Land Tax. Henry Scymour, MP for

- 3
Huntingdon and a follower of the late George Grenville, moved that the committee of ways

and means "not proceed to consider of an aid to be granted to hidsf’Majesty, by a Land Tax, to
be raised in Great Britain, for the service of the year 1771, until after th'e next recess for the

Christmas holidays, several members being absent in Ee\country."‘“ The government

bchallenged‘ this motion on the grounNds’that peace was pretarious and that the French and

Spamé.rds were making great preparations.'*! The opposition, however, upheld the argumcnt
Lhat -since the threat of war was not certain, the land tax was not an absolute mecessrty The
attacks upon the ministry became quite vitriolic and "in short they were. attacked from all
sides of the House upon their 1gnorance baseness, and cowarcfrce The drvxslon upon thrs
motioh, however, was carried by the government, 199-121 for the negatrve a very good
showmg for the opposition just before the Christfhas recess.'** One of the effects of this
motion was 10 give government supporters ammunition against the opposmoq_ because it was
not consiste'n-t with their previous attacks F’upon the ministry's lack of militar’y préparatio‘ns-
and made: the opposrtron mémbers appear "more factious ‘than patriotic.”*’ The opposmon

was portrayed by a rrumstenal wnter as "busied in makmg motrons that are erthc;\iactuous

[si¢] or fnvrlous in drawing exaggerated pictures of the weakncsses and dtstresses of the

T

nation, to provoke insults from abroad and create dw%ency at homc Bt Though thxs '
~

issue also caused the government to appear mconsrstent at least the ministers could argue that .

1Chatham Correspondence, iv, Chatham to Countess Stanhope. 16 Deccmber 1770,
pp. 54-55.

144 par] Hist., i, p. 1330.
WSParl, Hist., xvi, pp. 1330-133L.
Wpgrl. Hist,, xvi, p. 1331.

«* -

D, A. Winstanley, p. 396.
- Public Advertiser, 17 December 1770.
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| ‘it was better -fo be prepared for any contingency, even if they did not believe a: war was likely '
to occur. | )

For the rest of December and well into January 1771, the opposition concentrated on
the negotiations over the Falkland Islands dispute and smculated about the ﬁossibility of a
war occumng though the consensus was tﬁat peace would be maintained.’*’ This was despite
thc prevaxlmg sentiment that the peace, somehow or other, had been strangcly bungled"
Walpole so aptly put 1t.‘*° The test of the opposition campaign based upon the Falkland
Islands dispute was focussed .upon the cfetlaradon by Prince Masserégo and the‘ acceptance by
Lord Rochford which resulted in the agreeﬁlent called the Spanish Convéntibn and which were
presented to parliament on 25 January 1771. The first news which the dpposition members

t

received of this‘agreemént"came from John Calcraft. He wrote to Chatham on 21 January

1771 4hat, &

at this very moment, I believe the. comprormse is concluded. My own judgement
assures me, it is the most ignominious one that ever was made for this country, and I

. have the surest mforianon to confirm me in my opinion. I am now convinced that
there are no conditiof§ to which Lord North was not determined to submit. If. there
had been one spark of shame, a single atom of honour, in the composition of our
ministry, war was inevitable.!**

The next day, on 22 January, the declaration was announced in p rliament and it was stated
that it wouldélaid before parliament on 25 January 1771. Even before he saw the comen'ts
of the declaration, therefore Calcraft had already passed an unfavburable judge“ment upon it,
and the opposmon eagerly grasped at the first concrete object upon which they could focus
. their attacks. Thxs came at a particularly crmcal time for the "united” opposition because on
21 January they had lost several of George Grenville's talented followers to @e government.
Lord Suffolk. thereafter held-the Privy Seal, Wedderburn became Solicitor General, Thomas
'Wﬁatcly joined the Board of Trade and ,{\ugustus Hervey became a Lord of the Admiralty.!*

The defection was pot numerically _devastating for the opposition; howcver, it was

19Chatham CorreSpondence, iv, Hamilton to Calcraft, 20 December 1770, p. 62, and
alpole Correspondence, xxiii, Mann to Walpole, 14 January 1771, p. 261.
. ”qupole Correspondence, xxiii, Walpole to Mann, 15 January 1771, ‘p. :263.
hatham Correspondence, &, Calcraft to Chatham, 21 January' 1771, p. 68.
1L, H. Brown, The Grafion and North Cabinets 1766-1775, (unpublished Ph.D.
'I'hesns Umvcrsnty of ’I‘oronto 1963), p. 305.




L

demoralizing_.i '
In an effort to gain‘ more supp\ort. Ed|mund Burke demanded a call of the House,
having asked Lord North when he planned to 'discuss‘the agréemem' in parliament.!*> Burke's
motion for a call of the House was a proced'ural tactic which was éenerally only proposed by
opposition or indebendém members. As it served to bring in all of the'independer_rt members,
if it was well timed and the debate convincing enough, it could prove very useful to an
‘opposition party. This Lactic;, however, r:ould worlr the other way if ”,-ir_“\)‘;s used
| indiscriminately or too of ten, _becausé it forced MPs to come to Westrninisrcr."vﬁzhiﬁg:l{ was its
" goal; but this could also be very annoying to country gentlemen trusy with their estates, and.
could cause them to be ill-disposed towards the party which had made the motion.'**
Notwithstarlding these ﬁ;ks, Burke - moved ttr;t a call of the House be scheduled for 14

o

February 1771, when the agreement with Spam was to be discussed.
; "There was a mixed reaction to the declaration, but the opposition was firm in its
disapproval. In this instance, Chatham declared that he was willing to unite with anybody who‘
."'was against the convention. He wrote to Calcraft: "I meet with sincerity ;nd cordiality
vwhoever stand for the'rights of the people, and for the national honour. Both trodden down
in this sad state of pollution and degeneracy "135 The furore caused by Lord North ]
armouncem\ﬂt of the agreement was qurckly channelled into an attempt to orgamze

coordmate and whip in support for the opposition. To this end, Dowdeswell held a meeting at
his home on 24 January 1771, anri he invited ‘John édcraft to attend as éhatham's
representative. Calcraft wrote to Chatham informing him of the mecﬁng and asking whether
or not he should attend. He also-mentioned ttrat. "the Rockingharri fricnds in our House are
courting confidence'arrd union with your Lordship a&dthose atmched to you. v;/ith unusual

éagemess.'”‘ The Rockinghams were indeed seeking to coafirm Chatham's support. They

«

13Commons Journals, "Ordered, That this House be called upon this Day Fortnight,
- the Sth day of February next. That such Members shall not then attend, be sent

. for in Custody of the Serjeant-at -Arms attending this House.” This motion was
also reported in- the eneral Evening Post, 22-24 January 1771.
1“p, D. G.'Thomas, House of Commons, pp. 108-109.
133Chatham Correspondence, iv, Chatham to Calcraft, 23 January 1771 p. 83.
15¢Chatham Correspondence, iv, Calcraft to Chatham, 23 January 1771, p. 8l.
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» : .
were suffering from Roékingham'§ absence, as he was attending his wife who was ill, and so

the leadership of the party fell to the Duke of Richmond. He wrote to Chatham inviting him
to an organizational meeting for th?opposition bin the Lords on 23 January 1771, and he also
| expressed his concern that the Grenville defection might cause further thinning of the
| oppoéiition ranks. He wrota that "indeed, it seems necessary, after the late defection, that we

should show no langour, but by some spirited conduct tell the world, as early as poss1blc that

—~

we remain steady and firm in the cause we have undertaken..." At these meetings it was

* _deaded that the best course. of acuon would be another motion calling for all the papers
rcgardmg the events at Falkland Islands and ‘the negotmuons with Spain, since 1 June 1770.1%
This correspondence between Barré and Chatham indicates the extent to Wthh the campaxgns
in both Houses were coordinated. After Lord North had presented Massarano s Declaratijon to
the Commons, Dowdeswell rose and sp9k¢ against this statement and its acceptance, in the
same tone and with the same arguments. that were being presented in the House of Lords, and

" then moved that the papers concerning the negotiations‘ be made available. The ministers

claimed to accept this motion with an amendment suggested by North, which in essence :

lessened the degree of injury which the British- subjects wer‘% said to have suffered. After a ,

| lung debate which included subtle a_rgumeuts' about the phrasing of ideas, in which the
oppositon accused the administration of Lrymg tu Geate a smoke screen in-order to blind the

o«

members and mislead them, the motion was passed.'**

. According to the opposition, the most glaring o\mission in the agreement was the

failure on Spain's part to offer any compensation for the expenses which England“ had
‘ incurred becausé of the dispute. Colonel Barre rose in the Commons and complained that

"there is not a word of the expense' inlthe Declaration. At this rate, it will always be in the

power of an inferior nation, nay, even of an individual to ruin us, who have ndthing to do

but to take a rock from us and put us to three million expense, to preparayions to recover

”’Chatham Correspondence, iv, Rxchmond to ‘Chatham, 23 January 1771, p. 79.
19Chatham Correspondence, iv, Chatham to Barré, 24 January 1771, and Barre to
Chatham, 24 January 1771, pp. 84-86. )

9 Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1343. .
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it."'* Lord North denied ever having said that Bnmin's expenses would bc pain by Spain and

then the members started arguing about who was remembering wba,t;N,orth had promised
correctly. Finally Dowdeswell agregd to North's amendment and the debate enned. _‘_ﬁ‘

Meanwhile, in the House of Lords, the government was under fire from opposition

" peers. Fi;st of all, the Duke of Manchester made the motion asking f br infennation“about the

4"designsv of Spain upon Falkland's Island.™*" This was followed by some adept political

maneouvring as Lords Rochford -nnd(Sandwfcb attempted to amend the motion and this was

4\ objected to by the opposition lords. After some debate, the original motion e/as agreed 1o

“without alteranon having been _]llStlfl&d) by Chatham's claim that the agreement was "an

ignominious compromise”, and that it "was no sausfacuon no reparauon ne The Duke of

Rlchfnond then made another motion regardmg the tabling of all ‘the comspondence relative

to the negotiations between the ministers and' their French counterparts, because "as ther ;

world_ had strange suspicions that France had too much to do in this uansacuon L was
necessary to clear this matter."*¢* This 'motion was contested by Lord Rochford, who sfated :
_ that these bapcrs did noi exist and so could not be produced. Chatham however, strongly
‘supnofte'd the motion and claimed that the "ref;using this motion shewed that some
;rmsacﬁon with France had passed, perhaps not paper or memorials."*** One of the former
followere_ of George Greaville, Lord Suffolk, then showed his support for the ministry by
stating that if the ministry said there had been no negotiations with France, "he thought that
. assurance fully satisfactofy."“’ This point about \wher.her or not France had interfered in the
negotiations was thought to be of some importance because if that had been the case, "it
wouid be giving efficacy to”the family compact.”** The opposition also chose this time te

introduce the question of sovereignty over the islands. Richmond stated that the declaration

- 1pgrl. Hist., xvi, p. 1344,
19 Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1338.
“2Parl, Hist., xvi, p. 1339.
" 13parl Hist., xvi, p. 1340.
14Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1340.
1Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1341.
16 Debrett, iv, p. 375.
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! . | :
was unacceptatle because it caused the right of sovereignty to be brought into dispute.'*’

These attacks upon the ministry's foreign @cy were strength\ened because the opposition
now had something cencrete to complain about. Nevertheless, they ﬁad lost the advantage
which might have be:n gained if the minisgry had been forced to fight a war with Spain. So;
on the one hand, the exissence of the declaration gave the opposition (a rallying cry and focal
point of attack when they had been, foundering“and losing adherents, but on the other hand,
wi}h the removal of uhcertain_ty abo{xt whether or not a war was imminent, they also lost a

valuable salient. = -

There was furthiézhis

‘ .should approach the meetmg of parhament now that their motions concerning the Falkland

_ pa@ had been acoepted The Rockingham party was especxally eager to meet with Chatham

v

information @wanung to settle a motion for obtaining it."*** There appears to have been

some disagreement about which arguments against the ministry should be emphasized.
Rockingham agreed that the declaration was a dishonourable compromise, and that this
should be stressed; however, he wrote to Edmund Burke: _ '
I have no objection to sounding high the dishonour thls country has suffered, but I
think the ooject should be to shew the defenceless state this country was in-in
September and to shew how highly culpable the administration has been in having
neglected taking earlier precautions. That the very existence of this country had been
endangered by their supine neglect. That their conduct had been the encouragement -
to Spain to venture to insult us.'®
Another-of the agreement's failings perceived by the opposition was that it was merely an
expedient and that the government's continuing armament buildup meant that a war would
nonetheless occur; "that the present conveatfon, instead ef being the confirmation of peace,

o

will be only the prelude to a war."”™
o

191Parl. -Hist., xvi, 1340.

14Chatham Correspondence iv, Rxchmond to Chatham, 30 January 1771, p. 89.
19 Burke Correspondence, ii, Rockingham to Burke, 30 January 1771, p. 188.
1"%General Evening Post, 29-31 January 1771.
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The opposition also further attcmpte& to embarrass the government by trying to prove
the French had interfered, and Seyrnour therefore moved, on 4 February 1771, that the king

should instruct that "this House be informed, whether the Court of France did interfere in the

late Negotiation \yith the Court of Spain."”‘ This motion caused a division and was defeated

173 to 57. The motion itself only served to show the oppositiog's weakness at this point. The
government was in a strong position because, as George III wrote to North,
after the very open communication that has{sic] this day made to Parliament of the
entire transaction on the dispute with Spain, Mr. Seymour's motion has no

appearance of candour, and cannot consequently do honour to the supportcrs of it,

but be advantageous to Administration as®it shewed so great a Majority in their
favour.!

On § February 1771, Chatham questioned the very essence of the agreement when he

chalienged, in \he House of Lords, the administration’'s use of the Declaration as an

/ .
instrument for restitution because it .ingluded the ‘reservation of disputed right of

sovereignty.” He stated that this coﬁ“«n "carried into jexecution, without derogating

from the maxim of law before referedsic] to, touching the inherent and essential dignity of

the Crown of Great Britain."!"* Before making :this motion, Chatham sought Lord Camden's

advice as to the legality of the declaration and acceptance; however, Camden was not

optimistic about the success of such a question. He stated: "I will not say that my opinion is

fixed or unalterable but I dare not avow that the acceptance is illegal, as at present advised.”

" He added that he hesitated to disagree with Chatham, "but in matters of law ' -nust always '

think for myself."!"* Chatham’s motion was defeated.!™ .

The last ‘major opposition attack based upon the Falkland Islands issue took place on
13 February 1771 in the House of Commons and on-14 February 1771 in the House of Lords.
Prior to 13 February, the opposition was already trying to determine what the ministry's
course of action would be, and how this could most effectively be counteracted. Richmond

accurately predicted what would occur when he wrote to Rockingham on 12 February 1771:

"\Commons Journals, xxxiii, 4 February 1771 p. 139,

"George 111, Correspondence, ii, King to North, 4 Fcbruary 1771, p. 215.
1 Debrett, iv, p. 376. :
"Chatham Correspondence, iv, Camden toc Chatham, 5 February 1771, p. 92.
Y"Parl. Hist., xvi, p. 1355.
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"We expect the ministers” will start first and move an address of thanks. We shall endeavour =
to get the lead but in the Lords they may do as they please, as the House determines who
shall speak first, but in the Commons it is the Spéaker (who is at present out of humour) and
may call to.DowdeQweH fitst. The debate and di?ision may be as strong against a t:ulsome
address, as upon the resolutions, but we must have the resolutions stand on the Journals."”‘.
The motion for an Addres;s of Thanks was duly made by Lord Bcahchamp and seconded by
Palmerston. The debate about thé agreement was probably presented in this manner because
the Address was dxrectcd at the king, and this was calculated to play upon thdse independent
members’ loyaltm. One MP who tradmonally soted with the administration stated:

I lamented in common I believe with many, that this question came into discussion

upon a motion for an Address. Duty and affection to his Majesty, sense of the

magnanimity of the royal mind, and reverence for the general virtues that have place

there, are sentiments ever uppermost in my heart; and it is extremely irksome to me

to avoid any occasion to give them expression.'”
Notwithstanding these sentiments, he later voted against the ministry, causing the king some ’
surprise; "the seeing VColonel Burgoyne's name on the side of the minority appears so
extraordinary that | almost @gine that is a mistake."'”" Dowdeswell led the debate by
proposing an amendment to the motion tﬁat would delete all but the first paragrapfx, thereby
withholding an ex.prtssion 1)( approbation for the ministers' conduct. He then added that
should his amcnd;ncnt be accepted he p;oposed to move the acceptance of thirteen
resolutions(the same resolutions which\‘_ Richmond mentioned to Rockingham in the letter
| above) which cétegorically condemned the ministry's handling of the whole crisis.!”” The
declaration and acceptance were again strongly criticized by opposition supporters, because of
their agreement to minimum reparation and their haziness on the question of sovereignty over
the islands. Thomas Pownall, the former governor of Massachusetts Bay, made an especially
long, critical speech which -was later published, in which he denounced the ministers’
acceptance of the declaration, even hinting at the existence of a secret agreement to abandon

thﬁaslands ‘when he stated, "this business has beog corgiuctod in two dlffcrcnt lines of

- 1Cited in P D G Thomas Hause of Commons p. 190.

" Parl. Hist., xvi, pp. 1364-1365.

"George III, Correspondence, ii, King to North, 14 February 1771, p. 218.
" Parl. Hist., xvi, pp. 1359-1361.
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&
negociation; the one diplomatic, responsible, upon pa{per, the other ministerial; irresponsible,’
on. parole..,"!*® He could do nd more than hint at the existence of such a secret ;—aromisc
bemu& t{l)lere was no concrete proof for this éssem'on. He also brought up the cvcr-pfgsent
idea that France had intgrfered in the dispute and the ministers had allowed. this. After this,
the House divided on the original motion for the Address. The rcsuli. was 271 for and 157
against.'" B 5 B

The events which took place in the /}.‘iouseu of Lords were much the same; h(’>wcver. the
Duke of Newcastle moved that an adcirfss be presented to the king and the Duke of
Manchester proposed an amendment simiiar to that which qudcswell had presented in the’
Cé}llmons. The amendment was object;d to and there was a long debate until the House
finiily divided upon the question of the amendment, not of the origina] question. The result
of this_\ division was 35 contents, 3 Proxies, total 38. Not contents 92, Proxies 15, total 107,
The oppositiont Lords then took advantage of their prerogative as noblcn}gn and issucd a
protest to the ‘Address approving the Spﬁnish declaration, in- which théy stated ail of .thcirb
objectic;ns in detail "

The king and the ministers were pleased to have w;athcred the storm in parliament -
caused by the Falkland Islands, and George III com'plimented.North on the grounds that "the
great majority ycstc'rday_is,:;{ery creditab!c for administration."!* Though thxs may have been
true, in fact, the opposition must have becn‘ gratified to‘have had such a la}éc nufnbcr‘ofl
adherents in such full Houses. As Mfs. Hjms wrote to her son James, the \\Bridsh
reprcscma'f&e_ éin Madrid, "the House sat till past three id the moﬁing, when they divjdcd:
.for the motion 275 [sic], against it 157. I own the minority was more than I expected. "'}
Though the opposition did not win any of the divisions over the Falkland Islands dispute, they

did make a very.ffcspectab‘le showing in both Houses at the height of the debate.

" parl, Hist., xvi, p. 1375.

W Parl, Hisz:. xwi, p. 1377.

W Parl. His. :vi, pp. 1380-1385.

George 111, Correspondence, ii, King to North, 14 February 1771, p. 218.

4 Malmesbury Letters, i, Mrs. Harris to James Harris, 14 February 1771, p. 215
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.The momentum created by the declaration and the call of the Houses in order to
debate the xgue was soon dissipated and the opposition campargn faded away. ’I'here was a
.%Tevwal of interest in the Spanish convention when it appeared that Charles III had failed to

- ratify the agreemeﬂ\ and that the Spamsh ambassador had been recalled; however, this was

not enough to give the opposmon the focal pomt which it needed.!** Indeed, the settlement of

the drspute was a welcome l‘Clle ffom the tension both in Spain “and England caused by the
fear of a war. Harris wrote to Lord Rochford that the agreement had caused celebration
among the Spanish people and that they wee a! satisfied, except those, such as the Count of
Aranda, who had hoped to prof it from a war.'"¥ In England, Mr Harris wrote that
the accommodauon wnh Spain is generally well received in this country, which is well E
affected to Spain, and does not wish a war, whatever wicked patriots may endeavour,
or lying newspapers print. None make such audacious use of the word. people as
these do, a word which often means no more than themselves and their ignorant or.-
interested followers.!*™
The final attempt by an opposition member to use the Falkland Islands dispute to
- discredit Lhe goverriment came onh5 March 1771, when Governor Pownall made a motion in
the Commions ‘stating that the sovereignty clause in the agreement had damaged British
possessions in America. There was a debate on the motion in a rathep thin House and a
~ division of 43 yeas and 130 noes, so it passed in the negative.'** This motion was held in duch
contempt by the administration that nobody bothered to argue against it. They simply voted it

down George IIT expressed the government s sentiments about this attempt when he wrote to

North, stating, "I am not surprised that Mr. Pownall's absurd motion could not produce a

very long debate; indeed it is a convincing proof that the author of it is not calculated to

make a figure -in’ foreign affairs.™* By this time, it had become apparent that the issues
raised by the Falkland Islands dispute were no longer very popular and to belabor the ooint

was no longer a wise political tactic. It was generall.y conceded, as Walpole stated, that

SChatham Correspondence, iv, Calcraft to Chatham, 21 February 1771, 103, and
Walpole Correspondence, xxm Walpole to Mann, 22 February 1771, p. 269.

¢ Malmesbury Diaries, Harris to Rochford, 9 February 1771, p. 75.

W Malmesbury Letters, Mr Harris to James Harris, 5 March 1771, p. 218.

W pParl, Hist., xvi, p. 1402. ’
"George 111, Correpondence, u King to North, 5 March 1771, p. 223.
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"though the opposition affected to decry ouf acquieseence, tixe humiliation certainly fell on
the King of Spam who yielded a ﬂower of his crown..."!?° B ’

The Falkland Islands dispute had provided the opposition with what its leaders
thought was a golden opportunity to try to unseat the North ministry because it was an issue
which interested everyone and which could serve to unite the disparate opposition parties. This
was also a good chance for the opposition to gain power because fpreign policy errors were
tl;é one thing which parliament would not tolerate and Whjch could cz'wse the independent |
rf),enﬁbers to swing over to the opposition's side, as occurred to the ministries of Walpole in
1742 and would do so again to Lord North in 1782. Even though there was a concerted
attempt ‘by the:‘ dppositioh members to work together in a coordinated, systematic fashion,
North's ministry, because of its large parliamentary majorities and wise use of procedural
tactics to avoid embarrassing divisions, was able to resist each attack and the opposition

campaign faltered and stumbled to a halt.

1

19'Walpole, Memoirs, iv, p. 177.

=



o

AN

I1I. THE PRESS-AND POLITICS

Any, exa'mination of the Falkland Islands Crisis and British politics must necessarily *

~ mclude a discussion of the issue as it appeared in contemporary newspapers, an important,

but generally untapped, hlstoncal source. The Falkland Islands were leading news items for
the latter part of 1770 and the beginning of 1771, and this helped to focus the attention of the
nation on the state of the delicate negotiations between Spain and England. The various
papers published many rept)rts and opinions on different aspects of the crisis, ax(d an analysis
of what was published. and where and when it was published, can help to answer some
pertinent questions a:oui, the nature bof eighteenth century British politics and society. The

newspapers referred tomhe crisis in many different ways, using various angles from which to

report on it; and these references can be categorized so that they are manageable and.more
L)

easily analysed. The reloerences to the crisis rarely existed in the form of editorial comments or,
in articles, but usually as letters to the editor, international correspondence, reports of debates(\
in parliament and simple rumour or speculation. The topics of interest werc the progress of
diplomatic negotlanons concerning the Falkland lslands the state of the nation's navy as
compared to Spain's preparations for hosulmes the effects of the crisis on BrmSh polmcs
trade and society; and, of course, the main issue of concemn, whether or not there would
actually be a war. As the papers often printed speculation’, rumour, and the unsubstantiated
opinions of various correspondents a cgmpanson of tbe presd goverage with the actual
-diplomacy and politics of the crisis is needed in c)rder to see 1f Journals were @ortmg events
with any degree of accuracy. Once it 1c estabhs}xed when the kpress \iras repomng facts as
opposed to rumours, these references can be furthet exarmned in order to determine What’,-
kind of effects they hadl‘ on the development' of Dthe crisis; whethér or not the press was
recognized as_an important tool in shaping public <tpinion or' if it simply reflected public,

opinion; and whether or not politicians were concemed with extra- parhamcntary oplmons 1n" e

this partmular case. If it can be estabhsl\ed that the newspapers did hawc an, effect on the‘_' ‘
development of British policy during the Falkland Islands dlspute it 1s then natural to

question the origins of the press reports. Did various poiitical partm attempt to use the press

*
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. in order to promote theu pamcular vxews and' if so, did they use only cert‘im ncwspapexs. ;
and was this use of the press mﬂuenual in shaping Britain's rwponse to the cnsxs"

» First of all, it must be deterrmned whether or not the newspapers dld havc some kind |
of impact on the "political nation. " This term itself is ambxguous as recent research has
shown that certain Journals sold small numbers, but it is known that readershxp was much 4

greatef than simple clrculauon figures indicate. John, K Brewer put the case well, whcn he

comme ted.
N

evhn if we are to concede that there were some contemporaries, as there indubitably
‘wefe, who disparagingly referred to the igdorant and illiterate populace, we are still

- left with the problem -of explammg why so many polmcxans and pamphletecrs spoke
of such an all-embracing 'political nation'.!"

The sheer volume of references to the Falkland Islands dispute is an indisa;iorA that the public
was interested in the crisis and that this topic could sell newspapers, wh *h was, after all, the
prime concern of the publishers. The Falkland Islands disputé was ;ertu ty well,public‘}i‘ed in
the néwspapers, 0a point that gaiscs the question t'of' how much influence the press had upen
public opinion and whether or not the latter hsd any influence on the deve \opmept\a( foreign
policy. In this instance it appears Lhat the press was used in a limited wo\ as a polmcal tool
usually by the opposmon rather than the ministry; which in tum mdxcales that the
government was not as concerned with conuolhng the newspapers and did not con51dcr Lhe
press to be an 1mportam influence in "circles where decisions were taken. "’ chcrthclcss tth
press in Bntam is thought to’have had a great deal of mﬂuencc on the formulauon of policy .
in an indirect way. Paul Langford argued that one of the bach facts about polmcs in !
' : o -
Britain was the p‘ower‘of public opinion: "it was one of the distinguishing fcaturcs of Brmsl?)

foreign policy in the period that neither the crown nor its servamts nor parliqincnt c0u,1d'ma,kc.

N 1

even relatively small decisions without taking)jmo account ,'Lhe wishes of those they ruled.™?’

One of the :naniféstations of this powerful public opinion was the very great inﬂucm’:c of the .

press."!** It -was commonly held m 1770, and is still accepted today by most hnstonans that

MJohn Brgwer, Party Ideology At The Accession Of George III, (Cambndge 1.976). ’
p. a1, o
iJeremy Black History Today. p. 36. T o

1"Paul Langford, p. 15. - : S

"Paul Langford, p. 11. ™ '
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- ‘public opinion could alter the course of foreign policy. Horace Walpole wrore that the wishes
of the people were so mfluennal that "whatever the Ministers thought or whatever they
- proposed to bear, it was not openly that Lhey dared to.talk any language but war, or at least
rcsentmem "19¢ This notion Wwas not only true of English scholars studymg this eplsode but
also of hlstonans such as Hrdalgo Nieto who wrote that the opinion against Spam was such
e .

that war was: almost mevrtable and Julius Goebel, who stated that "only extre ¢ measures

would srlence popular clamor."!* That public opinion was of considerable i

' certhmly ascnbed Perhaps thxs was srmply wishful thrnkmg buuau did not sto the Marquis

: of Rockmgham for example from expressing the’ 1dea that the pubhc had some kind of

~

L rnﬂuence when he wrote "that suffering the blame to spread for soyne days will have effect on

'the puhhc "7 The ungortance of the press in helping o . educate and shape this publxc

"Op\mon can best be 1llustrated by the information whrch the ministry went out of its way to

0 s .

keep out of the newspapers 'Fof example, when the governrnem was atternptmg to deal with

!

thd news of the initial confrontauons at the Falkland Islands in. Rine 1770, it was reported.
{. : ‘ b T
. ¢ ,\:SK %

i

_ Thie ministry wrsh to keep this secret from the people however it is hoped, through
the channel of every paper this trarfsaction may nog be hld 3

‘ Though it'is eeremely diff’ 1cul§uf quanufy ‘the mfluence which the press may have had upon

Lhe formauon of forergn pohcy in erghtee,mh century, England 1t is an mescapable fact that
.y

the press was very emergenc in it$ coverage of the Falkland Islands dispute and that this must

{
have Had some mﬂuence on the readershlp It 1s also undenrable that even with large

parlrarnentary majonues no erghteenth century mrmstry could aff drd to 1gnore the desrres of
the public completely. . o ‘, T
ES

o . !

~ "Walpole, Memoirs;, iv, p. - 114:eb '
"Julius Goebel, “p.” 294 and Maznuél Hidaigo Nret,o La cuestion de las Malvinas.

" Contribucion ‘al estua% de ‘las nelacrones hzspano-zdflesas en el siglo XVIII, (Madrid:

1847), p. 207. "En el Parlamento y en la calle crecia la opinion contra Espana y
la guerra se juzgaba casi ingvitable.”

"!'Chathant Correspondence, iv, 26 'November 1770, Roclungham to Chatham, p.29.

‘ “'Bingleys #3, 23 June 1770.
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* The earliest mention of the problems brewing between England and Spain which -

actually led up to the events on the Falkland Islands falls into the category of rumours from
abroad, published in Lloyds Evening Post in March 1770, when it was reported, alternatively,
that Spain was fortifying her American colonies in anticipation of a war with England, that
NS

rumours were quickly disproven, there was increasing talk of war between the two ngtions

” throughout the summer of 1770, but this was not based on any precise knov}ledge ‘of what had

occurred on 10 June 1770 at Port Egmom Rather, these rcports mention conflicts stemming |

from-Spanish seizure of British vessels and tension in the West Indian colonies.’*® When . |

Captain Hint arrived at Plymouth in the Tamer on 2 June 1770, he attempted to be very

>
must have been raised because by mid-June it was’

discreet, about the message he brought from the Falkiand Islands; However, some suspicions

rumoured, that in the journals of the Tamer sloop of war, lately arrived from Port
Egmont, some proceedings of the Spanish Commander are.mentioned, which the
M__y have thought proper to conceal for the present. o :
By 21 June the papers were discussing the Falkland Islands but the facts were still not kno’vm
though it was asserted in Bingley's Weekly Journal that the "Spaniards have now msulted us
and the} were allowed to do it with impunity . "2%? Nevértheless, there was still sonte confusion

as to what was really going on in the South Seas. In the same edition of Bingley's Journal

there was an article about the value of the Falkland Islands to the British Empire, describing™

them as the "key to the South Seas"; and another statement that the ministry had decided

simply to hand the islands over to the Spanish with the further comment. tha& "it i& cértain

factsthat Falkland lsland is in the posscssxon of the Spaniards."?* Thls example n&lﬁusu’auvc

.

of the fact that the papers were willing 1o print almost any opinions on the topic, even 1f they -

contradicted each other. The Middlesex Journal confirmed the fact that the Falkland Islands
i ‘q .
&

9 Lloyd's Evemng Post, 26-28 March 1770, 30 Marchg2 April 1770 18 20 April

1770.

190 Middlesex Journal, 14-16 June 1770 and 10-12 July 1770

. Middlesex Journal, 12-14 June 1770.

2 Bingley's Weekly Journal, #3, 23 June 1770.

3 Bingley's Weekly Journal, #3, 23 June 1770.

Al

Jamaica had been taken by Spain and that Spain had designs on Gibraltar.!”” Though these.

A
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had bcen .taken by the Spam'sh on 30 June, while Bingley's was at the same time refuting this
: prevrously prmted statement.?** From the time that Hunt arrived in England, therefore, untrll,
_‘the Favourue arrived on 22 September 1770, the newspapers were filled with speculative
" references ‘as to what the Spaniards were planm;g to do"on the Falklands, and how the British

ministry wa‘s going to react. These references focussed primarily upon-Spanish aggression and
Cnaval preparations, although one of the rumours claimed a war was SO probable that
Er‘l’glg&g $ ambassadors to France and Spam had’ solicited letters of recalt.?®* As the British 4
government had been advised by its charge d'affairs at Madrid, James Harris,?*¢ on 23
August, and by Masserano on 10 September 1770, of the details of Madariaga's expedition to
P'ort Egmont, it appears that the government was very adept at keeping the actual facts about
this matter out of the newspapers.«' Though .there were suspicions and speculation, it was not
until the Favourite had docked that any concrete inforrnation about uthe Falkland Islands
dispute whs leaked to the press. A few days after the arnval of the ship, a letter, ostensibly
from the Admiralty, was sent tg Lloyd s Co ffee House, advrsmg the pubhc in detarl of the

" Spanish dispossession of the British gamson at Port Egmont and tlus letter was- thereafter o

PR

pubhshed in the journals.?*’ The report from the Mtddlesex Journal was remarkably accurate " x. .

in its contention that the "Spamsh ambassador prctends the offtcer at’ Falldand Bland has’

done what has happer;ed of his own head, and that his Court know not a tittle about it."

Prince Masserano had indeed been instructed to disclaim the action by his court; however,

Spain was not disavowing the "officer at Falkland Isl’ahd" but, rather, the governor of Buenos
| Aires, Bucarelr who had given Madariaga his orders. , |

| After it was estabhged that there had begn some kind of conflict at Port Egmont, the

newspaper reports concentrated on whether or not England would go to war over this insult,

and so the diplomatic negotiations between the two co'untries became the focus of V‘attention,

"‘Mlddlesex Journal 28-30 June 1770 and Binkley's Weekly Journal, #4, 30 June
1770,

S Middlesex Journal, 18-20 September 1770.

1%Calendar of Home Office Papers,

*'Lioyd's Evening Post,” 24- 26 September 1770 and Mtddlesex Journal, 25 27
September '1770.
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* although there was still a gobd deal of idterest in naval and military preparations. Tbe main

issue of controversy, however, seems to baveqbeen the. same point that was brought up in
_parliament by the opposition; that is, the qriestion of whether Britain should waste precious-
‘time negbu'ating a settlement, thereby giving Spain time to rearm, or whether Brirain sbould |

simply ‘a.ssume that Spain's actions constituted an act of war and.respond accordingly. These

contentions. had many abherents on gither side, as there were advéntagesland dis;dvantages to

both courses of action. The dilemm$‘dn which tHe Nc_irth ministry found itself in thrs case was
reiterated in the press éS' the o'pinions of various interested groups were published. Even once -

v it was realized that the two‘natrons weremrng to negotiate a settlement, the fear that these
| talks would fail and that a war was probable became evident. As early as September the
rumour that the Pursuivints of Arms at the Herald S Offrce had been told to be wrthm an

hour's warning” was automatically -interpreted as an, mdlcatxon of 1mpendmg hostrbues.”'

| What is surprising is that rhe ministry was able to keep the negotiations between the courts a
secret from " 10 September, when they began, to 26 September,' when refl erences to the

diplomacy began \to appear.® ‘ |

Once the facts about the dispossessic;n of the British on the Felkland lsland§ were

made public, and it was realized’ that the minis y had opted to attempt to negodag a

settlement rather than, to involve the nation in a war, the progress of the negotiations became

2. all-irrrportant. Accordingly therefore, whenever it appeared as if the negotiations were failing,

ot ‘or th4t the Spaniards were simply using these in Qrder to gain time to completé their military ?

- preparations, the ministry was immediately" attackéd and' accused of cowardice and'

_ mcompetence These attacks on the ministry hwere illustrated in the press at the end of

~ October when an article appeared discussing tbe fortification of Hxspamola by the Spamsh
Another article was also printed which discussed the disgraceful state of_- Ebe Bgmh navy and .

it inability to defend the empire.’’® A similar sentiment was expressed at, the end of

L loyd's Evening Post, 26-28 September 1770. '
] loyd's Evening Post, 24- 26 September ¥1770 and Mlddlesex Journal 25-27
September 1770.

ML joyd's Evening Post,” 31 October 2 November 1770 and Middlesex Journal, 27-30
October 1770.
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states that this was a form of ultimatum and that
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November when Weyxnoﬁth had. almost despaired of settling the dispute in an' amicable

manner. At that time, the ministry was chastiied for havmg' lowered itself to t;eata'ﬂg with
. : v . oy
Spain: \_ s o . ' S ,’ .

As the Spaniards have insulted England, what is called the Ultima, ought in this case,
‘to have been the Prima Ratio Britanniae.™!

A comparison of the newspaper report; about the negotiations with the actual

LY

’ diploinacy will enable ‘an analysis of the quality of the reporting on this issue to be made.

" According to eighteenth century soutces, the first message fo Spain listing any of Britain's

demands was sent by Weyrnouth to Harris on 12 September 1770 and deceived by the latter on
24 September, and was a demand that the Spanish testore the Falkland Islands to the-
British,*!? Weymouth wrote Harris agam on 14 September, asking to be kept will informed of

any new developments in Madrid. Lloyd s Evening Post reported accurately enough though a

. little late, on 28 Septembcr that a messenger had been sent to Madnd 213 However, the report

discussed partxculm of the message's contents which were pure fabrication. For’ instance, it

o
. if he is put off with shuffling, evasive answers, (as is thought will be the case,) the
express is to return immediately and a British fleet will easily assert the British rights.
The gentleman, it is said, had orders to wait only nine hours for an answer rrom the
Spanish Court, and then to set out on his retum even ‘though he should not be
furnished with any in.that time.

This assertion is ridiculous in light of the fact that Harris did not even see Grimaldi in order
F f')
to dxscuss the contents of Weymouth S letter unttl a day after it arrived in Madnd on 24

N—

":September and that he d1d not convey the content of the interview to Weymoutb untxl 28

September. In the press the time until the return messenger arrived in London on 8 October

Q

1770, was spent in speculation about the probability of a war, and in trymg to fxgure out_‘_._

k

precisely when the message should arrive, considering the distance to Madnd and travelhng*f

time.*** The Falkland Islands dtspute was also kept in_the public mind by the printing of

T MidaWsex Journal, 29 November-1 December 1770."

« The chronological sequence of -the negotiations for the subsequent discussion is
vbased on Julius Goebel, The Struggle For the Falkland Islands, pp. 283-360 and

_Manuel Hidalgo™ Nieto, La Cuestion de las Malvinas, pp. 199-219.
3 Lloyd's Evening Post, 26-28 September .1770.
" Lloyd's Evening Post, 3-5 October 1770 and Middlesex Journal 4-6 October 1770.
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gossip about the diplomats concerned, such as the discussion of Masserano's wealth which was

printed in the Middlesex Journal.

The ne&)sp%xperé were aware that a messenger had arrived on 8 October 1770; however, 4
| they were not able to report accurately on the contents of,the dispatches he broughtv. Pethaps
in an attempt to force the ministry to disclose the actual contents of the message, it was
printed that the "Ministry haye promised that the news brought by the Courier from Spain
shall be notified-to the Lord Mayor of Lo, a, and the -_'Ep;‘eblic, as soen as possible."“ If that
‘ ~w;‘as the case, it'.did not work because the publie was not given the details of Spain's response .
When the Middlesex:'JourhaI reported on 9 October 'tha_f Mr. Potter, the messenger from
Madrid, had actually arrived, it:also discussed the diff erent possibilities f or the kind of answer
which he bro'ught.‘However; that journal pointed out "that ‘ﬁothing_ has yet Lranspired that
can be authenticated, nor can any credit be given to‘ any of the rumours above recited;.."“’ By
10 October 1770, it was thought that the answer was generally a favourable one in which the
Catholic Menarch protested his unending friendship for Britain and his desire to setue the
nllatter "peacefully.?!* This was accurate enough, 4but in fact, Massefano's answer was
unacceptable to Britain because at hie meeting with Weymouth, he suggested that the t&o
powers negotiate a convention which in itself was not agreeable with what George 111 and his
- ministers had in mind. Notwithstanding thxs aspect of the interview, Masserano suggested that
-Charles [I must in all good conscience acknowledge Bucareli's general orders, though the
( | Spamards were more than willing to restore Port Egmont as lpng as this could be done'
N _ without prejudice to that, crown's pﬁor claims of sovereig'nty.‘ Aside from these details,
. : »' Masserano stated that the Catholic Monarch's honour had been stained by Captain Hunt's
| © threats .to RuiZ’Rg ntes, the governor of Puerto Soledad, and 'that Hunt's actions therefore

""‘ .stiguld be disayoi@y George 1. o |

3

"5 Middlesex Journal, 4-6 October 1770. "The Spamsh Ambassador Prince Masserano,
- is said to be the richest foreign Minister now at the British Courts, the revent® of
“his estates amounting to 120,000 crowns per annum, besides his appointment of
40,000 - CIowns per annum, as- Ambassador. "
nLioyd's’ ‘Evening Post,.5-8 October 1770 ' y
- W Middlesex Journal, 6-9 October 1770. :
“'ond s Evening Po#, 8-10 October 1770.
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some xcason someone was withholding informatian about the negotiations and that this was

being done because it would be ume enough for r.he. public to be acquainted with these

matters, when their money is v_vamed. This was, agm, perhaps a ploy to Lry,‘to force the )

ministry to disclose more of the details of the negotiations, because in the same issue ,there
was a rt;pon that Potter had indeed arrived from Madrid, ghd that "great arts have be'én used
within these two or three @s by certain persons for interested purposes, to conceal his
amvali The paper rurther rcponed that Potter brought no decisive answer from Spain.?'’ In
light of this, which was a fair assessment of Spam s actual response, the Middlesex Jqurnal
added that a:lother messenger waé setting -out that day for Méciﬁd and, béybnd this, that a
fleet of seven s'ail of the line were destined-v to retake possession of Port Egmont. This last
statement was repnmed the next day in Lloyd's Evemng Post.*° It is not likely that a
messcnger was sent to Madrid as early as the Mtgéesex Journal reports because ‘Weymouth
did not convey the British muustry s response to Masseraho's suggestion of 51gnmg a

convennon until 16 Octobcr 1770 Masscrano said that}lze could not reply to Weymouth S

refusal to consider a convention wnhout applying to Madrid for insiructions. This fact was
O . :

reported in Lloyd's Evening Post on 12 October, which again was a premature assumption

because Weymouth and Massérano did not reach an impasse until 16 October 1770.22! ‘The
second rumour, conc‘er% the fleet which was supposedly sailing to reclaim Port Egmont,
was patently false, even though that was not reporied until November.??* However, this was a

&
mamfestatmn of the rising tension among the public whlch mlrrored the actual feelings of the

negotiators, as Weymouth refused to countenance Masserano s proposals. 'I'hcre existed a

sentiment that Engla.nd was o%the verge of a war, and as the fears created by this notion

: mcreased 50 did the number of v)ild'rumours flying about, and s0 did their ability to deceive

and disturb.?** This fact was recognized by some and an attempt was made to diffuse the
< . ' 5

W Middlesex Journal, 9-11 October 1770.

" Ljoyd's Evening Post, 10-12 October 1770.

M Lloyd's Evening Post, 10-12 October 17]0.

Willoyd's Evening Post, 14-16 November 1770.

2 Middlesex Journal,  11-13 October 1770.

~On 11 October an odd letter was published in the Middlesex Journal, stating that for -
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effect of these ramours by pointing out the origifis of one of them:

Last night a persOn properly equtpped with drrty- boots: etc, rode through the City
' towards St. James's, and presently afterwards a report was spread ,that pacific
proposals of a very agreeable nature, were recexved from the Court of Spain.?**

Many of the rumours focussed upon Spamsh preparattons It was pnnted for example, that
blank commissions were ready And warung SO that pnvateers could be hired b) Spam as soon

~O
as war was declared or, m anothcr casc . story was printed that the Spamards were actively

1\‘

soliciting alhes among iher_ 5 d‘n.b Amerrcan Indians whose territories bordered the British
colonies.?** Oue such reportarnust ‘have gone s0 far as to say that war actually had been
declared and Masserano hadf:been recalled,_ beeause this story was later refuted in one of the
papers. ¢ ' o o _

) Throughout the rest 'of October varrous reports were. prmted declanng that war was all
but mcvrtable that peace was hkely, that the French were mtervemng in the dtspute and
other brts of speculation about what was lrkely to happcn Weymouth ‘had wnttcn to Harris .
on 17 October 1770 informing him of what the Bnttsh .court consrdered t0o be minimum
reparation for the msult it had suffered thrs was & dtsavowal of Bucareli and restoration of (<
Port Egmont, and Harrrs was mstructed to show thrs letter to Grimaldi that he mtght
completely understand the srtuauon However the press rcported that ‘the terms of @hc‘
negotiations were far more extensive than they really were. For instance, the idea that Spam
should "make 2 pecumary atonement .for the expensés the British govcrrrment ‘have been at in
consequence of their. dispossessing t* ::ant island,” was completely original and -
had never been menuoned in th “actual negotratto/ns 17 Furthermore, it was reported that the
ministry was negotiating for”"the rendenngﬁaust’acugn to the owners of the Anugalhcan
privateer, for detaining her and her prize, the puke de Penthieure, at Cadiz,” as well as .

settling the Manila Ransom and rermbursement for the cost of Brrtxsh armamcnts 1 As the

'newspapers continued te seek angles from which vt on negotiations which were in a

“‘Lloyd s Evening Post, 10-12 October 1770.
15 Middlesex Journal, 13-16 October 1770.

2 LJoyd's Evening Post, 15-17 October 1770.
3 loyd's Evening Post, 17-19 October 1770.
12 Middlesex Journal, 20-23 October 1770.
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stafc of suspense for the moment, they pnnted other stories phat were far from ihe truth.
These included the role of France and her in{é'rfere'nlc; in the negotiations, and even thedidea
that the whole coniretcmps had not actually' beer} caused by tl;e Falkland I.slands dispute at
all.??* It was claimed that the entire crisis had been. blown out of -proportion and that the
Southern Secretary of State was not treating the Falkland Islands business with any degree of
concern.?* _he next issue of the ﬁ!iddlesex Journal went even further to say that the war
preparations which had been such a cause for concern "have not been made solely on account )
of the affair of Falklands Island, but owe their origin to some private ilrltelligence receivcd'b_y
the ministry, relative to the dreadful fire at Portsmouth. "*** Though it was true that there had
been a fire at the docks of Pc;rtsrx;outh and the press had tried to I «the origins of the
conflagaration to Spanish sympathizers, there was never mention of thése suspicions, nor any
accusations, made by the British m;higtry in its domestic or diplomatic correspondence. The
rumour that the island was to be neutralized was also false, but at least it had some basis in
fact, as this idea was actually proposed in the context of the negotiation even though it was
rejected by the British court.?”? |
By the end of October the rumours of war eased, though it was reported that a
-, former premier, perhaps Chatham or Grafton, had said publicly that he thought war &
a inevitable.”* Notwithstanding that report, the papers were generally optimistic by the end of v
the moﬁth This sentiment was strengthened by the noti;m that the French were refusing to
back thr, Spamards and that Charles III was being forced to accommodate Britain's demands
bccausc of thxs 3¢ This was not quite an accurate mterpretauon of what had actually occurred
- because ,tt_xough Chmseui had indicated that the Frcnch would prefer a peaceful settlement of
the dispute at that particular time, he claimed that they would nbneth;lcss back\thc Spanish

court's actions either way. All that Choiseul asked was that a decision be ‘made as soon as

)

.M Lloyd's Evening Post, 17-19 October 1770 and Middiesex Journal, 23-25 October
1770. . _

. Middlesex Journal, 20-23 October 1770.

' Middlesex Journal, 23-25 October 1770.

" Middlesex Journal, 20-23 October 1770.

WLloyd's Evening Post, 29-31 October 1770.

4 Middlesex Journal, 27-30 October . 1770.
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possible.* The gcneral feeling of oplimism was expressed in reports claj ngy 7t the

negotiations were terminated and that all had been settled to the advantage of’Brii’aﬁ &l )

The Ministry are now said to be so sure of a peace that congratulatory cards have
been sent on the occasion to divers of their friends both in and out of London.?**

The source of this rumour is a mystery, as it js difficult to understand why the ministry

should have been so opiimistic when even the newspﬁpers were knowledgeable enough to print
that the government had not yet received a response from Madrid. Lloyd's Evening Post
reported that a new mwsage was expected on 8 November 1770.7>” However, this was not the

case, as the response frqm Harris to Weymouth was not even sent until 7 Novcml‘xr 1770,

" and was not received in London until 19 November.

* For some inexplicable reason there igere very few reports of consequenite relevant to
the Falkland »Islandé in any of Lhe‘ news;z;pers during the first week of Novcmbé/r, perhaps
because évefyone was awaiting the answer from Madrid. During the rest of the month,
however, the reports again became more pessimistic and the fear of the probability of war |
being declared incfcased towards the end of November. These reports again contained
descriptions of Spanish naval préparations and speculations about where the first Spanish
blow was most likely to fﬁll; but also the notion that Spain was simply using the n;gptiationé
as: a delaying tactic until she was fuily prepared to fight.?** The discussion of aggressive
Spanish .behaviour, such as the éwrda costas' insistence on search}ng any vessels they found
cruisi'n’g' of f Hispaniola, was genéraﬁy directed agﬁinst the ministry, criticisixig its decision to

. ’
negotiate as” a sign of weakness and inactivity.?* Thérc were also further tZRnccs to the
fleet which had ostensibly sailed to rc‘take the Falkland Islands; however, this rumour was

G
reported to be false on 27 November.**® *

TiJulius Goebel, pp. 291-294.

“‘Lloyd s Evening Post, 29-31 October 1770 and Middlesex Journal, 27 30 October
1770. - #

1 Lloyd's Evemng Post, 26-29 October 1770.
" Middlesex Journal, 8-10 November 1770, Lloyd's Evening Post, 12-14 November

and 16-19 November 1770, Mtddlesex Journal, 17-20 November 1770 and 20-22
November 1770,

"M(Gazateer, 22 November 1770 and 17 November 1770.
1 Middlesex Journal, 15-17 November 1770, Gazateer, 22 November 1770 and
Middlesex Journal, 24-27 November 1770. '
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* from Madrid did not bring an accommedation, nor any formal declaration of war, but it was
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The message which Weymouth received from Harris on 19 November 1770 stated in
essence, that Spain would agree to all of Britain's demands, however, only upon the condition

that George III should disavow Hunt's menaces. Weymouthwrote to Harris on 23 Névember

1770 stating that this condition was completely unacceptable and that Harris shouid advise the

English consul at Cadiz and the govemof of Gibraltar of the onfavourable situation and keep

them informed. The earlier newspaper reports about the contents of the vdispatch'es were

accurate in thexr description of Spain's w111mgness to accommodate Britain's demands,

however they did not mentwn the crucial stumbling block of the Spamsh demand that George
M1 disaﬂow the actions of Captain Hunt.?** It was quickly recOgmzed that the new. message
03
reported that Spain and the Spanish ambassador were ggain simply stalling for time.™*? As the
ambassador would be leaving England

situation worsened it was conjectured that the Spanis

within the week.?** At this point, however, a divergence appears in the reports from the press

~about the contents of a new and "final requisition” sent to Madrid by the ministry. While‘ the

newspapers printed thdt this was the last chance for Madrid to. accommodate Britain's

demands, Lord Weymouth had, in fact, already despaired of that possible outcome.?** In his

letter to Harris of 28 November 177"6,'he instruct& him to advise all the British consuls at

~ Spanish -ports and the governor of Gibraltar secretly about the imminent rupture between the

two nations. By 1 December 1770 the pfess had vbridged t‘his disparit}v" between its reports and
reahty and was agam pnnnng accurate copy on the state of the negotiations. There was; as
the Middlesex Journal pomted out dlsagreement within the cabinet as to how the rmmstry
should proceed."’ The negotiations, as far as’ Weymouth was concerned, had reached " an
ithpasse and the néwspapers were agaib printing(repons thac war was imminent and that the

o
o

i loyd's Evening Post, 19-21 November 1770 and Public Advertiser, 22 November
1770. '
WiGazateer, 23 November 1770, Lloyd' s Evenzng Post, 23-26 November 1770, and
Gazateer, 26 November 1770.

WGazateer; 26 November 1770.

M Middlesex Journal, 24-27 November 1770 and Gazazeer 27 November 1770.

WS Middlesex Journal, 29 November-1 December 1770.
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Spenish ambassador was leaving the country.* Withirr the diplomatic correspondence and the
newspaper reports, therefore, there existed a ‘strong sentiment that a war was very likely to
occur. As the fear of war became more pronounced, all the old rumours were once again
dragged out. The Public Advertiser printed a report that all of the ports in Spain were under
military and naval preparation, adding Lhe next day, however, that the "report oi’ the Herald
having recewed orders to be in readiness to declare war, is without foundation.™**” There were
also reports that Spain had of fered new terms of accomrnodauon wmch Weymouth insisted on
rejecting. !
‘ I.t was about thie time, in early’ December,";that the secrerar)r to th: French
ambassaraor Frances, 'was instructed by “Choiseul, who now was - /.y seeking a peateful
" outcome to the dispute, to bypass ‘Weymouth completely and suggest a new pro;ect directly to
Lord North. Thc general perception in all the mations involved was that Weymouth ]
intransigence ‘was impeding the peaceful conclusion of this disputc. It may be for this reason
that suddenly, at the begmmng of December the newspapers started printing reports that
there would not lrkely be a declaratron of war in the -near future and that the Spanish
ambassador was not leaving England.?* It was also at this time that the Gazateer printed a
report, supposedly from Lord Norrh stating that | I
He has the real interest of his country so much at heart, as rather than involve n in a

war at any rate at present, to risque his head that the negotiations now on foot will
turn out to the satisfaction of the people in general.?*

During this period the cabinet was so divided in opinion that it had almost ceased to deal with
the Falkland negotiations and had adopted a wait and see attitude, hoping that Spain would
'make some kind of decisive move. There was also at this time some intrigue occurring within-

the cabinet, as a result of which Weymouth was eased out of office as secretary of state for

the Southem'Departmern and replaeed ‘by Lord . Rochford. There was a good deal of

" Middlesex Journal, 29 November-1 December1770 and Lloyd s Evoggzg Post, 30
November-3 December 1770. '

7 Public Advertiser, 3 December and 4 December 1770.

“tLloyd's Evening Post, 3-5 December 1770 and Public Advertiser, 6 December 1770,
9Gazateer, 5 December 1770 and Lloyd's Evening Post 5-7 December 1770.
"°Gazateer 7" December 1770.
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speculatron as to why Weymouth resxgned (this occurrence is' discussec in greater detail
below); however, the newspapers had no more tnformauon to offer than that he had resigned

~ the seals on 18 December 1770 and that he appeared to'have done SO wnth good humour and

4

showed np evrdence of rancour towards the adrmmstrauon b Dnor t‘o Weymouth's .-,

resrgnauon the press did not report anythrng of’ consecmence about the Falkland negouattonsy?"?‘f‘i' )

whtch is surprising because rt was at that tlme that Frances started rneetrng drrectly ’Mth
. \ﬂ' &)
Ri% As the official negotrauons appeared to be at 3 standsull however these unofftcral

talks should have stimulated some ltrnd of ’?comment ‘md they been made knowr: to the publlc :

o

This 1s, therefore another msta.nce, where °the government seems ‘to have very ef’ fectxvely kept

’ b_ its busmess a secre:, although the pres_s drd report on a meeting between the French and

+ Spanish ambassadors 181 lt 1s ?ﬁ’ther strarrge that the press did not drscover and Teport upon

‘." ‘the drspute within the cabrnet cat_sed by Weymouth 8 desrre to pu,t, m,end to what hc saw as
pointless procrasunatron by rer,adhng Han‘te This issue was: drscussetl on S December by the
“cabinet, and the idea was reJected I'rc)m 15 December en North and Frances held several

- . meetrngsg\,'trymg desperately to reach some ltmd o{,_an accord. For some reason, the Middlesex
Journﬁ reponed 9,{!415 Decemher that Lord Nortb had opted for war, and on the same day

' h" reports were prmted of tbe preparauons,umade by the Spamsh to attack various British
5’ temtones 153 It can be assumed that” many people thought that when Weymouth resigned on
18 December the way wn‘uld be cleared .for a peaceful solution to the dispute, and on 19
December there Was report that the Spamards, were wrllrng to go along thh British demands

%
e g,,and the pubhcauon of a letter-in whxe‘h the’ author pleaded that the naf not g0 to war over
a\: ' .

th" §

allﬁland‘ lslands 14 The Publtc Advertiser also published a report on 19 December

o .

suggestmg that the ‘ipamsh ambassador had complained about the continued British naval ‘

preparatron.s. but that he had been put off by the ministry.
On 21 December 1770 Rochford, who had now replaced Weymouth in the Southern

secretaryship, took the unexpected initiative and wrote -to Harris, ordering him to withdraw

11 public Advertiser, 18 December 1770 and Gazateer, 19 December 1770.
0iddlesex Journal, 4-6 December 1770.

-

¥'Lloyd's Evening Post, 17-19 December 1770.

33 Middlesex Journal, '13-15 December 1770 and Publtc Advertzser 15 December 1770.
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frbu; Spain and return to England. This léd'to the breaking point in the negotiations and
ot 1 well have caused Spain to declare war. Duriné the weeks ‘that ‘fouoweci.tiiifé tension and
fear of the outbreak of war reached a climax within the British court. However, though it was“
. mentioned in the press that "the Spanish Ambassador has had very high words within thcsé
few days with Lord Rochford,” this could not have been caused by Masserano's kno%vlcdgc of
Harris's recall, as he was not informed of this drastic move until 3 January 1771.2** The
. newspapers did not discuss Harris's recall at all until the middle of January 1771, so this again
was a closely«gug}a;d secret.‘ Press disc'ussion of the F§lkland Islands. crisis durihg the last
" week of ‘December focussed u‘pon speculation about Weymouth's resignation.”‘_v '
| Another event which occurred near the end of December sirvcd to complicate the
balance of affairs between Sﬁfain and England. This was the dismissal and disgrace of the duc
de Choiseul; by Louis XV on 24 December 1770. This change was of dramatic importance to
-,spain's ability to count on French assistance during a war agai;lst England. Choiseul had been '
the 'thain prroponeni of ‘the Family Compact and immjdiatelyvafter his dismissal, Louis XV
wm-te ‘to’@parles II personally, explaining to him that France was averse to fighting a war at ™
tt;atltimc. By 1 January 1771, the pfess had picked up up(;n this point and was reporting that |
the Span@sh ambassador had refused to say anything until he received fresh instructions from
Madrid, though English hopes for peace ran high. It was reported that
,J'/insteadvof war being declared by Spain against us, it is fow thought she will submit

-to the propositions of our Ministry, and make any concession they may be willing to

request.?*’ 7 o L
Itl was also acknowledged that a letter recalling Harris had been forwarded "with fresh
directions for Mr Harris's conduct; in éonscquence of the change in the affairs of Francc."":‘
This was an inaccurate report because, in fact, Harris's new instructions were not sent until

18 January 1771.7%

153 Public Advertiser, 22 December 1770 and Gazateer, 22 December 1770.
154Gazateer, 24 December 1770, Public Advertiser, 26 and 28 December 1770- and
Bingley's, 29 December 1770.

1%General Evening Post, 1 January 1771.
3General Evening Post, 1 January 1771.
*Julius (Goebel, p. 358. \ ¥
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The first few weeks of Januan were again a ume of mcemtude as Choiseul's fall
’ creau:d a feelmg that the dispute would be concluded in a peaceful manner, with the
-coumerbalancmg rﬂts that Spam had designs on Gibraltar and lreland, and that England
had presented Spam with an ultimatum which could easxly result {n war.**® One of th. reports,
" attempting to present a balanced vxew, stated that "all therefore that we can be certain of is, |
that we are dt present Sufferiné great inconveniences, and in much danger of experiencing
' many more. "t was later reported that the cabinet had deliberated about the question and -
had fmally decxded for peace.’’ This was certainly a premature report as Grimaldi's new
instructions to Masserano were not even sent from Madrid until 7 Janua;yy: 1771. On 8 January
1771, the General E\;em'ng ‘Pos't printed a report that the negotiations had been settled
success'fully, although this had occurred because of some "other secret requisitiqns made on
the part of some old claims.” 'During the following days of January, which were filied with
tension for the negotiators as they awaited a response from Madrid, optimistic reports
appear:d about Spain's acquieécence, although it “}as recdgnized by 12 January that a
conclusive decision had yet to be made.’*’ . | \ |

On 17 January it was reported, inaccurately, that Grimaldi Had been dismissed because
he had advoeated peace and that Charles Il was determined to fight a war.** There was then
a repoﬁ that tﬁe Spam'sh ambassador had qﬁt the ‘British Court at St. James and Lhét' a
squadron was bemg readxed to go and commit an act of reprisal against &{A 25 There were
alsq stories about how .Spam was "in hourly expectauoq of a war with England,” and that |
. Spanish ships were Vo‘rvdered to remain in port unless they .Lravel_‘led in convoys.?¢¢ This new

barrage of war smres was completely contrary to the direction of the negotiations because by

*Middlesex Journal, 1-3 January 1771 and 5-8 January 1771 and Public AJvértiser,
8 January 1771 .and 9 Ja.nuary 1771. _
'General Evening Post, 3-5 January 1771. e
iGeneral Evenmg Post, *8-10- January 1771 and Mzddlesex Journal, 8-10 Janua'_"'
1771. RREE
_General Evening Post, 10-12 Janua.ry 1771 and Mzddlesex Journal, 10 12 Jinpaaryg

1771, - _ B
Middlesex Journal, 15-17 January 1771.

“General Evening Post, 15-17 January 1771 and 17- 19 January 1771.
“‘Mzddlesex Journal, 19-22 January 1771.
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this time Rochford had established that an agreement was within reach; to the extent that he

had written to Spain on 18 January 1#71, ordering Harris to return to Madrid. Rochford and

Masserano signed the documents:which ended the official international Falklagd Islands
- ,

dispute on 22 January 1771. The earliest press release of this news was the General Evem‘ng

Post 5 Teport on 22 January, stating that "the convention between England and Spaifl was this

day about two o'clock, signed by Lord Rochford and the Spamsh Ambassadof e Followmg )

‘fthgn date the newspapers all ‘printed copies of the declaration; however, they also all msened a

L

qualifying statement: "It is generally believed, that by a secret article or promiéeimade to the

Spanish-ambassador, our Ministers have engaged not to make any future settlement at Port

Egmont."?** The existence of this secret promise and its implicmions"‘will be discussed in more

detail later in this work; however, the fact that this single aspect of the declaration was
"’l .
- immediately seized upon and printed by all the newspapers is indicative of the power of the

f

rumour.

The official announcement of the signing was conveyed to the puplic by way of a '

letter from Rochford to the Lord-Mayor of London, who then sent copies to the -

coffee-houses and had it posted at the Royal exchange ¢ There does not aepcar to have been
much general rejoxcmg because the dispute had finally been settled possibly due to the
persxstence of‘ the sentiment that Lhe convention was a dlshonourable one, and one which
‘w,ould not serve .to preserve the peace for very long. In fact, one report stated ‘that "no
measure of administratioe was ever so generally co;xdemned, as the new c’onvcntioﬁ with
Spain. """ This discontent, may have been caused, however, by the prcvaleﬁt notion that the
conventxon was an amflmal solunon to the problem and that another crisis would soon occur

which would result in-a war.?™ ThlS idea was also reinforced, as ume went on, by the fact

that the Spanish were showing no signs of disarming, and, in fact, appeared to be stepping up

*General Evening’ Post, 19 22 January 1771. .

[ ondon Evening Post, 22-24 January 1771, Middlesex Jaurna.’ 24-26 January 1771,
Public Advertiser, 25 January 1771 and Bingley:s, 26 January 1771.

*9General Evening Post, 22-24  January 1771, Middlesex Journal, 22-24 January 1771
and Public Advertiser, 23 January 1771

[ ondon Evening Post, 29-31 Januaty 1771.

‘"Publtc Advertiser, 25 January 1771 and Middlesex Journal, 22 24 January 1771.
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their armament program',' It was reported, therefore. that though their protestations were
’peaoefu'l.»in fact, t_heir intentions were hostile.’” It was also suspected that someone rnvolved
in the negotrations had manipulated the outcome of the talks in order to make .some profit on
theﬂstock market. This perspective was only one among the “several anti-rrrinisterial diatribesA
which were published throughout the end’ of January and February.*” Thus, even before
actual copres of the declaration were publrshed on 29 January, there were expressions of
dissatisfaction with the results of the negotiations and the strong assertion tha[' the Spaniards -
" were not acting in good faith. i For example one paper reported that | |
Upon the arrival of the Govetnor of Buenos Ayres, in Old Spain, the king of Spain
immediately appointed him Vice Roy of Upper Navarre; a post of great honour,
power, and trust.—Does this look like disapproving of his conduct at Falkland's
Islands??" ,

The fact that there was 'so much discussion in;the press about the convention is- an
indication that there was an interested politicalrrrariorr: in what historians used to refer to as
the "out-of -doors.” 'I'he‘oyerwhelming majority of the reports in the press were critical of
the ministry and unfavourable tqwards the convention. A cursory survey‘ reveals that of

approximately fifty references to the "convention, forty were opposed or critical. This raised

the question of how seriously the ministry actually took extra- parharnentary opinions and,

also, how seriously they took the opposruon s point of vrew wrthm parhament Certamly the

impression given by the press is that the convention was almost umversally disapproved. "The
convention with Spain‘ instead of affording Pleasure, gives the utmost dissatisfaction to all
Ranks of People.”™ There were reports ranging from the extreme view that Masserano had
actually been forced to sign the declaranon to the more moderate yet crmcal mterpretatron
~ that the convention was a letdown ,because our Ministers pave not obtained from the proud

Spaniard one Farthin‘g as a Recompense for this great Loss."*’” Throughout February the »

"General Evening Post, 22 24 and 26-29 January 1771 and Middlesex Journal, 31
Januargy-2 February 1771.

MGeneral Evening Post, 22-24 January 1771

-314Gee the General Evening Post, 26-29 January 1771 and Middlesex Journal, 26-29
January 1771 for copies of the declaration.

S Middlesex Journal, 24-26 January 1771.

3¢ Public Advertiser, 29 January 1771. ' : : :
1 Public Advertiser, 1 February 1771, General Evening Post, 29-31.January 1771 and -
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convention was attacked for various reasog; im'gihe fear that the Spaniards were again

{¥finty that the ministry had gained an

nly at the expense of promising the future abandonment of the

Falkland Islands,’” and to the belief that French 1mervent10n had been the only cause for

Spain's seeming willingnesé to be accom ating.“? Some of these references merely rcported
the various points of argument with whneh the opposition were attacking the convention in

parliament, as in the case of the discussion of the declaration's legality which was printed on

7 February 1771 in the Public Advertiser. Another of the tactics employed in the press in order

. . V4
16 criticize the convention was the attempt to analyze its wording in detail by examining the

~ semantics involved. This was done by au_thors with wonderful pseudonyms such as

'Pendragon.'®*' Other writers attacked the agreement on'the grounds that it was pot
unconditional because of: the clause which discussed the reservation of rights.
The convention was, of course, perceived to be the brain child of the North ministry,

and as such, was attacked on purely political grounds because it was a piece of ministerial

. work. One author went so far av to.sdggest that the entire crisis had been a propoganda job

on the part of the minist.rf, in order to frighten pquiament inro votirrg the.’supplics, and that
once this had been done, the ministers would patcti up the cohrention with Spain vin' a
haphazard manner.”® Another letter addressec.i‘ to Lord North introduced the notion of the
"doublecabinet-" . to-useAE?i'Vrnund. :J':surke's'ph‘:ase, but said that this did not absolve Norih
from his responsibilit;r. "We _very‘well know you are in Rea1ify only to be looked .up_on as

acting by direction, whatever consequence you may please to assume; but you are not.the less

277(cont'd) London Evening Post, 29-31 January 1771.
1 pyblic Advertiser, 2 February 1771. :
" Public Advertiser, 5 February 1771 and Mtddlesex Journal, 225 and 12 14

" February 1771.

1" Middlesex Journall' 5 7+ February 1771. For several examples of reports about the

| Spanish ‘»farlur,e to recompense’ the British, the double-dealing and delaying tactics

used by “the’ Spamards and- the idea' that the French interferred in the negotiations,
see Public:. Advertiser, 5, 8; 15,27 February and 6 March 1771, London -Evening .
Post, -5-P February /771, agd Mtddlesex Journal 7-9, 9-12, and 19-21 February
1771. S

™ Public Advertiser, 8(,February 1771 and Mlddlesex Journal 2- 5 February 1771

mipyplic Advertiser, 13 and 22 February 1771.
> Middlesex Journal, 12-14 February 1771.
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answerable to the Public."**
The final aspect of the convention which was discussed in the press was the question'
of whether or not this document had been ratified by the Spanish monarch. In the latter part

of February there appeared reports contending that the. Spanish King had refused to ratify the

-declaration, although further on in the same column of the same journal, there is a report -

‘that this story was false."’ 'I'here was again a new report in the Middlesex Journal on 23

February=l771 stating that the convention had been ratified, although it was also stated in

another paper that "so v'far from the Court of Spain having readily consented to the

ratification of the convention, we are informed, through a channel of very respectable -

authority, that the grea?e‘st difficulties and evasions have been made to the compleating[sic]

‘that busmess "3 These reports gave nse to the question of whether or not the Spanish king
had indeed raufred the convention, or if he had Just expressed his approbation of the ‘
- \declaratron. Tt was finally reported that Charles III had ratified the convention when he issued
orders to.hDon Philip Ruiz Puente, the new governor of Buenos Aires, to restore Port Egmont |
' to the British on 7 February 1771.2*" This order. irr reality, did not constitute a ratif ication'

under the British constitution because of the nature of the agreement, which was a convention

and not a treaty, so there was no need for it to beformally Jatified. Obviously, hy issuing the

order to restore' Port Egmont, Charles IIl was expressing his approval of the convention, as

the British government did when it voted an Address of Thanks to George Il for the:

. O . , |
agreement, on 13 February 1771 with a division in the lower house of 271-157.
Although the reports about the convention in the press were overwhelmmgly cntrcal of

the mlrustry and the Spamsh conventron these were balanced to a degree by a@ew letters in

support of the government's actions. There were actually only five of these, one of which was -

‘written by an individual who claimed that from the point of view of commerce, it was‘_’to the

1 Public Advertiser, 29 February 1771. It is interesting to note the existence of the
idea that the ministers were responsible not only 'to the king, but also to the’
public, These reports also indicate that someone was more than willing to use the
convention as a-convenient excuse to criticize the government, '

3% Public - Advertiser, 20 February 1771.

General Evening Post, 23-26 February 1771.

W General Evening Post,. 7-9 March 1771 and Public Advemser -9 March 1771

-
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@ .
advantage of Britain to maintain peace witn Spain.?** Two of the remaining letters were more.
of an attlack‘ag'ainst the opposition, "the sanguinary spirit of our patriots,” than a defense or
justif’ {canon of the ministry.?*’ | ‘ '

| No extensive oolemic udleveloped over the Falkland Islands dispute and the Spanish
convention m the British press, even though :then_e were various correspondents who expressed
" their personal opinions on dit"ferent aspects of the arguments tthughout the crisis. For
example, one report contamed ideas on how the ministry should react to the Spamsh
aggressxon and included the- suggestmn "that the Junctxon of the Bourboman isles in the West
Indies, to 'the British Crown, would be one of the most capital strokes that policy itself could
thmk .of ."1% Another correspondent expressed the opinion that Britain should simply have
retaken the Islands byforce.’! One of the authors, who signed himself as a "Friend to Both
~ Kingdoms", deplored the notion that England might go to war for such a trifling excuse and
"he urged that the government consider how little would be gained, and what a great loss
wc:nld be incurred from a war.”®? In November the Gazateer printeo three letters one of
which argued thvat Britain should sxmply attack Spain, and two of which were of the opinion
that war w‘é}uld cause more harm to the nanon than could possibly be gamed bl The former

senument was later echoed in a letter sxgned "Friend to this ngdom pubhshed in the Pu&({c

Advertiser *** . “‘n

One of the papers pubhshed a letter in whxch the author addressed a point brought ua\(
by the correspondence crmmsmg the ministry, that is, the reservation of nght included in the&? .
declaration. The arg_ument printed was that \ ’ \ L}

such reservation is only mere matter of form, and is never likely to produce the

smallest misunderstanding between the two Crowns, especially when they recollect, or

may inform themselves, that Spain never, to this hour, has renounced her formal @
~ claim of right either to Minorca or Gibraltar...» :

21 Public Advertiser, 19 February 1771.

. General Evening Post 29-31 January 1771 and 21 January -2 February 1771: .

Y Middlesex Journal, 15-17 November 1770.

1 Public Advertiser, 3 January 1771. ’

11 Public Advertiser, 7 November and 23 December 1770. :
W Gazateer, 2, 3 and 10 November 1770. -
194 Public Advertiser, 19 November 1770, ‘ ’
%SLondon Evening Post, 12-14 February 1771.
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Aside from this there i§ one let' . criLicisin‘g Woodfal., the pub:  ner otr the Public Advertiser,
for ‘having printed a pro- .. nistry letter by an author cailed - cides.””® The rest of the
contents \of the polemic .%ut th: issue are based upon a let..r written by Junius and
publiéhed in the Public -.dvertiser on "0 January 1771 and u~ .n a pamphlet wri\tten b.y
Samuel Johnson at the =dding of the mumstry. Junius's l2''>r was attacked in the first
instance in early February ¢ & mnisterial writer” who s . himself Anti-Junius, again in
the Public Advemser i The fact ~hat tue put wshew »°  _ Public Advertiser was willing to
print the letters of both Junius and Anti- | “iv . _aies that the néwspaper did not have one
particular political poini of view which it trie¢ to convey on this issue, and that Woodfall was
willing to print any _opinions which were good for business. Junius's letter and his 6 February
1771 response to Anti-Junius were also criticised by Johnson in his Thoughts on the Late
Transaétionsﬂrespéctihg Falkland's Islands.”* This pamphlet was answered by an a;lonymous
author in a Refutation; however, this is so poorly written and .badly argued that it is hardly
convincing.' So, though the Falkland Islands .crisis was a matter of grave .concem which
permeated Lh;: newspapers for several months at the end 6f 1770 and the beginning qf 1771, in
fact, it stimulated very little pfintqd polemic; certainly a proportionately smaller amount than
would be'expected for a topic of so muéh interest. What is even more surprising is the very
few instances in which anyone rose to the defense of the government in this-literaturc. Except
for Johnson's pamphlet and Anti-Junius's letters, there are only a handful of references to
the Falkland Islands whlch indicate support for, or adopt an attitude of defense of, the
ministry. Thls leads to the conclusion that the mxmstry was not extremely concerned with the
scniimcnts manifested in the press or \ular opinion generally, probably because by late 1770
North's ministry was secure enough in b&h Houses that it knew it would easily win divisions
on this issue.?”” This is not to say that North, or any other politician, could remain

complétely isolated from the press. and the opinions expressed in it, because jl}.S/ti by

¢ Public Advertiser, 21 February 1771.

1 Public Advertiser, 4, 6, 11, and 22 February 1771.

" Junius' Letters, p. 225. 8

P, D. G. Thomas, Lord North, see his dlscussmn of the divisions for the winter
and spring of 1770. p. 37.
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acknowledgmg the existence of other opinions or prwsure groups, he was bemg affected by

them, cvén 1f only in a negatwe manner. ‘ o .

W’

One of ‘the more meortant com’:‘lusions to be drawn from thi§ averview of the press

&

coverage of the Falkland Islands crisis is that in many cases &W newspapers were repomngn; S

):

pure fabncamon and speculation. This gives rise to the question of whether or not Lhcse

newspaper reports had any kind of effect, and if so, was thls effect felt even when the reports

were false? In order to answer this quesuo—l it is nece’%i'y to examine an aspect of the crisis

whcre actual concrete effects can be measured Th@nly area where this occurred was in the

economys because it is possible to determine if tra‘ge insurance, stocks and othcr aspects of
economic activity demonstrated a reaction to press reports whether or not these Teports were
myth or reality. It can be assumed that the reports in the newspapers measuring the rate of

insurance premiums and of the change in stock prices were fairly accurate, as these were
" P

easily obtained and verifiable. In comparing these to the changes in the belief that war was

probable, or the degree of fear of war which existed at any given time in the press, and

among the negotiators, it is possible to determia%} whether or not these economic conditions °

changed with the pattern of variations in the reports. In so doing, it will be bossiblé to see if

those reports actually had some kmd of effect on the buymg and selling of stock and of
:m, '

insurance. There were, of course, ofr economxc indications of the effects of the crisis and

[
’

these will also be discus'sed.

It is possible to dmde Lhe Teports about the economic effects of the Falkland lslands

dispute into different categorles in order to discuss them and thexr implications in a more

coherent manner. Aside from the reports about stocks and insurance which will be dealt with

separately, there were also several ?’éfercnces printed about the effect of the crisis upon British

shipping and the problems caused by this dispute for thdse merchants involved. Somc of the |

reports dealt with the actual cost of arming for a prospective war, while others described
specific dislocation of economic activity which resulted directly from the fear aud uncertainty

created by the international u,g\case

-if'?‘

?
e
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It must first of all be recognized that the mformauon reported apout the stocks and -
msusance premiums is qulte irregular and can provxde no more than an- unpjressmn of the ‘ '
nature of the fluctuations in order th‘at these can be compared with the mgxdehces of greatest
tension about the probability of war. The initial reports about the nsmg costs for insurance
were printed immediately after the. Favqurite décked mz»_En_gland and the news of the Spamsh
- seizure of Falkland Islands was madebuhlic. A'lt_hough insurance costs immediatel); increased,
the uncertain_ty of Qhether or not a _w.ar »uould actually occur was ,t'ai:en into consideration by
the underwriters: | |

Last mght 20 per cent was given to insure ships from Lhe Leeward Islands but to
rcturn 15 in case of no war before thctr amval 300

By the end of September, however. the "insurance on: shipping and merchandize, at Lloyd's
coffee-house, was advanced one and a half‘ If per oent 731 These increases in the cost' of
insuring shipping wcre cenamly a mamfestauon of the fear of a war caused by the news from
. Pont Egmont The next mention of an mcreése in insurance premiums also came at a time
when the press was reporting several dif fereont rumours about the probablhty of a war. At the
~end of November when the negouators had almost despalred of setthng the dispute in a
peaceful way and.the hewspapcrs we;e pnn_,ung stories like "the Heralds have been put on
alert,” one of the papefs reported that 'the ‘insurance- on Merchant ships at Lloyd "s was -
advanced from four to ten per cq:nt on outward-bound West Indiamen.™*** It was also at this
time that the Mtddlesex Journal printed a report 1mplymg that the dxsputc ‘was cosung Lhe

Spanish a great deal as well, as it stated that "upwards of. fxve hundred thousand pounds

Spanish property, has_lately been insured there at very high premiums."** Though there was
no mention of insurance rates throughout the rest of December, there were reports at the
beginning of January 1771, that "Spanish property” was being insured at very advanwd

premiums.*** This was a period when the ministers greatly fea'fed that a war would occur.

_ 3Lloyd's Evening Post, 24-26 Scptember 1770 and Mtddlesex Journal, 25-27
September 1770.

3 Middlesex Journal, 27-29 September 1770.

Wl Joyd's Evening Post, 28-30 November 1770.

33 Middlesex Journal, 29 November-1 December 1770.
%4 Middlesex Journal, 29 December-1 January 1771 and General Evening Post, 1

-
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However, the press had not indicated any immediate reason for the insurance rates to have
gone up such as the arrival of a messenger from *Madrid bearing bad news, although there

were the usual speculauve reports about whether or not a war would occur. As thcrt is no
\

specific detail included about the rate- of the increase of the premxums. this rcfcrcncc 10

insurance cannot be completely analyzed, though it does !early indicate a rise in insurance

Costs. '

The newspapers themselves claimed that the insurance prices were influenced by u_xc

various reports. The Middlesex Journal proclaimed that a report which said there would be no

, war "had a considerable effect upon the policies of insurance;" this clearly meant tﬁat the

costs had dropped 305 The last report about the effects of the Falkland Islands dispute oQ

msurance costs was putlished late in February

Saturday morning the premium on insurance on ships and merchandize fell upwards
of two per cent, at the several underwriters office in the city, on account of the
arrival of the ratification of the late convention between this Court and that of Spain
on Thursday last.’®¢ ' o » .

The author of the aboverfuotation took it for graﬁted that the press report about a
rétif ication had resulted in the drop of insurance rates.

The earliest discussion of the effect-of the possibility of a war upon the stock market
was printed in mid-September, whcg there occurred a drop in the price of stocks. The report
attributedvt.his drop to the fear and unccrtaint; caused byb the government's naval rearmament
policy. This report gives a fine explanation of the correlation between the reason for selling
stock and its concomitant drop in price with the probability of war: |

- We assure them, on the best authority, fhzit'thc fall of the stocks at this time is on
rational grounds. Whether we are at the eve of a war, or are neccessitated to make

formidable preparations vy way of precauuon certain it is, the Government must be

~put to extra charges Wthh will require extra-supplies, and this of course wnll raise
the value of money.’

ke
-t

The Middlesex Journal also reported that the government was desperately trying to prop up.

W

the falling stocks, but to no avail because the news brought by the Favourite "occasioned the '

¥%4(cont’d) January 1771.

39 Middlesex Journal, 3-5 January 1771.
SMiddlesex Journal, 23-26 February 1771.
¥ Middlesex Journal, 15-18 September 1770.
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stocks to'fall three per cent. """
The next report dealing with stocks was printed on 28 September and said that the

news brought by a courier from Madrid was good and the Spanish had promised the

i

restitution of Falkland Islands. This story was not accurate, of course, aswthere had not beeu‘

" any courier or message Tecently arrived from Madrid. This piece of fiction might have been

planted by the government because it was also stated that "this report had the desired effect,

pnnted at the same time that rumours that a new agreement had been reaéhed between the

two courts was also circulated, and though the report 1mt1ally stated that there had not been
an accommodation, it also added that "notwithstanding this report, stocks rose yesterday two

per cent."*!! The last of these. references reported that ‘the stocks had riseu twq per cent but

.' did not credlt [hlS increase to the fact that any fresh news had arrived about -the negouatxons

' bellef was based on inaccurate reports

]

but that this was soley[sxc] occassioned by the shuttmg up the funds till the 20th of January
next during which mterval little or no Jobbmg can be done at Jonathan . " - ‘y

”I'lus overview of the“fluctuauons in the price of insurance and stocks, as these were
reported in the press, is indicative of the role which newspaoer repoi'ts, whether they were
fact or flcnon played in the develop'nent of the economic effects of the Falkland Islands
cnsxs As these two aspects of economxc activity were so susceptible to the. cdnf 1dence or lack

thereof whu:h people placed in the government $ ablhty to formulate pohcxes which would

beneflt Bntxsh interests, they fluctuated according to what people belleved even when that
\ .
Another measure of the -effect of the Falkland Islands dispute upon ecdnornjC activity

can be seen in the, press reports concerning B;itisb shipping and the disturbancgs'within the .

*Middlesex Journal, 22-25 September 1770.

[ Joyd's Evening Post, 26-28 September 1770
Gazateer, 6 November 1770. : ' ‘ . i
2 joyd's Evening Post, 19-21 November 1770. A o ‘
MGazateer, 5 December 1770. ‘ K '

"
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Lféding community caused by these international tensions, This dispute was of great interest to .~ ,
the ‘merchants because their property and investments were endangered by the threat of war.” <"’
The letter written by the a"dfniralty office and sent to Lloyd's coffee-house on 24 Seplcnibér - e
1770 was the first off icial indication to the merchants that they should be concefned. althdugh

there had been a fall in the ‘price of stocks about a week before this.**® The fact that the
merchants had been warned immediately caused speculation about the likelihood of war and

this made -‘thé‘ merchants try to find out precisely what was going on.’'* The threat of war

héld several implications for theb mgrchants, and reports of the conseque;ces of a war for

British trade were published from late September until the end of February, when the dispute

was settled. The first reaction to the news that Port ngnom»had been takén by the Spanish

was as foliows:

-
4

the British merchants concerned in the Spanish trade, have resolved to permit none .
of their ships to sail for any of the ports of that Kingdom without convoy.*!*

It lwas acknowledged that these fears and the need 1o take extra precau{ions would distupt the
‘normal trade.’** One of the reasons for the prevalent uncertainty about, and reSeﬁtmcnt of,
* the dispute was the lack of information from the ministry about the state 6f the negotiations,
; especially in October and November, and this gave credence to tne accusation that the
| government was withholding information so 'that a few of their stockjobbing brethren may
make thcir'vprope* advantage of it."*!" The accusations that th,e) diplomats were dragging out
the negouatxons for their OWn purposes were not resmcted rto Bnnsh politicians. There were
several reports that forexgn government officials were playing tfhe British stock market to their
advantage because they were privy to information about the outcome of the negotiations.** It
" was pﬁbb’shed_ that the

Spanish and French Ambassadors, t_ogethvcr with their respective retinues, and foreign

’“Annual Regd‘:er 1770, p.147.

“4Lloyd's Evening Post, 24-26 Scptember 1770 and Mtddlesex Journal, 25-271
‘September 1770.

'S Middlesex Journal, 27- 29 September 1770.

3 Bingley's, #18, 6 October 1770.

W Middlesex Journal, 11-13 October 1770.

W pyublic Advertiser, 22 November 1770 and General Evening Post, 26-29 January
1771.
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connections, have cleared, upon a moderate calculation, during this last month, one
hundred and fifty thousdnd pounds in the Alley.*"’

There was also a story published which state'cl that the secretary to a foreigﬁ ambassador
(presumably M. Frances), had made over half a million pounds in. the alley and that he was
able to do this because "the Spaﬁish minister had orders to sign the Declaration at least six
days before he .did: the above Sec;étiry, and others, knew this; and duped their friends, who

wanted to ge: intelligence."**° Reports such as thg.g.“ printed as they were, alongside gloomy
SR 2 o

B
< &

predictions of the"stagnation of Bﬁdsh trade and nﬁmé}sous rumours about British ships in

| Spanish ports being seized énd having te "slip their cables, and. put to sea for fear of being :
stopped."' did not hc}p‘ to increas? the merchant community's faith that the’ ministry was:"
écting in its best interests.’” The various rumours a;out Lﬁe seizure of ships, the need to
convoy and the imminent embargo on shipping on fhe Thames, of course, cgused incredible
uncertainty, which resulted in serious delays of English shipping.*?? The merchants sought the
government's assurance that a war would not be declared and refused to risk ’their investments

until they had it; meanwhile, they were losing money because

ships‘are now laden, and waiting in the river, which might instantly proceed on their -
voyages, if the Owners were assured that we should have no war.’*’

These fears prevailed throughout December and lmost of January,*’* and it was not until near
the end of February that the merchants were assured that all was settled and the Spanish kirig
. - - !

had ratified the convention "to prevent the merchants making further applications for

protection, as matters are finally adjusted between England and Spain."***

General Evening Post, 26-29 J'anuary 1771 ands :Middlesex Journal, 29-31 January

1771. L ' o

1Gentleman's - Magazine, xxxxi, 1771. g

’“Mzddlesex Journal, 4-6 October and 6-8 November 1770, Lloyd S, ~Evening Post,

5 8 'October, 28-31 December 1770 and Gdiateer, 22 November 1770.

! or these rumours see: Middlesex Journal, 20-22 November and 29 November-1
bcr 1770, Bingley's, #26, 1 December 1770 and Lloyd's Evening Post, 30

November-3 December and 3-5 December 1770.

/ 33 Public Advertiser, 7 December 1770.

3

SUMiddlesex Journal, 27-29 December 1770, 29 December-1 January 1771 and 10-12
January 1771. .

/ General Evening Post, 2123 February 1771 and Public Adveruser, 23 February
1771 ,

be
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Another of the very controversial issues brought up by the Falkland Islands crisis Q#s. :
the discussion abbut whether or not press warrants were legal. This argument lies outsidé LI{Q? .
parameters of thxs work; however, the impréssment of sailors had very scnouséﬁxphcauons
for the mcrchant marine and disrupted trade to an even gréater extent.’’* Aside from the
immeasurable losses suffered because of the merchants’ reluctance to let Lheir.vcssels sail
because of.their fear of a war, there also existed an inability to have the ships sail because of
a shonage of seamen. One of the reports stated that this difficulty was costing the ministry
“the political support of the East India merchants beéause "of the little respect and care shewn
by administration, in‘ distressing thc‘ outward-bound India-ships, by .strippin.g them ;mtirely of
their men."?" It was also reported that the East India Company' had attcmi)ted to dcal with
this problem by raising i~ seamen's wages from 25s. to 45s. per month.’** This kind of
reaction had several economic and soc1al effects whose far-reaching political and diplomatic
‘implications are .well illustrated by the following examples. First, one of the comemiops :
reported in the Pyblic advertiser was that the impressment of seamen, caused initially by the
Falkland Islands dis-ute. hac .1 turn caused a shortage of seamen whé were usually employed
in navigating Lﬁe»com cessels  which caused an increase in the ;ost g)f transportation. This
increase was passed 1 to the consumer as follows:
an advance in orice of more that 21 per cent. in the course of 17 days, which
advance in the orice of wheat is equal to and will consequently occasion a rise very
soon of four-r~nce added to the present price of a peck loaf, to which every
individual withir tt: aills of monalxty must unneccessarily contribute.’*? ¢
There were also oth-r economic effects of the Falkland Islands dispute. The actual pHysical
cost of arming the nation so that Britain could defend herself was of greatvconcqrn to the

public and was certainly a targible economic consequence of the dispute.’*® Ultimately, of

course, it was believed that this cost would devolve upon the individual in the form of

sFor a discussion of this issue -from the point of view of naval administration,
see: Daniel Baugh, British Naval Administration in the Age of Walpole, (Princeton:
1965), and Stephen Gradish, The Manning ‘of the British Navy During The Seven
Years' War, (London: 1980).

W Gazateer, 28 December 1770. , -
LJoyd's Evenirg Post, 28-30 November 1770.

9 Public Advertiser, 9 January 1771.

’"Gazateer 27 November 1770 and London Evening Post, 29-31 January 1771.
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Jv government loans and increased taxation, which in fact is precisely what happened, as Lord
North managed to persuade parliament to vote an increase in the land tax because of the fear
of war.»

One of the more s'j:ecif ic illustrations of the kinds of effects this international dispute
~~ -

had was the disruption of a particular economic activity‘ which in itself was not
overwhelmingly critical, but which is indicative of the disruption this event caused;
. w

the British Logwood-cutters -in the Bay of Honduras has[sic] moste of them

abandoned their stations for fear of the Spaniards, who according to appearances will

soon commence hostilities.**’ : A
Another example of the distuption caused in the daily routine of traditional Anglo-Spanish
trade was the réport that ' |

[l

the people at Malaga in Spain are now gathering all their fruit; green, in order for
exportation to England, being apprehensive of a speedy rupture with this kingdom.?** .-

Thi§ incident, like the previous example, is in itself of no great conscqupngg. but reveals that

the decisions made at the highest levels of the statg governments, within the cabinet and-the.

King's closet, affected all types of economic activity, frdr,n the large joint stock companies 0

fruit growers on the Mediterranean coasts, and these seemingly inconsequential changes in

patterns may have had dramatic impacts upon the lives of those indi?iduals, Indeed, gverall,
{

: ) ‘ Y
the economic effects of this crisis were extensive and touched upon the activities of mfbst of

1

the individuals within the interested nﬁ)ﬁogs at that timgghe reﬁorts in the pre‘s;l’battest to the
importance ‘of this dispute, even thmigh i;sﬁoutcome ﬁiay appear to histerians to have been
updramatic and anti-climactic.

It is evident from this discussion that the Bn’tish press reported extensively on the
Falkland Islands crisis, and that this indicates that the public was interested in the outcome of
the odispute and was wilfing to pay in order to read about it. Though the ministry wﬁs not
overly concerned with the influence of | public opinion on this issue, and did not attempt 10
manipulate press reports to the extent which the bpbosition did, it éouldmdt afford to ignore

the newspapers completely. The English newspapers printed any report concerning the

Wi Middlesex Journal, 11-13 October 1770. v u
M[loyd's Evening Post, 5-7 December 1770. ~ ‘
. '“Gazateer, 27 November 1770.

.
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f‘ﬁlkland Islands, whether it was true or not, and though they were often wrong, some of
their reports about the negotiations followed the general de.veloprnem of the dispute. The fact
remains, that éven when the reports were inaccurate, they were able to affect va»rioué' aspects
of this period in the éighteenth century, for e'xample. the British économy, and this influence

should not be underestimated.



IV. THE HISTORIANS’AND MORE RECENT CONCLUSIONS
The hrstgncal debate on the Falkland Islands over the past century or so has, like all
crises of this nature ngen rise to wrdely different 1nterpretat10ns of this event The pnnmpal
areas of contention’ among historians include, the resignation of Lord Weymouth on 18
December 17_70, James Harris's recall from Madrid on 21 December 1770, French intervention
in the negotia‘tions between ﬁritain ;nd Spain, and the existence, or not, of a secret promise
by the English to;abandon the islands. Einally, the long-term irnpact of the crisis on -
international relations, British pOllthS and the British economy and society are all issues which
can be exanuned htstonographrcally as well as in relatlon to the information available frdsn
pnmary sources. This research will give a greater understanding of the Falkland Islands crisis.
of 1770: the dtffqrent ways-in whtch historians have writtén about it, how this has affected
the various interpretations of the drsputet and the overall conclusions which can be drawn’
from an examination of both the pnmary and secondary sources for this event. A study of

.,{.:k\

this nature will also serve to highlight thc areas of the dtspute which need more research or
wherc a reevaluation of the evidence is necessar’y'in order to achieve an accurate assessment of
the crisis. ‘

The first event which caused consternation in 177Q, and is Eiﬁtll puzzling historians, was
" Lord Weymouth's resigna—tion from the-Southern Department. QTJ‘his was an event of some
significance because it was thought, by historians, to have affected the outcome of the 'cr_isis
directly. Weymouth's resignation remained a mystery in the eighteenth century, and though
his motlvatlon was discussed in the press and in contemporary corrqspondence no answers
were found. Some reports stated that he "complained of hrs always having been treated of 1ate\
like a clerk in office, and not admitted to any of the real secroets of state by Lord North, "3

while other authors conjectured that it hao been hrs eagerness to initiate hostilities against

Spain which caused dtsse;ﬂswn in the cabinet and his ulttmate resignation.’?*

”‘Mlddlesex Journal 1-3 January, 1771
BSWalpole, Correspondence, xxiii, Wathle to Mann, 18 December 1770, p. 255, and
Chatham Correspondence, iv, Hamilton to Calcraft, 18 December 1770 p. 63.
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The most generous historiographical interpretation of Weyrrtouth's character and’ of
_ his pohcy was put forward by Vera Lee Brown in 1922, when she wrote that "Weymouith
represented the most moderate oprmon in the Brmsh parhament on the situation. "

Unfortunately, Brown's -assessment is not supported by her sources, nor does she dlSCuSS the

- significance of Weymouth s desire to uphold British honour by recallmg James Hams after_

the negotiations had stalled 37 Brown's point of view was nonetheless espoused by one of -her
contemporanes V.F. Boyson, whe wrote that "Weymouth S desue had been, on the whole

for peace and his dtspatches had been non-committal.”*** He further emphasxzed this

mterpretatron by stating that it was Rochford who "was more outspoken and beheved war was,

inevitable."*** Though this view of Weymouth's policy is disproved by the evidence to be
found in the correspondence about the Falkland Islands crisis, it does serve as‘a possible
motivation for his sudden resignation from the post of southern secretary on 18 December
1770. Other historians, however have looked to ‘Neymouth s actual pohcres and his ambmons
in order to attempt an explanauon for ms wrthdrawal In this instance, the thoughts of

Horace Walpole have had an enormous mfluence on the topic. According to Walpole, Lord

Weymouth took advantage of the Falkland l’slands crisis in_order to try and seize power in the .

cabinet by endeavouring to negotiate the entire settlement on ,his own, and to this end,

commumcated as little as possxble of the negotxatrons to Lord North. "340 Walpole suggested
that Weymouth had a secret mouve for ~wanting to keep his cabmet colleagues and North in
partlcular out of the negotiations. Ostensibly, Weyrnouth had banked on the fact that a war
"would occur over the Falkland Islands dtspute and that this would force George 111 to accept

Chatham as his first mmrster once agam Exactly how this would benefit Weymouth's career

was not explamed but Walpole also suggested that it was Weymouth s assistant, Wood, who '

-

was truly in awe of Chatham and hoped‘to effect hrs return to the cabinet. North was not thc

only person whom Weymouth attempted to dupe Apparently when he wrote "to Robert

$¢Vera Lee Brown, p. 430.

$37Vera Lee Brown, p. 436. R
Y. F. Boyson, The Falkland Islands, (Oxford 1924) Pp. 67 ' -
3V, F. Boyson, p. 67. '
“oWalpole, cited in L.H. Brown, p. 273.
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Walpoie, Seeretary to the Embassy at Paris (whence Lord Harcourt was absent), his

despzttches were so mysterious and inexplicit, that 'I'homés Walpole a‘dvised his brother to send -

them back, or come away "3 Julius Goebel basing his argument upon Walpole's comments,
asserted that Weymouth had decrdeg from the begtnmng of the drspute that George III was in
' jfavour of fighting a war over this matter, and had commrtted himself to that end 2 Walpole
l relterated the notion that Weymouth had a self -mterested reason for seeking to force the
dispute' to the point of a 'war when .hesuggested that the Bedfordite members of cabing were

in league together against Lord North.*** In fact, Lord Gower, one of Bedford's followers,

did not support Weymouth S supposed ambitions, because when, the Southern Secretary,

retired, Gower remained in of frce Wthh was unusual as they were both members of the same
party.’“ In order _to counter this attack on his primacy in the cabinet,” Lord North and the
-"Scottish Junto”, which' Walpole thought existed, ""brought back the King from his martial
system, " because they feared the return-of Chatham.*>

One of the nineteenth century hrstorrans who- drscussed this issue agreed with Walpole
that Weymouth had written meaningless drspatches but stated that he was playtng a double
game "in order to be able to keep his place, whether North or Chatham ca.med the day."3*¢
This reasoning might have served to explain his dispatches, but it certainly would not have
proti’de‘d him with 2 good motive for his Tesignation, This interpretation does not account for
'vthe fact that Weymouth remained fnendly to the ministry after hrs resrgnatrén nor is it
substantrated by any mentron of such susprcrons in George I's correspondence with his other

Y

ministers.

The historiographical tradition which has carried the most weight upon this issue,

:espo,used by Iberian as. well as North American and British hiétorianQ is one which points to

Weymouth's refusal to compromise and aceept reasonable offers of reparation from Spain.

1

%

‘Walpole, Memoirs, iv, p. 123.
S9Julius Goebel, pp. 313-314..
Walpole, Memoirs, iv, p. 123.
“p, D. G.-Thomas, Lord North, p. 4
YWalpole, Memolrs iv, pp.- 157-158.
’“lezmaunce i, pp. 414-415.
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This notion was accepted as a cause for Weymouth's resignatior'r by his contemporaries. It was

' mentioned in the correspondence of the day that the ministry had decided ¢0 make a firm .

‘'stand against Spain and that "from' this high torre, the cabinet are now‘inclined to depart, and '

of this Lord Weymouth complains,"**’- In light of this, once the king had accepted the idea

that a peaceful settlemem to the drspute was possxble the ministers were in a posmon to oust

- Weymouth, usmg his mtransxgence as an excuse. This interpretation of Weymouth s refusal to

compromise was primarily fostered by the secretary to the French ambassador, Frances, who
in the end circumvented Weymouth's authority Lcompletely, and negotiatcd a settlement to the
dispute directly with Lord North.3*

Compared to the other ministers, Weymouth did appear eager to commence hostilities.

For exémple, Lord North, when writing to George III about Weymouth's suggestions for

military preparations, stated that his ideas should-be discussed further in the cabinet, as they
seemed precipitate. North informed his monarch that: |
Lord Weymouth%wished I would name an Admiral"'f"or. the Mediterranean Squadron
and give orders for augmenting the Army. The former I thought ought to be
~ proposed first at a Cabinet meeting the latter I thought ought to be deferred until.
Monday by which time we should know whether the Ambassador has powers. to
conclude in a manner suitable to our just demands.**”
Incidents sucb as tlns led some historians to believe, contrary to what Vera Le¢ Brown and .
Boyson had wnttcn about the Southern Secretary's moderation, that he was actually bellicose
and that it was the "decided-intransigencc of Weymouth” cencerning the rights of sovereignty
to the islands which prevented a peaceful solution to the problem.’** Gil Munilla also
contradicted Brown and Boyson when he wrote that "save Weymouth, none of the ministers
really wanted a war."*! In reélity, Lord Weymouth's reactions to the-offers made 'by'thc

Spanish court were in accord with George III's demands of }hc acceptable minimum

reparation. After having been ref used this minimum reparation by Grimaldi, the Spamsh first

" minister, Weymouth suggested to 'the cabinet that James Harris be recalled and that England

4

]

34'"Chatham Correspondence iv, Harmlton lq Calcraft 20 December 1770, p. 62.

“Julius Goebel, p. 322.

George II1, Correspondence, ii, North .,to King, 23 November 1770, p. 17.
1490ctavio Gil Munilla, Malvinas, p. 115.

3510ctavio Gil Munilla, Malvinas, p. 110, author's translation.
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use force to obtain satisfaction. Thus, he decided that‘ the only honourable course of action,
to be taken in early December, was a declaration of war. This idea was rejected out of hand
b; the cabinet at a meeting on 5 December 1770.

It is obvious from this decision that North was not the only minister who sought fo
contradict Weymouth'§ proposals. Lord Rochford, who was at that time the Northern
Secretary, informed the king on 6 December 1770 that Weymouth "must be overruled in a
measure so destructive whilst there is the least glimmering hope of its being accommodated.”
The measﬁre which Rochford meant was a pre-emptive strike against France in India. But
Rochford was not dealing with Weymouth in a straightforward manner, because he aiso added
that ile would "continue to be watchful to the minutist event at this critical period, and will
not leave your majesty ignorant one moment of anything essential that passes.”**? Having set
himself up as the king'é spy aéainst We&mouth, Rbchford proceeded to act as an intermediary
_b;twecn the monarch and his Southern Secretar'y when Weymouth finally decided that "it was

-~

impossible for him to g0 -on contradicted by your Majesty's servants on five occasions and

_ where his own dep'arment(was immediately concerned.’* Now that Weymouth had been

§

isolated ;vithin ﬂ(c l‘cébinet to the point'whcre he could no longer formulate the policies for
which he wasé. gj;)esﬁbnsiblc, his only alternative was to withdraw gracefully, which in fact he
did. The od’(i:f"thing about the way in which Weymouth resigned was that it was Rochford who
informeq_‘f,'ihc king about the details which this entailed. Rochford's interference becomes
evident from an examination of the coi'respondence of George III. He wrote to the king that

Weymouth suggested moving Lord Sandwich to the Northern Department and then

;Weymouth's bro&. Henry Thynne could be offered the plosiu'on of Postmaster General.

v

Rochford then acknowledged his own subordinate position in relation to North by. adding that
"Lord North has been informed by me of this arrangement and seems to think it very
feasible."*** Though it appeared that Rochford was instrumental..in orchestrating Weymouth's

resignation, it is clear that he was overstepping the boimds of his zuthority, albeit with the

 iGeorge 111, Correspondence, ii, Rochford to King, 6 December 1770, p. 175.

33George IlI, Correspondence, ii, Rochford to King, 10 December 1770, p. 182.

- George ‘IlI, Correspondence, ii, Rochford to King, 11 December 1770, p. 183.
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king's knowledge and tacit approval. This was demonstrated by Rochford's letter to the king
on 12 December 1770, when he wrote that:

-it strikes Lord Rochford that it will be more adviseable for him to tell Lord
Weymouth that he Lord Rochford received your Majesty's orders through Lord
North with regard to your Majestys wish of his holding the seals a few days longer,
as Lord Weymouth will be surprised at your Majestys conveymg a mcssage by me
and it wxll come very naturally through Lord North.’**

Rochford was eager to do everything in his power to expedite Weymouth's resignation. and
withdréfv'&é.l, and managed to do this without alienating th former secretary.: Notwithsmnding
the fact that the ministry could not. operate if Lhe ministers refuséd to comprdmise, and tt§at .
“some of them felt that Weymouth was unwilling to -accept reasonable compensation from-

Spain, **¢ Rochford had his own reasons for wanting Weymouth out of the way. He aspircd'
/ . :

w}; to the Southern Secretaryship and, in fact, did eventually replace Wey'rx'louth in that

L

g%

- % position.’*’
% | ‘

H Two historians who examined this incident within the entire context of the Falkland

Islands crisis presented another interpretation of the resignation. D. A. Winstanley wrote that

"1f e English demands had been diminished in extent after Weymouth's departure,” it Wpuld

have %eant that a difference of opinion over po ey

d forced him to resxgn.”' This was not
the case «‘:Ir H. Brown seconded this opinion m : ,,"';he’n he stated that "Lord Weymouth's
fall did not%ng any change in the govemmem s";ﬁohcy "5 After Weymouth resigned on 18
Deccmber 1770%R9‘.ihford proceeded to £ ollow precxsdy the gohcy which had bcen advocated |
by the {ormer secret;;}l “&&I}o h% ’sent ﬁiymﬁf,.f)rdcrs t0 retuﬁx to AEngland, an act which was
tant;irhoum to a declaration of wa“f?4 m%sﬁaranos eyes. As thc ministry continued to follow
- basically the same policy, it is obvious that the motivaton behind Weymouth's retirement was
not simply a matter of intransigence on his part, nor of an iqsdl'ﬁ'b;p difference of opinion.

Winstanley resolved this dichotomy by stating that Weymouth realized a war was likely to

€

33George III, Correspondence, ii, Rochford to King, 12 Deccmber 1770, pp

183-184. ol
3¢George 111, Correspondence, u North "to King, 23 November 1770, pgi 172-173.
¥L.H. Brown, p. 275. . S
D, A. Winstanley, p. 400. ' -

9L, H. Brown, pp. 290-292. . ﬁ’ ’
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occur ‘and that he was "totally unfit" to hold a position of great responsibility in such an. .

event, so took the coward's way out and resig'ned'.’“ The French historian Frangois Rohsseau_
stated that'it wzls Géorgé I who acted decisively at this juncture, when he 'saw that therg
were differences of opinion and tensions in the cabinet, instead of trying to resolve these, he
simply dismissed Weymouth.’*' L.H. Brown attributed Weymouth's resignation to North's
skillful machinations. The Falkland Islands crisis gave North an opportunity to "gain a voice
" in the dlrection of féreign policy” ahd. incidentally, get rid of his' chief rival for ﬁg_/
pl'emiership."" P. D. G. Thomas cc‘mcurred. wi;h the idea that North had deliberately
eliminated Weymouth and also stated that North was then -able to consolidate his power
within the minisfry by appointing Sandwich and Halifax, men who were his f ollovfers, and by
seeing that Rochford and Gower were "sweetexled by pauonége.""’ . ¥
.An examination of the cabinet intrigues zlnd English politics at the highest level sho“ls

that Weymouth's resignation was certainly facilitated by Lhc Falkland Islands cnsxs North-
needed to- shufflc cabinet appomtments and obtam the support and loyalty of a’ll the
ministers, 1f he was to survive as first minister, and h_xs task was eased by Rochford's
willingness to oust Weymcuth in order to succeed him as Southern Secretary. That
Weymouth's policies or administrative plans were not in themselves the cause of discontent,
as the majoﬁty of hist.orians have usually stated, is evidenced by Rochford's decision. on 21
December 1770 to recall Harris, and by the later developments in the distribution of power
‘within the ministerial portfolios, when George III advocated a plan which had originally been\
suggested to him by Weymouth. The king wrote:

...a thought has occurred to me if he (Suffolk) can not speak French which is an

absolute requisite for one who is to treat with Foreign ministers, whether Lord

Rochford could not transact the whole department of Foreign affairs, which is the

case in every other court and then Lord Suffolk might have the home departments

which would be composed of all domestick affairs with the addition of Scotland and
Ireland.***

”“‘D A. Winstanley, p. 400.
‘Frangois Rousseau, Régne de Charles 111 DEspagne (1759-1788), ii, (Paris:.

e

. 1907), p. 76.

.. H. Brown, pp. 312-313.

%P D. G. Thomas, Lord North, p. 49.

“sGeorge 111, Correspondence, ii, King to North, 13 Januan 1770, pp. 205- 206
& , ¥
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The reorganization of the cabinet which was facilitated by the Falkland Islands crisis provided
North with the opportunity to overcome the discordant elements in the ministry and he was
thus ablo to face the opposition in Parliament with a strong and stable. administration to back

him. 3¢ 'Thc._ political intrigue at the cabinet level was furthered by Rochford's willingness to

press Weymouth 'un'til* his position was untenable and so, ‘the personal ambitions of the,

pohuelans mvolved should not be underestimated in any assessrncnt of the outcome of the
Falkland Islands crisis.

* Another of the aspects of the dispute which is discussed in the historiograohy of the
Falkland Islands crisis and _whicﬁ is intimately related to Lord Weymouth's resignation, is the
recall of James Hams from Madrid. Lord Rochford's letter of 21 Decomber 1770, ordering
Harris 1o leave the court of Charles TII, has caused conf usion among historians because it \;Jas
a completely irrational oot if one occepted the premise that Lord Weymouth had resigned
because of an unwillingness among_the cabinet ministers to-take any aggfcssivc nieasures
against Spain. In that case, the fact that Weymouth had fesigned on 18 December and just
four days later, Rochford had implemented a policy which Weymouth had suggested, made no

sense. Rochford had written to the king about the cabinet meeting of 5 December, in which

Weymouth had made his proposal and this had been turned down by the other ministers.

They feai'ed that such a r_nové would dejsuoy any chance of an accommodation being reached

-

with Spa,i@and 50, as Rochford wrote, "the rest of your majestys{sic] servants rather than be

dlsumted in thlS critical situation acquncsced 50 far, as to resolve to send no messenger at
all."** There is no further refercncc to this 1ssue in the king's correspondence unnl Rochford

had already sent the order of recall, although the ministry must have been uncertain about the -

outcome of this act bccause it kept it a we&-guardcd secret. The ministers did not inform the

Spanish ambassador of r.hxs initiative until 3 January 1771, and there was no mention of the

matter in the British press until 15 January-1771.%" Even the opposition did not get wind of

o

p. D. G. Thomas Lord North, p. 49.
WGeorge III, Correspondence; i, Rochford to King, 8 December 1770, pp. 179-180.

' Middlesex Journal, 12-15 January 1771, Public Adverttsar 17 January 1771 and
General Evening Post, 17-19 January 1771. ;
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this drastic step until 14 January.’* Masserano's reaction when he was informed of the recall

was as Rochford had expected, unfavourable to the extrem ghich again has ‘caused

‘assc‘rano to view the
recall as a virtual declaratior of war, so why':did he order HA back to England? This
question becomes ever more problemat'ic when it is examined through the king's -
correspondence, which shows that the ministers seriously considered sending Harris new orders *
to remain in Spain as éarly as 3 January, and were shll debating this on 17 January 1771.°¢" It
oL ) . o .t
was only on 18 January 1771 that Rochford wrote to Harris, grdering him back to Madrid.’™
The récall was a very important issue becaus:e it was thought, by Rochford's coqtempqraries
and by historians, to have directly affected the ou_tcomé of the crisis. The most immediate’
interpretation of the event was that the ministry had taken a daring step in order to force the
y

Spaniards’ hands, and that this policy was intendsd to frighten the Spanish negotiators into
meeting England's demands. It was also supposed that Harris's recall meant that a war was
inevitable and would soon be declared.’” Walpole wrote that it was North who feared a war
and that he was - b

seized with a panic on Lord Weymouth's resignation, whe- he concluded, would vaunt

of having advised war; he had figured to himself Lord Chatham, armed with national

vengeance, and the Opposition bellowing against his pacific inclinations. Instead of

striking the peace before any obstructions could be given to it, he had obtained from

the Cabinet Council, four days after Lord Weymouth's retreat, the absurd direction

‘to Harris to leave Madrid,-a rash act, dictated by fear, and from which nothing but

Choiseul's fall could have extricated him.*” ’ :
The Iberian historian Hidalgp Nieto was kinder in ‘his assessment of .why Harris was recalled, .
and simply stated’ that Lord Rochford was the decision-maker, in this instance, and that he
had ordered the recall because any further negotiations would not have been’ consis&ent with

the dignity of the crown.’”” Julius Goebel also wrote that Rochford had explained his action

3'Chatham Correspondence, iv, Calcraft to Chatham, 14 January 1771, p. 67.
%sGeorge 111, Correspondence, ii, Rochford to Ki}lg, 13 January 1771, p. 202, and
17 January 1771, p. 211. , -

39Malmesbury Diaries, i, Harris to Rochford, 9 February 1771, pp. 73-74.

3" Malmesbury Diaries, i, pp. 70-71. '

31"Walpole, Memoirs, iv, p. 172.

s»Manuel Hidalgo Nieto, p. 213.
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"by stating that as the n_egou'ations had been suspgnded on 28 November 1770; there had been‘
no use for a British répresenta;ive in Madrid.”‘_;l'his cxc{;s:, of course, failed to explain why
Rochford had rejected the idea of recalling Hagris when Weymouth*hgg suggested it. éoebel
also.trie'd to explaim ihié action by suggesting that the English ministry suddenly decided that ‘
the British navy: was so un:preparcd to ﬁght thai the only v thev would gain an advantage
was if they were the first to declare w,ar, as this would allow them to get&me' British .shiﬁs out
of Sabanish harboufg.”’ -fﬁis .explanap'on', héwever,'fs not borne out by r.h(e evidence to be
m——fougd-in the correspondence rele\;am to the issue. It is evident from Rochford's gagerness to
pac'ify Masserano that the English ministry had no desire to declare a war. Ultimately, Goebel |
irrixplied that Harris's recall was purely a tactical ’error,« the consequence‘s of which might have
been disastr@us had it not been fbr Choiseul's fall from grace in France, and !hc,sub@\uem
defection of the Fregﬁhﬁrom the Bourbon alliance.’”® Octavio.‘Gil Munilla interpreted this -
iR .
event in a completelyi‘\‘é;izf ferent manner, st?;ting that this po}icy was created and implemented
. solely at Lord Rochf@f{gi"ﬁ instigation. He wrote that Rochford brought with him to the office
gf Southern Secre'tary' aﬂxfﬁ‘éiy‘v. attitude *..»ut the form and thrust of imperial policy "énd that it »
was his belief that only a bold en_crgetic ‘impérial policy would bring the Anglo-Hispariic
rivalsies 10 an end. Thus, he took the initiative of recalling James Harris.*”” This
interpretation is contested by the evirdenc'é to be found from an examination of Weymout‘h‘s
resignation. There were no new policies implemented after Rochford took over the Southemn |
Secretaryship. He simply followed the same policies which Weymouth had advocated: in 3ight

of 'chmouth's resignation, the evidence indicates that Rochford used policy as a means of

easing Weymouth out of office, but that in fact, there was no real difference of opi{don

Mulius Goebel, pp. 330-331.
Julius Goebel,. p. 350.
YiJulius Goebel, p. 350. ~ . :
MOctavio Gil Munilla, Malvinas, p. 128. El nuevo titular, exembajador en Espana,
tiene la experiencia de su, estancia en Madrid, donde ha presenciado de 1763 a
1766 la polffica de creciente reorganizacidn del imperio, y el convencimiento de que
solo medidas enefgicas puedan:garantizar la resolucion de las disputas
hispano-inglesas. De acuerdo ¢ s¥ste criterio, a los tres dlas de su nombramiento,
ordena a Harris "que siendof:‘f ;dptreramente’. innecesaria su permanencia en Madrid, -
se prepare a regresar con. la ﬁvﬁﬁmud conveniente, despues de despedirse en la
_ forma  acostumbrada.” - _ -
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; about the way in which England shoufd treat the Spanish. The negotiations were stalled., and
Weymouth had know’n it. Whether or not Rochford or North just panicked and decxded o
recall Harns because of fear of the opposition in parliament, cannot be conclusn(ely answered;
“however, tHeir actions did have repercssions which were thought to be of critical importance

1

to the oixTcSme of the Falkland Islands crisis. .

The ‘ministers were fortunate in one sense because they were able to countermand
Harns s recall very effectively, as l’ie had not. actually left the vrcmity of Madnd His new
orders were presented to hirn only twenty leagues~ from cth.e c1ty m Apparently Harris had a
mistress in Madrid whom he was loathe to leave, so he had gone to a nenghbonng v1llage and
from there would secretly reenter the city every night and "dine" with her.’” This fact gave
rise to an entirely different interpretation of the negotiations between Spain and England by
the Spanish. historian, Hidalgo Nieto. Whereas historians had tradrtronally viewed the Falkland
Islands crisis as an event when Spain was’at the mercy of her alliance with France because
she could not fight England alone -and that Grimaldi always’ followed Choiseul's lead
Hidalgo Nieto examined Harris's actions and concluded that he was allowed to remam wrth-m
such proximity te. Macfrid for practical political reasons. He wrote that the Spanish‘ieourt did
not want to, lose sight of the Britishkrepresentatlve as long as there existed the possibilit&' of a
renewal of the negotiations. and a satisfactory settlement to the dispute.’" In,order‘ to-
maintain the appearance, at least, of independence, Grimaldi refused 1o see ‘Harris when he
presented' himself . at court after having bee:n1 ordered back to Madrid. In this instance, _“
howeve’r Grirnaldi's stand served only to highlight his country's impotence in the face of the
cucumstances surrounding Spain's diplomatic isolation, and so he was forced to acc,cpt

Harns ] sohcrtatrons The incident of Harris's recall serves to emphasue different aspects of

the Falkland Islands crisis, depending upon the interprctation of the historians concerned. It

31%Malmesbury Diaries, i, pp. 70-T1. &
s"Francois Rousseau, ii, p. 79.

- %Manuel Hidalgo Nieto, p. 215. "desde donde. en secreto venla todas las noches a
Madrid-muy probablemente con el consentiniento tdcito de la Corte espaRola, a quien
interesaba no perder de vista el represante ‘ingles, facdttandose asi una reanudacion de
relaciones-para ver a su dm N



%
has been viewed on the one hand as e'uidence of the Er’iglish mini'stry;s strehgth, but, also, on
the other of its weakness; of the Spamsh rmmstry s mdependence from, &nd dependence
upon, France. It certainly reflects upon the quesuon of Weymouth’s resxgnauon as it removes
all doubt that major dlfferences of opinion_about policy existed among the members of
cabinet. Though there will probably always be doubt about ‘the reasons behind Rochford's
actions, there is no quesuon about how they affected the cn51s An exz:mmauon of the details
of Lhe negotiations shows that Masserano was-informed of the recall on 3 January 1771, and
that Harris himself only received his orders on 4 January It was only three days later on7-
January 1701, that Masserano received the new instructions from Grimaldi which were to
ulumately provxde a soluuon and settlement to the negouauons From the chronology of this
correspondence 1t can be deduced that Harris's recall did not have any effect upon the
"negouauons cxcept to give the Spaniards the impression that the Enghsh muustry was bemg
'dxshonest In light of this, Rochford countermanded his prevxous order and Masserano's
declaration was accepted {l

Another 'of the area“s of interest which historians have examined and whichis also
related' to the questions of Weymouth ] resxgnauon and Harris's recall, is the issue of whether
or not the French interferred in the negotiations betwcen Spain and England, and, if so, what ’
effect did this interference have upon the developmem of the crisis. This question’ wos' raised
 initially in Parliarhent ‘when a motion for an Address seeking information on this topic was
reJected 173 to 57 in the House of Commons.*" The:e is actually no dissension among
hxst’onans as to whether or not the French interferred, although this fact was not ascertamed )
during the debate about the Falklands in Parliament. Though the ministry vehemently denied
that the French had served as mr .1iatoré or that they had been allowed to interfere in the
negotiations, the suspicion st . exisléd, and justifiably so. It is obv_ious ffom the
correspondence between the king and Lord Non.h,,conceming North's meetings with Frances,

the representative of the French ambassador, that France was meddling in the negotiations in

a heavy-handed manner.}'! This is also proven by the message Choiseul sent to Grimaldi on

WP, D. G. Thomas, Lord North, p. 0. .
WGeorge 111, Correspondence, u‘e to North, 28 November 1770, p. 174, North



10 Deeember 1770 explarmng to him how and why he Bad taken 1r upon hunself te scnd a'ng_.
ox ; L
pmposal ) London whrch‘ might end the negouauons As he stated to‘Grunaldx "the
Y
Falklands Islands might belong to Spam but the war over them would belong tor France as

well as Spain.™**’ However wh rhe Englrsh mrmsrers were quest;oned about this in# -

' Parhament they sald that there was no correspondence to present and thxs was true, because _
. as Walpole wrote "all had been verbal, and negotiated with Frances. "™ Walpole was the fi ust‘

~ to write that France s refusal to support Spain in a war for the islands was critical to the

outcome of the drspute Walpole .itated Lhat Chorseul 8 fall, ‘and the pacific drsposmon of

the new rmrusters convinced hrm (Masserano) that his kmg had nof assrstance 10 expecr from

!q.
T _France His king, probably, from the same reasoning, had relaxed some of hrs pretensmns

=

and sent powers to his ambassador to terminate his differences with us.™** The controversy
among hrstonans on this pomt is not so much over wherher or not there was French
intetvention in the dlspute between Bmarn and Spam but is more focussed on what ef fect Lhe
acknowledged intervention had. Dld France s decxslon to withdraw her support from Spam in
the event of a war actually cause the Spamsh court to acquresce to Brmsh demands, against
its will? Walpole was certain ‘that Chorscul S fall from power and the subsequent pacific
ministfy were decisive in causrng Spain to reconsxder her opuons e D A. Wmsranley wrote
that the outcome of the dispute had depended to an exten upon the attitude of France

7

however he also wrote, contrary to the evxdence that there exrsted a "popular though

~ entirely baseless, behef that France had been allowed to mterf ere in }he negouauons and had

practically dictated the terms of the settlement. """ Juhus Gocbel drsagreed with this view
A

when he wrote that Frances had been sent by the French ambassador to negotiate a aettlemem

with Lord North. Goebel was in accord with Winstaniey however, that France's actlons ‘had

effectively shaped the outcome of the crisis"as her defection "cor_npelled Spain to .make

3 (cont'd) to ng 15« December 1770 pp. 184-185,, King to North 26 December
1770, p. 185. &
wicited in Frangois Rousseau, ii, p. 76, author's translauon. '
MWalpole Memoirs, iv. @. -178. S ,
SWalpole Memoirs, iv, p. 175. S
weWalpole Memoirs, iv, pp. 114, 161-162. '
"D, A. Wmstanley pp. 410 and 376.
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t‘hat Spatn did not attack England before 1770 because it was only then that she "felt sure o

39 Both Allan Chnstelow and Paul Langford also agrwd that the

French rcfusal to f i \Charles I to back: down 390 Octavro th Mumlla concuri‘ed
—

with this opinior lédte that Louts XV's letter to Chatles III wrthdrawmg French °

support in th war had made a catastrophtc ‘impact upon the Spamsh court .

Nlcholas Tracy ?C"pted thts line of thought o a pornt however his mterpretatton favoured

the’ psychoanalytrcal app‘%h and is more open to doubt from the evxdence avarlable He

— Pl

wrote that “"from thc first’ 1t was apparent that Spam was less 1mportant in the dspute than )

S was France and that the pressure of Bntrsh preparattons for war would most rapidly produce

dtplimanc developrnen’ts by its effect- -upon; the court of Frapce.™*% Though it is certatn that L,

the En.ghsh ministers dtd not drscount France S mﬂuence 1t’ is hardly true that they

..

cohsrdered thetr negotiations with Sparn as Secondary Ftnhlly Margaret Cotter Mornson was
hY

‘ wrllmg to grant that Spain would ‘have been unable to ftght England alone, but she il was

- mrstaken when she underéstimated the Spanish court s ability to act mdepcndently She stated

~

tE? as soon as Spain realized that France would not support her "the Spantsh rmrusters were
just in time to recall the English arnbassador, who was already some miles from Madrtd; the

English demands. were acceded to, and all thought of war ivas‘_ at an Tend.""”_ This

Y

)

’"Julrus Goebel; pp. 307 and 37’5 .
wAlfred Bourguet, "Le Duc De Choiseul et L' Angleterre La Mission de M. De
Bussy a Londre,” Revue Hlslorlque v. 71, 1899 pp. 6-7, and -Geoffrey Rice, p.
407. , .
»Allan, Christelow, p. 26, and Paul Langford . 160. S b .
"Qctavio Gil Muntlla Malvinas, p. 125. cuando él ‘31 de Diciembre llegd a \
‘Madrid la carta de Luis XVI. .La impresion fue catatrofica.” These sentiments were
" }pressed more emphatmlly by Glyndwr Williams in_1966 when. he wrote that the
Tdecisive developments were in France,” and that when "Ghoiseul was dismissed, a
chagrined Charles Il .wab forced to negotiate:” Glyndwr Williams, p. 192.
»Nijcholas Tracy, p. 55. ) : :
9Margaret Cotter Morrison, "The Duc de Choiseul and the Inasion of England, -
'1768-1770," Transactions of the Royal Htstorzcal Society. 3rd Series, v. iv. 1910, p.
18S. .
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mterpretauon agam 1s not bome out oy the” evxdaf,nce o be found in the diplomatic

7,

correspondence between Rochford and Ha,ms about Grimaldi's reac%n ‘10, Hams S

(34 ! 2

reappearance at the court of Madnd e Aithough historians agree that France was influential
"+ in this dxspule there are vanauons in the degree of mfluence she was thOught to have

melded The entire nouon rests, however, upon Lhe quesuon of who actually controlled the

)

- dxplomaue negouatmns and what was their mcmvatxon Itis mterestmg t0 note that all of the
T aumors were willing to grant France the dormnant role in her relauonshxp wnth Spain, even in
"an instance when it was Spam s interests that were at stake Ohv1ously Spanaz had. ccgmted on
French supﬂm and the . wnhdrawal of that .support caused Gr1mald1 and Charles 1II to -

reconsmier their alternatives. However there is no firm evidence to prove that Spam was bent :

A [ N

on f’xghung a war ovér this issue at any cost, and only agreed to a settlernent because of Lhe =

R
~ loss of hcr ally.’ Nexther is there any evxdence to suggest that Grimaldi or Charles 11 eVer

~ considered Spain’s mterests as sccondary to' those of France. - -

"A

One of the more fascmatmg and important issues relevant- to Lhe Falkland Islands
crisis, whx@h is also a toplc of historiographical controversy, is the quesnon of whether or not
the North mxmstry secretly proxmsed the Spamsh that <England would abandon the Falkland ’.

 Islands. The first mentmn of this idea wasbn 8 January 1771, when 11 was reported Lhal the -

S

"Spamards have agreed 1o g1v up Falkland's iles “[sic] without any supulauon for a‘future
Q 1]

accessxon of the right to them, together with some other secret requisitions made on the part .
of some old claims."*** After thxsi&en/t)he signing of the Declaration and acceptance were ©
announced,’, all of the news reporis had a.shor{“paragraph which ciair_ne_d that the secrei artigle
. was believed to exist. ™" Thxs question was_of so much import because it affected the‘ entire ,
issue of sovereignty over the islands and still does. The idea that Spain capitulated because
the North muustry secretly promised to abahdon the English claim to the islands has been

generally accepted in the hlstonography of the conflict; however, this acceptance has Béen |

4 Malmesbury Diardes, i, Harris to Rochford 9 February 1771, pp 73 74
"3General Evening Post, 5-8 January 1771. T '
¢l ondon Evening Post, 22-24 January 1771 Mlddlesex Journal 2( 26 Jan,uary 1771
Public Advertiser,24 January 1771, Bmgley s, 26 January 1771, Publlc Advertiser, 25
January 1771. \ ‘ ) ,, X

) . - S e Yo
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based upon the fhmsrest of ev1dence and in severa] cases, on no evidence at all Basil
erhams wrote that the agreement was only obtamed after a private hing’ had been given that

no more English settlements would be made on the Falkland Islands. ™" Wllhams suggested
that there was no ev1dence that Rochford had ever made such a promise, /( { that French 3y
sour@ ;jresented the possrbthty that other less responsible ministers” may have hmted at

th’ Though most historians agree that this promise existed, some-are less adamant ‘than
others and a few even d!Sp% this fact.

LY A most decisive, »and rtarn]y vcry influential; mterpretatmn of the issue was

presented by Juhus éoebel in his analysis . of the right of soverergnty over the 1sland§' After a‘ X
lengthy dxscussron of how and why the promise was made, Goebel strongly concluded that
"the Bntrsh ministry insisted that the asstu'ances were . grven nerther officially nor
.‘ confldentrally,' and yet it cannot be demed that they were grven and that they were the
motivating inducement for vthe Spamth action "3% He based this assertion on the.evidence that
on 25 January -1771, at George mr's levee ‘the kmg greeted the Spamsh dmbassador,
Masscrano thaf rtendly manner and told him. that the Spama;ds could rely upon his geod
faith in the treaty Goebel interpreted thrs statement to be a subtle cqnfirmation, by the
- king, of North's promrse to abandon the 1slands at some future date His only documentation
for this assumption was a letter wntten by Isaac Barre to Chatham on 22 January 1771, in
which he stated, "it is whispered that there is a secret amcle to save the rights and pretensions
in that country of the crown of Spam, which ‘seems 0 promrse OprI abandomng the spot
silently, unon sofne fu:ur-? day. "0 ’I'hrswas written by an ardent member of the opposition
who did not- mentron where he had heard about the secret agreement It was penned by a
person who had an interest in embarrassrng the mrmstry and was probably less than objective.
Gogbel further mentioned the secret agreement several times and, in fact, based a substantial

part of his argument about sovereignty upon the existence of such a prormse Throughout his

analysrs however he crted the drplomatm correspondcnce of only French or Spamsh authors

M Basil Williams, p. 2n2. S

MBgsil Williams, p. 272. P

WJulius Goebel, pp. 362-363. '

“°Chatham Correspondence iv, Barré to Chatham 22 Janua.ry 1771 p. 72.
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do ss
who had an interest in this issue, to support this thesis sor Itv'is difficult therefore to"{/pt
Goebel's assessment, as it is based on evidence wl)rch is. suspect Notwrthstandx Lh&s lack of
concrete support for his argument, grtz and Olga Hbffrnan took Goebel at word when
thgy wrote that "Goebel has shown that at the time of the exehange of notes Lord Nm tl and
lus secretary for the Southern Departrnent the Earl of Rochf ord, gave their solemn war “at
the fort and port of: ﬁgmont would be retumed 10 Spam in the not too dicrarr e’

'I‘hey attempted to strengthen thls argumetn by staung that ﬂpere was no w o oen TR the

V »agreement because it had been made orlly verbally, and Lhat MmOre )Y ., «ver COrLiemncrar

works menuoned the agreement naos The Hoffmans however, dldb' ot staiz 'h:- only peop:.

who had somethmg to gain from the existence of such a prom xse mentior»d * in *

-

eighteenth century Another authpr who depended upon Goebel's Judg sment . ca s Gues

‘was Lucy Sutherland when she’ edlled one volume of Edmund Burke § cor;spondence. Basmg

her argument on Goebel, she wrote that "there were grounds, however, for thews belief 112t

{
there was a secret understanding that Port Egmont would be abandoned."**

The belief that this promiseyexisted ‘has lasted throughout the twentieth centurv. It
spans English, Frencii, Argentine, and Iberian historiography. Frangois Rousseau mentioned it

in 1907, and it was advocated by Charles Petne Paul Lang(ord and P. D. G Thomas in the

M

1970s.*%* Thomas Wote that: - \ N

at the end of November he (North) intervened in the negonauons himself . Unable to
make any fqrmal concession, he nevertheless gave a private assurance to the French
ambassador that Britain did not intend to keep the island and would in due course
evacuate it if Spain gave way then. North had not obtained the prior sanction of his
colleagues but the cabinet promptly endorsed his proposal, with the condition that
the promise of evacuation must remain secret. 4

Thomas made this statement and rejterated that "the verbal promise of future British

“ijltus Goebel, pp. 309-310, 315, 361-363, 370, 383, 393-394, 409.

“9Fritz and Olga Hoffman, p. 13‘5 . -

‘Fritz and Olga Hoffman, pp, 55- 56 ' _

“sBurke Correspondence, ii, p. 188. \
‘°5Frangois Rousseau p. 81, Charles Petrie, King Charles I of Spain. An
Enlightened Despot, (London: 1971), p. 139, Paul Langford, p. 160, and P. D"G~
Thomas, Lord North, p. 4.

“p. D. G. Thomas, Lord North, p. 43.

4 ," .‘ S , )
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e&cuaiion was ‘secret, "’ without_,providing ényvsupp'ort for ms'?ﬁrg\umcm The ndte at the
end of hi?‘bara}‘raph indimtcd’ the correspondence of George III, edited by Fort&ccnfe. as his‘.
soutae; k;o.wever,’ mem% no.qvidencé in the letters cited which suggdsts that an informal

' promisc was ever discussed by Lhe‘minisiers and certa)inly none to sdggcst that such a promise
was endorsed by the cabinet.*”* Vera Le,e Brbwn mentioned the promlse which James Harris

i a
. wroge was being spread abroad, but shs did not make any decxslon as to whether or not it had

-

actually been made.*”’ J. Steven Watson gave thls question a d1fferent twist when he wrbdte in
196(7 that "in secret both sides ;greed to evacuate the islands and so to avoxd any immediate
rcopcning of thg squalible."lo He ‘aiso failed to cite any sources in support of this assertion.
The question of the secret promise was also addressed by Nlc‘llczlas Tracy in his
treatment of * the 1770 Falkland Islands crisis from the naval perspecnve His first
controversial premise was that Bucareli "s actions were "seen as part of a general challenge to
the. su_prt;macy'o'f British sea power” and %Pon Egmont had been es!;blished simply as a
"demonstration of Britain's supcrior' istrenéth."“ Following through with cthis . line of
‘reasoning, Tracy wrote that North did not fear a war with Spain®ind so made no "diplomatic
effort” to avert the-3isaster, becaugsy "the govemmedi plainly feareds loss of int;mational
regard more than it feared war."”*" ’Ijhls prcnﬁgej';aras highly speculative ;t best. @bviousiy the _
kipgwand his ministérs were concerned that the honour of the British crpwh be upheld;
however, codtempo,rary Sources also indicaf.e Lhat'_"iihé‘xe were, in fact, serious diplomatic .
efforts made to avcrjt a war. Tracy's further assertion that’ in owder "to dc;feat ‘B‘ourbon
attacks on Britain's influence and positiod it was necessary to restore the credibility of

_ A ,
Britain's nayal strength,” is actually undermined by his reasoning that North made, the secret
Y

promise in order to get the Spanish to settle the dispute witlﬁ)ui'fighéing' a war.**® Tracy's

\",

“P. D. G. Thomas, Lord North, p. 50.

‘'George 111 Correspondence, ii, pp. 172-182.

‘“*Vera Lee Brown, p. 442.

41%]. Steven Watson, pp. 154-155. ¢
“Nicholas Tracy, pp. 41 and- 45. -
*13Nicholas Tracy p. 50.

‘UNicholas Tracy, p. 52.




9

~ > . . ) ) ‘ » “/D
argument forsthe promise w3as weakened initially by his failure to cite ahy sourogs. othc} than . L=
Goebel, and secondly, gis reasoning for the pronuse was not logical. If, as he-stated, Bnmjx

-/ was gnly conce‘med with the urbons conccpuon of 'her naval strcngth how would this’ .

secret promise "constrain Jthe Spaniards to concede to Bmalrk'? &emands -apparently humbling .
themselves bcfore Bntam s naval mlght'""“ If the entire diplomatic dxsp&?é was purcly« |
show, as ‘I‘rac.:y implied, Britain would not have unpressedthr enemies, the Bourbon\ powcrs

10 any great extent, by secretly granting them thc objgt of the dnsputc Tracy 5 arkumem is
alsov;ontradlctory in that hc stated that North was not willing to make a dxplomaue eff ort to
avo_ld a war over the 1slands, bl;t yet, he was: ostensibly willing to make a huge diplomatic \
concession, albeit secrétly Notwithistanding the non sequitors evidcnt in Tracy'\‘sj argufncm. he
never pr%ded concrete evidence for the existence of Lhe promise. \ ‘ . '

: Another advocate of the existence of the premise based hxs conclusion on deductive
reasonmg.“ Rmrdo‘Zorraqum Becu wrote that North had promised to abandon the islands
fof;fiden&lly because he co;11d not do so publicly. He then argued that the British did-not act
in'good faith. Their attempts to retain sovereigngy with the plaque they left there inwl7 4, and

the fact that théy did not mention a’ claim.‘to the islands agﬁin urdil 1829, meant\for this '
“author, that they must havc made the secret promisc, and that this was, the British way of
trying to avoid the éonsequences of having made Lha; promise.*** This Scasoning wés also Iesg
6Wthan convincing ?.S an argument for the existence of the promise. D. A. Winstanley attempted: ‘
?g ,deal with this problem by staiing, first of all, that Barre's letter was the original source of
the idea; :however, ’he- added that there was absolutely go ‘concreic -evidence for this

>

- . . 3 .
suggestion 41¢ He then found th;, same issue being meptioned by the French ambassador 10
England the coynt de'Guines, in 1771 who, when called upon to explam himself, was forced

to admit that the dlscussxon had been "a la reserve dc mllord Rochford Wmstanlcy decided

[ 3

therefore that

i

1f the secretary of state for foreign affairs refrained from giving any promise to(\("
abandon the Falkland Islands it may with safety be assumed that the utterances of

““Nicholas Tracy, p." 61. K ( '
“Rjcardo Zorraquin Becu, p. 161. : )
‘“D. A. Winstanley, p. 408. y o N
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the other ministers on this peint were entu'ely unofficial, and made upon their own
responsibility.*” v

—u 'Y

His conclusron based upon concrete evidence, was that if thé\promrse existed at all it was

- made complewf;uunofﬁcxally and the sofi"?ce for thrs was to be found only in the

I\r»
correspondence between French dxplomats

Octavio Gil Munilla, who stqu the 1770 crisis  prim ily from Ithe Spanish -

~

' pel:spcctrve exammed the final - declaration - between Britain and Sp \v\qthout even

menuomng a secret artxcle “1' In the-very last paragraph ‘of his chapter about the Falkland
lslands crisis, however, he suddenly suggested that the British had promised to abandon the

istands at some time in the future. His source for thrs statement was the evidence cited in hrs

‘f,’."

prevxous work on the Falkland Islands crisis of 1770. In that monograph, Gil Mumlla stated

that_‘l_.ords North and Rochford guaranteed in a confidential manner that the Enghsh would
later abandon the islands.*!* He did not, however, cite a source for this information. He also

teinforced the idea of the prornise'u;hen he wrote that the Spanish signed the declaration for

[}

WO “Teasons O{re was the secret promise made by the English, and t{.heﬁcot&l was that the’
Spaniards knew- thatelittle time would pass before they wo\uld'" find a new reason to create a
rupturé with England.** Gil Munilla finally wrote that the promise had been "de caracter
. He based this conclusion

pnvado no. ministerial,” but that it had nonetheless been. .giv
solely on a message from Masserano to Grimaldi.*** If, ayGil Mumlla stated, the promise was( )
a maJor factor contributing to- the Spamsh agreement to settle the dispute, why did North not) .

make it much sooner, in order to settle the dtspute at_the onset of tlle negotiations? The fact

—
337,

that Gil Mynilla's sole source for this mformauon was Spanish and that he had a gogilreason

to try and make the declaration attractive to the Spanish court also weakened his argument.
e editm\o#r}es Harris's diaris, his grandson, the third Easl of Malmesbury, was

one of the earliest quthors to write that the secret article or promise had never existed. He

ok
7D, A Wmstanley -p. 409.
‘“QOctavio Gil Munilla, Rro de la Plata en la polf tica. internacional: -Genesis del

b vyirreinato, (Sevilla: 1949), 168.

‘U0ctavio Gil - Munilla, Malvina.s PP- -115.
“%QOctavio *Gil Munilla, Malvings, p. \39. author’s translation.
“90Octavio Gil Munilla, Malvinas, p. 143.

B
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based thisconclusion on a letter wrme?%y Hams-mo Rochl' oi‘d staung r.hat the Spaniards Were

-

keeplng Lhe declarauon as secret asrpossmle ‘He funher wrote that "they[the Spamsh] also .

( report that we have given a )rerbgl assurance to evacuate Falkland {sland in the space of two
- N .
months. "4 The ednor too this a5 an md1cauon that the promise had never been‘ made. "It
~ w ¥ o
appears EI-Om Mr. Harris's ;fapers that the restitution[by the Spanish] was, both in letter and
)

~

spirit, a bona flde one, wxgﬂ)ut any sych amcle "4 This demal\of the secret promise ,is not

a surpnsmg consxdenng the rter from Wthh it came. The edltor wa\s af ter all,*Harris's

grandson a.nd/lzc?%n interest -in protetting his- ‘farnily's name. It was to- his advantage,
) 'y J o -

ther"foqre to.claim that the North ministry, to, whlch his ancestors had been attached, would

“not have mad¢ what Malmesbury.copmdered S ch_ a dishonourable promise. ©

ians who agregd that the existence of Lhe_secre‘tn
. As early as 8 G.B. Herz wrote that tl;re'

. Waivno substanal ewdence‘ on exther side.” Howevgr he reasoned that "the absence of any -

Spanish expostulauons in Lhe dlplon'(auc correspondence affer 1771 and the circuinstance. '

There were, nonetheless, other his

promxse should not be accepted unquestio

_attendant to the evacuation,” pomtedﬂ the erhhood that the promi¢¥ had never been
. made.*’* He also strengthened his. argument by stating that bctween}ebruary and November
1772, “the ministry senougly considered plans for the def ense of the 1slands which would not

have made sense if the _Ii:..glish were planning ](Q' abandon Port Egmom immediatel} .***

Although Hertz did not cite his sour@ for this inf’orrnation" his argument was accepted gnd
quoted by-the authors of a r;nsonograph on the Falkland Islands in 1960.**¢ Finally, th

historian Hidalgo NICIO concluded that without concrete evidence from the British /archives for

A

the Southern Department, there was e way of depermmmg the thoughts or 1¥en ions of the

English mifiistry. Without the extensive resea.rch Wthh this would requue the pupposeq secret

promise remained an msmuauon or vague hope without value, and that an explanauon of the
Ay

,”

“"Malmesbury Diaries, i, Harnis to Rochford 14 February 1771, p. 7.
‘S Malmesbury Diaries, i, p. 8.

‘%G, B. Hertz, p. 141. ' l
$*G. B. Hertz, p. 141. ' . - o
‘“Cawkell, et al, The Falkland Islands, (Loudon: 1960), pp. 34-35.
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actions of the Spartish court could not be based upon this fact.*?” Ultimately though,yHidano
Nieto asserted that it was irrelevant whether or not the promise had been actually made,
because the fact that it was believed to exist. mnde it much easier for the Spanish court to
agree to a.settlernent without losing too much face, and this enabled Spain to auoid a war
against Engtand which it could not hope to win alone ."“

The dividing line among histcrians about this question transcended both nationality
and period. Some of the early historians, such as Winstanley, did not give the idea of a secret
promise much credence, while even the Iberian historians could not agree about this issue.
Hidalgo Nieto pointed out the critical matter; all the historians discuss this issue and most of
them suggest that the promtse exxsted Jithout cmng any concrete or indisputable sources.
There is certarnly evrdence that suggests that a promise would have eased the way for a

- settlement of the dispute; however, it is hardly likely that a promrse of such consequence
would never have been mentioned in any of the correpondence between George I and his
' ‘_ rmnrsters nor m any of the English drplomatrc correspondence. It is evident that George I
‘was informed of every step of the negotiations and North does not appear to have been the
kind of /mar\'who would rrrake such a promise without discussing it with his sovereign. The

1dea of a secret promise, has recurreq‘ constantly in all of the hrstonography of the Falkland

e Islands crisis. 'I'hts however, is misleading because though htstorrans have written about it as

though,rt existed, they based their assumption on eighteenth century sources which palpably
' lack oci:jecti_vity. and so, the question remains to be answered satisfactorily. The_ entire notion
of the secret promise made by the North ministry appears, therefore, to fall“_un'de'r the ’aegis\
of nebulous a‘ssumptions accepted by mzrny historians; a possible occurrence which would
.explain Spain's agreement to restore Port Egmont but w.hich has never been satisfactorily
‘documented and Wthh thus remains to be proven. Thrs is an. aspect of the 1770 Falkland\

Islands dispute which requires further exammauon because it is significant to any evaluation

of the crisis and .the"‘way in which the British and Spanish governments performed throughout

"4"Manyel Hidalgo Nieto, pp. 230-231.
‘**Manuel Hidalgo Nieto, p. 231
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the negotiations. If the prorm'se did exist, this precludes the interpretation that France's
decision not to fight forced the Spanish government (o negouéte a setderﬁent, or that
Weymouth's resignation or Harris's recali had any effect‘ on the outcome of the dispute, as
well as_being crucial ‘to the Fquestion of sovereignty over the islands. It élso means that the
Spaniards manéged to zain something substantial from the negotiations. Finally, the existence
of the secret promise would suggest that the North ministry did not handle the crisis as coolly
and— adeptly as a first glance would suggest, or some historians have concluded.

" There also exists a difference of opinion among historians about the overall-effects of
the crisis on British polikmics, economics, and individuals, and on international relations. Of
course, much of these variations ¢an be accounted for by the different emphasis which the
historians placed on each aspect of the crisis and also upon their perspectives. An anailysis of
the crisis froth the British political perspec.ive produced a consen® nong seyerz;l historians
that the Falkland Islands crisis was "the episode. that enablec .~orth to emerge as the
dominant figure in the administration."** This view concurred vwith John Brooke's analysis of
the division for the convention with Spain, when he concluded that "North's authority in the
House #vas now established beyond doubt. He was the minister who commanded the
confidence of both Crown and Hous@e of Commons."*** Goebel also wrote thatl as‘Zhe
Faikland Islands crisis facilitated We}‘frﬁ.outh's removal, this indirectly enabled North to gain
_ascendancy in the cabinet, and this, m turn, increased the prospects for a peaceful solution to
s : : .
the dxspute.. i . | . \ |
Apart from the information revealed about cabinet politics, the Falkland Islands™efisis
also served to highlight the relationship between the Houses of Parliam‘em, and the roleswhich
the opposition%yed in eighteenth century British politics. The examination of the opposition
campaign based upon this dispute demonstrated that the peers were crucial in directing the
attacks in both Houses, and that it was the members of the House of Lords who formulated

the policies for the opposition and who attempted to coordinate the campaign against North"s‘

" WS for example, P.. D. G. Thomas, Lcs+ Nortk pp. 46 and 51,
¢3%John Brooke, p. 158.
“'Julivs Goebel, p. 325.
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ministry. This crisis aiso‘sverv:d to highlight the opposition's endeavours 10 use the public in
" order to influence government policy, and their willingness to try to coanol public o;;;rﬁon by
a judicious use of the press. The opposition members' attempt to unseat the government in
this instance caused tlieim to-appear self -interested and unscrupulous because th.  .re ¢ “ten .
unprincipled and incon;istent in their attacks on the government. The partliam: ...ry gl
Based upon the Falkland Islands crisis was a good opportunity for the oppos. °~ "0 Iy 10
gain power because it served as a fpcal point of attack and appealed to the interests of the
widest political constituency possible. Though the opposition made a good showing in the
* divisions over ~Lh"is issue, the North ministry had such large earliameétary majorities by this
time and/qsed procedural tactics so well that it often avoided confrontations, and it was never
actually in any danger. This is borne out by the fact that the government never really
bothered to use the press as a political tool, so that most of the press repoﬁs about the
Falkland Islands crisis are highly critical of the mihistry and no written polemical debate
deve]oped on this question. Though the pres.e—did not measurably affect the political outcome
of the dispute, it did have tangible effects on economic activity, especially in the realm of
shipping and trade, as well as helping to cause fluctuations in both stock and insurance prices.
Though the opposition tried to use the press to influence the formulation of policy on this
issue, it was unsuccessful and its campaign lost its impetus and ground to a halt. So, though
the Falkland Islands crisis had no dramatic lasting effect on internal British politics, the
overall economic and social effects of the dispute should not be underestimated.

Another of the more practical effects of the crisis was a development in the structure
of ministerial resporglbilities wn.h the evolution of the post of Foreign Secretz: though
the first actual Foreign Secretary was Charles James Fox, who received this position in 1782.
Brewn_ wrote that the crisis had also served to focus the nation's attention on the poor state
of the British navy and highlighted the need for improvements in this area.*** Walpole also 2

mentioned this, but interpreted it differently by stating that the crisis showed "Spain and )
.).cf‘\

¢ !
v

O

‘2 H. Brown, p. 303.
‘L. H. Brown, p. 297.
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France how™ soon we could prepare a force suffro\ent for our defence nan Nrcholas Tracy
wrote that the Falkland crisis was the supreme test before the American Revolution of
' British ability to use sea power 10 re;tarn the posrtron it had won in the Seven Years War."*¥
In his opinion, North and his colleagues consciously and successfully used the crisis as_an |
opportunity to regain respect fd¥ British naval power. |
On the international level, the crisi%n Goebel's opinion, had serioua implications f or
the issue of sovereignty over the islands. He wrote that the secret promise to abandon the
islands which was given in 1770 mgant that B.ritain no lonéer had a claim to this territory.**
That however, remains to be proven. The crisis also had serious effects upon international
relatrons during this period.. While most historians agree that this event had major |
repercussrons on the relatxonshrp between France and Spain and their faith in the Family
Compact there is again some disagreement about the long-_term effects of the drspute.
Glyndwr Williams wrote that, although the peaceful settlement of the cnsxs weakened the
alhance between France and Spain, "despite this coolness, the underlying motives which had
brought France and Spain into close alliance in the years before 1770 remarned unchanged. ™’
- Contrary to this optmon Paul Langford considered the weakening o. the Family Compact as
the perfect opportumty for an Anglo French entente. "For oneﬂthmg it brought to the fore a
convinced champion of rapprochement in the Duc d' Argurllon "33 Vera Lee ‘Brown had also
written that this event caused Spain's isolation because it revealed how dramatically weakened
France had been during the Seven Years War. She added that it had been hoped that England
would'.b'enefit from the strained relations between the Bourbon powers, but she did not say
that an Anglo-French rapprochement was likely.**” The French historian Frangois Rousseau,
viewing the crms from his nation's perspectrve wrote that an 1mportant effect of the dispute

was the fact that it highlighted the tenuous links of the Family Compact and that it showed

““Walpole, Memoirs, iv, pp. 175-176.
*33Nicholas Tracy, p. 40.

“%Julius Goebel, pp. 465-466.
1Glyndwr Williams, p. 193.

+paul Langford, p. 160.

«9Vera Lee.Brown, pp. 477 apd 448.

"V_‘
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S «

France's weakness by making apparent her inability to live up 10 her responsibilities.

440

Octavio Gil Munilla, basing his arguments on .those of another French historian, Louis Blart,

aiso wrote that the Falkland Islands crisis demonstrated the disillusionment which Spain

suffered when she realized she could nc longer count on France in a crisis of tlns nature “‘(

]
He AISO stated that mﬁﬁsm served to bring to the fore the deep ammosxty which the Spanish

felt towards the British. As was noted above, these sentiments were based on commercial
. e s
rivalry and the existing backgraund of strain and tension between the two nations which was

[ 4

manifested ip the general challenge by Spain to the supremacy .of British seapdwer. The

o

fallurc of the French- Spamsh alliance gave Bmam the hope of gaining an advamage against

boLh nations. As a result &% this, the crisis had several practical military effects. Both Hidalgo.

Nieto and Gil Munilla agreed that the crisis caused SpaJn to strengthen her defenses ift

America; and Gil Munilla made the case that it was this event which provided the incentive

for the creation of -the vice royalty of Rio de la Plata in order to try to protect the Spanish -

empire in South America.*** This notion was seconded by David Rock in.his discussion of the
growing powcr which was being wielded by Buenos Aires during this penod 43 |

Overall the Fa.lkland Islands crisis a.ffectcd mternauonal relations by exposing the

weakness of France and the concomrnitant instability of the Family Compact, by isolating

Spain from her possxble allies, by bringing to the fore the traditional ammosuy between
Britain and Spam and by causing Spam to develop her imperial defenses via the creation of
the viceroyalty of Rio de la Plata. On the national level, the Falkland Islands crisis served to
enable North to “emerge as the dc\rpiﬂai‘;?ﬁ figurg in the British cabinet, facilitated the
development of ministerial portfoiios, aad a_{so provided an opportunity for the parliamentary
opposition to rally its forces azu)aztem;;t to gain power.'Thé analysis of, the oppos;tion
campaign based on this dispute. ;speciallyg from ;the perspective of the British press, has

shown, that this crisis had concrete, measurable effects on the British and Spahish econorhies,

I8

“*Francois Rousseau, ii, p. 8l. .

“10ctavio Gil Munilla, Malvinas, p. 153. - .-
“iManuel Hidalgo Nicto, p. 87, and, Octavio Gil Munilla, Malvinas, p. 154,
«sDavid Rock, Argentina: 1562-1982. From Colonization To The Falklands War,
(Berkclcy 1985), p. 61. '
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